
Peak District National Park Authority 
Tel: 01629 816200 

E-mail: customer.service@peakdistrict.gov.uk 
Web: www.peakdistrict.gov.uk 
Aldern House, Baslow Road, Bakewell, Derbyshire. DE45 1AE 
 
  

 
Our Values: Care – Enjoy – Pioneer 

   
Our Ref: 
 
Date: 
 

A.1142/3080  
 
28 July 2022 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

 

 
Meeting: 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Date: 
 

Friday 5 August 2022 
 

Time: 
 

10.00 am 

Venue: 
 

Aldern House, Baslow Road, Bakewell, DE45 1AE 
 
 
 

 
ANDREA McCASKIE 
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Link to meeting papers: 
 
https://democracy.peakdistrict.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=2392  
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.peakdistrict.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=2392


 
AGENDA 
 
1.   Roll call of Members Present, Apologies for Absence and Members' 

Declarations of Interest    
 

  
 

 

2.   Minutes of previous meeting of  8 July 2022  (Pages 5 - 12)   
  

 
 

3.   Urgent Business     
  

 
 

4.   Public Participation    
 To note any questions or to receive any statements, representations, 

deputations and petitions which relate to the published reports on Part A of the 
Agenda. 
 

 

5.   Full Application - Material unloading, conveying and storage facility and 
associated importation of shale substitute kilnfeed material (ARM). This 
will also require the removal of a few elements of minor infrastructure and 
some vegetation at Hope Cement Works, Hope (NP/HPK/1020/0929, TE)  
(Pages 13 - 118)  

 

 Appendix A 
 
Site Plan 
 

 

6.   Full Application -  Demolition of the existing structures on site, the 
erection of a new residential dwelling, works of hard and soft landscaping, 
installation of package treatment plant  and other works incidental to the 
application proposals at Newlands Farm, Coplow Dale, Little Hucklow 
(NP/DDD/0621/0670, SPW)  (Pages 119 - 134)  

 

 Site Plan 
 

 

7.   Full Application -  Proposed removal of existing building at western end of 
site, and replacement with a workshop and ancillary office, including the 
associated change of use at land south of Church Lane, Chelmorton 
(NP/DDD/0322/0396, MN)  (Pages 135 - 144)  

 

 Site Plan 
 

 

8.   Full Application - Alterations and change of use of outbuilding to dwelling 
for self-contained holiday let use at Hartington Cottages, Knowl Cottage, 
Market Place, Hartington (NP/DDD/0522/0598, FJ)  (Pages 145 - 154)  

 

 Site Plan 
 

 

9.   Full Application - Retrospective planning consent for the retention of a 
shepherds hut for tourist accommodation and for an ancillary washroom 
on land to the west side of Townend Lane, Waterfall, Waterhouses 
(NP/SM/0522/0743)  (Pages 155 - 166)  

 

 Site Plan 
 

 

10.   Full Application - Proposed construction of pond to enhance wildlife, with 
surrounding protective sheep netting fence with barbed wire above plus 
small access gate, at Brosterfield Caravan Park, Foolow 
(NP/DDD/0522/0718, JK)  (Pages 167 - 174)  

 

 Site Plan 
 

 



 

11.   Head of Law Report - Planning Appeals (A.1536/AMC)  (Pages 175 - 176)   
  

 
 

 
Duration of Meeting 
 
In the event of not completing its business within 3 hours of the start of the meeting, in accordance 
with the Authority’s Standing Orders, the Committee will decide whether or not to continue the 
meeting.  If the Authority decides not to continue the meeting it will be adjourned and the remaining 
business considered at the next scheduled meeting. 
 
If the Committee has not completed its business by 1.00pm and decides to continue the meeting the 
Chair will exercise discretion to adjourn the meeting at a suitable point for a 30 minute lunch break 
after which the committee will re-convene. 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (as amended) 

Agendas and reports 

Copies of the Agenda and Part A reports are available for members of the public before and during the 
meeting on the website http://democracy.peakdistrict.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers 

The Local Government Act 1972 requires that the Authority shall list any unpublished Background 
Papers necessarily used in the preparation of the Reports.  The Background Papers referred to in 
each report, PART A, excluding those papers that contain Exempt or Confidential Information, PART 
B, can be inspected on the Authority’s website.   

Public Participation and Other Representations from third parties 

In response to the Coronavirus (Covid -19) emergency our head office at Aldern House in Bakewell 
has been closed.  However as the Coronavirus restrictions ease the Authority is returning to physical 
meetings but within current guidance.  Therefore meetings of the Authority and its Committees may 
take place at venues other than its offices at Aldern House, Bakewell.  Public participation is still 
available and anyone wishing to participate at the meeting under the Authority's Public Participation 
Scheme is required to give notice to the Head of Law to be received not later than 12.00 noon on the 
Wednesday preceding the Friday meeting. The Scheme is available on the website 
http://www.peakdistrict.gov.uk/looking-after/about-us/have-your-say or on request from the Democratic 
and Legal Support Team 01629 816352, email address: 
democraticandlegalsupport@peakdistrict.gov.uk.  
 

Written Representations 

Other written representations on items on the agenda, except those from formal consultees, will not 
be reported to the meeting if received after 12 noon on the Wednesday preceding the Friday meeting. 

Recording of Meetings 

In accordance with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 members of the public may record and 
report on our open meetings using sound, video, film, photograph or any other means this includes 
blogging or tweeting, posts on social media sites or publishing on video sharing sites.   If you intend to 
record or report on one of our meetings you are asked to contact the Democratic and Legal Support 
Team in advance of the meeting so we can make sure it will not disrupt the meeting and is carried out 
in accordance with any published protocols and guidance. 

The Authority will make a digital sound recording available after the meeting which will be retained for 
three years after the date of the meeting.  During the period May 2020 to April 2021, due to the Covid-
19 pandemic situation, Planning Committee meetings were broadcast via Youtube and these meetings 
are also retained for three years after the date of the meeting. 

 

http://democracy.peakdistrict.gov.uk/
http://www.peakdistrict.gov.uk/looking-after/about-us/have-your-say
mailto:democraticandlegalsupport@peakdistrict.gov.uk


 

General Information for Members of the Public Attending Meetings 

In response to the Coronavirus (Covid -19) emergency our head office at Aldern House in Bakewell 
has been closed.  The Authority is returning to physical meetings but within current guidance.  
Therefore meetings of the Authority and its Committees may take place at venues other than its offices 
at Aldern House, Bakewell, the venue for a meeting will be specified on the agenda.  Also due to 
current social distancing guidelines there may be limited spaces available for the public at meetings 
and priority will be given to those who are participating in the meeting.  It is intended that the meetings 
will be audio broadcast and available live on the Authority’s website.   
 
This meeting will take place at Aldern House, Baslow Road, Bakewell, DE45 1AE.   
 
Aldern House is situated on the A619 Bakewell to Baslow Road, the entrance to the drive is opposite 
the Ambulance Station.  Car parking is available.  Local Bus services from Bakewell centre and from 
Chesterfield and Sheffield pick up and set down near Aldern House.  Further information on Public 
transport from surrounding areas can be obtained from Traveline on 0871 200 2233 or on the 
Traveline website at  www.travelineeastmidlands.co.uk   Please note that there is no refreshment 
provision for members of the public before the meeting or during meeting breaks.   However, there are 
cafes, pubs and shops in Bakewell town centre, approximately 15 minutes walk away. 
 
 
 

 

To: Members of Planning Committee:  
 

Chair: Cllr P Brady  
Vice Chair: Mr K Smith 

 
Cllr W Armitage Cllr M Chaplin 
Cllr D Chapman Ms A Harling 
Cllr A Hart Cllr I  Huddlestone 
Cllr A McCloy Cllr D Murphy 
Cllr Mrs K Potter Cllr V Priestley 
Cllr K Richardson Cllr J Wharmby 
 

Other invited Members: (May speak but not vote) 
  
Prof J Haddock-Fraser Cllr C Greaves 

 

 
Constituent Authorities 
Secretary of State for the Environment 
Natural England 

http://www.travelineeastmidlands.co.uk/


 

 

Peak District National Park Authority 
Tel: 01629 816200 

E-mail: customer.service@peakdistrict.gov.uk 
Web: www.peakdistrict.gov.uk 
Aldern House, Baslow Road, Bakewell, Derbyshire. DE45 1AE 

 

 
MINUTES 

 
Meeting: 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Date: 
 

Friday 8 July 2022 at 10.00 am 
 

Venue: 
 

Aldern House 
 

Chair: 
 

Cllr P Brady 
 

Present: 
 

Mr K Smith, Cllr W Armitage, Cllr D Chapman, Ms A Harling, Cllr A Hart, 
Cllr I  Huddlestone, Cllr Mrs K Potter, Cllr V Priestley, Cllr D Murphy, 
Cllr K Richardson and Cllr J Wharmby 
 

   
attended to observe and speak but not vote. 
 

Apologies for absence:  
 

Cllr M Chaplin and Cllr A McCloy. 
 

 
68/22 ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS PRESENT, APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 

MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Item 5 & 6  
 
All members had received an email from Mrs Parlor regarding the issues at Dains Mill. 
 
Item 10 
 
Cllr P Brady had corresponded with Wendy Neilson a few months ago regarding the 
issues at Home Farm. 
.  
  
 

69/22 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING OF 10 JUNE 2022  
 
The minutes of the last meeting of the Planning Committee held on 10 June 2022 were 
approved as a correct record.  
 

70/22 URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

71/22 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
Five members of the public were present to make representations to the Committee and 
one had requested a statement to be read out on their behalf.  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.����



Planning Committee Meeting Minutes 
Friday 8 July 2022  
 

Page 2 

 

 

72/22 S.73 APPLICATION - FOR THE VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 ON NP/SM/0621/0598 
AT DAINS MILL, ROACH ROAD, UPPER HULME (NP/SM/0422/0514, ALN)  
 
Members had visited the site on the previous day. 
 
The report was introduced by the Planning Officer who asked Members to note that a 
planning application for a stable block and parking had been granted since the report 
had been prepared.  The location of the approved stable block was pointed out on the 
site plan shown to committee.  
 
The following spoke under the public participation at meetings scheme: 
 

 Dr Michael Jones – Applicant 
 
Members questioned the planning details regarding the juliet balcony currently approved 
which showed doors that were not able to open due to the level of the interior floor and if 
the building was listed. 
 
The Planning Officer confirmed that the design of the juliet balcony had not been raised 
by the applicant with officers at the time of the previous application, and that the building 
was not listed. 
 
A Member requested clarification regarding the heritage value of the building as the 
present construction was in large part a relatively modern build after the previous 
building had been destroyed.  Officers clarified that, although the building was recently 
constructed it has been rebuilt to closely reflect the original building and retained 
heritage value and industrial character.  Because of this the current application went 
against the guidance in the Design Guide.  
 
Members queried if it would be appropriate to defer the application whilst alternatives 
were discovered but Officers advised that refusal was the appropriate action as other 
proposals would require a different application to be made, and Officers would continue 
discussions with the applicant regarding providing more amenity for the building and the 
issues around the construction of the post and rail fence also proposed, which Members 
queried the materials and design of.  
 
A motion to refuse the application in line with Officer recommendation was moved, 
seconded, put to the vote and carried.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The application was REFUSED for the following reasons: 
 

The balcony, by virtue of its position, size and design would cause harm to 
the significance of Dains Mill, which is a non-designated heritage asset. 
The harm would not be outweighed by any public benefits.  Consequently 
the proposals are contrary to Core Strategy policies GSP3 and L3, 
Development Management policies DMC3, DMC5, DMH7 and DMC10 and 
advice in the Authority’s Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents  
‘Conversion of Historic Buildings’ and ‘Alterations and Extensions’ 

 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee Meeting Minutes 
Friday 8 July 2022  
 

Page 3 

 

 

 
73/22 FULL  APPLICATION - DOUBLE GARAGE AT THE KYLE BUILDING,NEAR TO 

DAINS MILL, UPPER HULME (NP/SM/0422/0516, SW)  
 
Members had visited the site on the previous day. 
 
The Planning Officer introduced the report which outlined the reasons why the design 
was inappropriate for the site and would have a significant harm to the non-designated 
heritage assets on site.  
 
The following spoke under the public participation as meetings scheme: 
 

 Dr Michael Jones – Applicant   
 
Members confirmed that the principal of installing a garage on the site was acceptable 
but the design and scale of the proposal was not appropriate in the context of the 
existing building group and considering thatthe site was visible from the adjacent right of 
way.  
 
A motion to refuse the application in line with Office recommendation was moved, 
seconded, put the vote and carried.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be REFUSED for the following reason: 
 

The garage, by virtue of its size, scale and form would cause harm to the 
significance of the Kyle building (drying barn), which is a non-designated 
heritage asset. The harm would not be outweighed by any public benefits.  
Consequently the proposal is contrary to Core Strategy policies GSP1, 
GSP3 and L3, Development Management policies DMC3, DMC5 and DMH8  
and advice in the Authority’s Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents  
‘Design Guide’ and ‘Building Design Guide’. 

 
 

74/22 FULL APPLICATION -  ALTERATION AND CONVERSION OF BUILDING TO A 
DWELLING INCLUDING RETENTION OF FRONT PORCHES - HIGH PEAK 
HARRIERS, BIGGIN - (NP/DDD0721/0756, MN)  
 
Members had visited the site on the previous day. 
 
The Planning Officer introduced the report which also referenced a previous planning 
application for the site. A LDC application had been refused in 2015 for use of the 
building as a C3 dwelling, leading to the current application as there was no longer a 
business need for the building.  
 
The Planning Officer explained that the Parish Council had objected to the unauthorised 
additions to the buildings and not to the principal of the change of use proposed in the 
application. 
 
Members commented on the general enhancement achieved by the works, and 
discussed the merits of removing the front dividing wall as it was well constructed and 
the need for landscaping on the site. 
 

Page 7



Planning Committee Meeting Minutes 
Friday 8 July 2022  
 

Page 4 

 

 

A motion to approve the application in line with the Officer recommendation was moved 
and seconded.  
 
The Planning Officer confirmed that the applicant would be requested to improve the 
landscaping but recommended that this should not be added as a condition given the 
enhancement already arising from the proposals, and that requiring the removal of the 
front dividing wall was appropriate in the context of the occupation of the building as a 
single dwelling. 
 
The motion to approve the application was voted on and carried.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The application was APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. In accordance with amended plans 
 

2. Removal of porch in accordance with amended plans within 3 months 
 

3. Removal of drystone wall that projects from the west elevation and that runs 
east to west and subdivides the frontage of the building within 3 month 

 
75/22 FULL APPLICATION - TO INSTALL A NEW ACCESSIBLE RAMP AND STEPS FROM 

THE CAR PARK INTO THE CYCLE HIRE CENTRE AND INSTALL A NEW 
DOORWAY TO ENHANCE THE FLOW OF THE CUSTOMERS THROUGH THE 
BUILDING. DERWENT BIKE HIRE, REPAIR AND SERVICE CENTRE, FAIRHOLMES 
CAR PARK, DERWENT LANE, BAMFORD. (NP/HPK/0422/0470, DH)  
 
The report as introduced by the Planning Officer.  
 
The Planning Officer requested that a change to condition 2 be made to include the 
amended plan and request for the shutter and box to be painted dark brown to match the 
other doors and shutters on the building.   
 
A motion to approve the application in line with the Officer recommendation with the 
amended condition 2 was moved, seconded, put to the vote and carried.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The application was APPROVED subject to the following conditions and the 
agreed change to condition 2.  
 

1. Statutory 3 year time period for commencement of development. 
 
2. That the development shall be in complete accordance with the 

amended plan and all of the shutter painted brown to match those 
already on the building.  

 
3. The retaining wall including the ‘millstones’ forming the wheels of the 

cycle motive embedded in the wall along with the steps shall be 
constructed from natural gritstone. 

 
4. The handrails shall be painted a matt black and shall be permanently so 

maintained. 
 

Page 8



Planning Committee Meeting Minutes 
Friday 8 July 2022  
 

Page 5 

 

 

5. The new door shall be provided with a natural gritstone lintel. 
 

6. The new door shall be recessed a minimum of 100mm from the external 
face of the wall. 

 
 

76/22 FULL APPLICATION - ERECTION OF AGRICULTURAL BUILDING AT HURST NOOK 
COTTAGE, DERBYSHIRE LEVEL (NP/HPK/0322/0394, AM)  
 
The Planning Officer introduced the report and confirmed that the application had 
previously been deferred from the Committee on 10 June 2022 where Members had 
requested more information which had now been received and incorporated into the 
report.  
 
A statement was read out under the public participation at meetings scheme by a 
member of the Democratic & Legal Support Team on behalf of: 
 

 Mr Gordon Handley – Applicant 

 
Members welcomed the proposed modifications and landscaping but still expressed 
concerns regarding the access to the site and asked that the Parish Council objection be 
noted.  
 
A motion to approve the application in accordance with the Officer recommendation was 
moved and seconded.  
 
The Planning Officer emphasised that that the section of improved access beyond the 
gate providing access into the field was not part of this application being both outside the 
red edged application site area and outside the blue line indicating it was outside the 
applicants ownership control. It was therefore likely highway verge owned by Derbyshire 
County Council and therefore the matter of consent for those works would be followed 
up as a separate matter, most likely between the applicant and Derbyshire County 
Coucuil as Highway Authority. Members expressed concerns regarding the condition to 
remove the building if it was no longer required for agricultural use, the Planning Officer 
confirmed that to change the use of the building would require future planning 
permission and this would then highlight the condition being applied in this application.  
 
A motion to approve the application in accordance with the Officer recommendation was 
voted on and carried.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The application was APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Statutory time limit. 
 

2. In accordance with specified amended plans subject to the following 
conditions and/or modifications; 

 
3. Tanalised timber boarding for the walls to be left untreated to weather 

naturally. 
 

4. Sheeting to the roof colour finish (slate brown). 
 

Page 9



Planning Committee Meeting Minutes 
Friday 8 July 2022  
 

Page 6 

 

 

5. Track to be surfaced with natural gritstone and with grass central strip 
specified to be min 1m wide and permanently so maintained. 

 
6. No external lighting to be installed other than in accordance with a 

detailed scheme that shall first have been approved in writing by the 
National Park Authority. 

 
7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

General Permitted Development Order 2015 the use of the building 
hereby approved shall be restricted to agriculture only (as defined in 
section 336 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) and for no 
other purpose including any change of use otherwise permitted within 
the Order. 

 
8. When the building hereby approved is no longer required for the 

purposes of agriculture it shall be dismantled, removed from the site 
and the site shall be restored to its original condition. 

 
9. Submit and agree precise details of tree planting scheme and carry 

out within winter 2022/3 planting season or first available planting 
season following the layout of the turning area. 

 
 
The meeting adjourned at 11.35 and reconvened at 11.45. 

 
Items 11 & 12 were bought forward on the agenda to allow for speakers on item 10 to 
arrive. 

 
77/22 HEAD OF LAW REPORT - PLANNING APPEALS (A1536/AMC)  

 
The planning appeals lodged and decided during the month were considered and noted. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The report was noted.  
  
 

78/22 MONITORING & ENFORCEMENT QUARTERLY REVIEW - JULY 2022 (A.1533/AJC)  
 
The report was introduced by the Monitoring & Enforcement Team Manager who 
provided an update on the report and particularly two cases listed under item 6. 
 
New Vincent Farm – no appeal had been received following the issuing of the 
enforcement notice, within the deadline date of 30 June.  Compliance was expected as 
the enforcement notice was effective.  
 
Hulme End Caravan Park – enforcement notice in relation to use of land for caravan and 
camping. Access track created, toilet block erected and advertising on site.  No appeal 
received prior to the enforcement notice coming into effect so the notice came into effect 
from 1 July. 
 
The two main performance targets of the team are not on track to be met due to issues 
with filling vacancies in the Monitoring & Enforcement Team.  A vacancy that had been 
filled is again vacant as the candidate for the job changed their mind two days prior to 
their starting date.  

Page 10



Planning Committee Meeting Minutes 
Friday 8 July 2022  
 

Page 7 

 

 

 
Cllr Andrew Hart stated that he had previously been involved with the site at Hulme End 
due to concerns regarding the location of the toilet block in relation to the river.  Cllr Hart 
thanked officers for serving the enforcement notice on this site.  
 
Members thanked the Monitoring & Enforcement Team for their work in dealing with all 
reports received.  Members asked what help might be needed with increasing 
enforcement powers.  The Team Manager explained that the new Levelling Up bill 
included more powers. 
 
The Chair thanked the Team Manager for the clear report and useful information, 
particularly that contained on page 72 of the report, regarding the current situation.  
 
It was noted that a review of the Planning Service was taking place and would include 
the Monitoring and Enforcement Team.  The Chair and Vice Chair of Planning 
Committee would discuss with the Head of Planning and the Monitoring and 
Enforcement Team Manager how the demands on the service could be  better 
understood.  The Chair requested that the minutes note the concern regarding resources 
and that the situation be monitored.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The Report was noted with concerns about the number of enforcement cases and 
available resources.  
 
  

79/22 HOME FARM, SHELDON - UPDATE ON CURRENT ENFORCEMENT ISSUES (AJC)  
 
The following spoke under the Public Participation at Meetings scheme: 
 

 Joe Noble – member of the public and near neighbour of the site. 

 Wendy Neilson – Sheldon Parish Meeting 
 
Mr Max Kohanzad had registered to speak but was not present at the meeting.  
 
Members considered the report which gave details of the recent investigation and 
highlighted the current issues on the site which were:: 
 

a) Building works immediately to the rear of the guest house 
b) Works to the east of the buildings, including construction of a track 
c) Work to the ‘Long Barn’.  

 
The Chair thanked the speakers for drawing attention to the public perception of how 
enforcement was being performed and stated that the site would be considered within 
our other commitments.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That this case be appropriately prioritised by the Monitoring and Enforcement 
Team Manager in accordance with the Local Enforcement Plan, and taking 
account of site investigations, guidance on taking court action and any other 
relevant guidance. 

  
 
The meeting ended at 12.25 pm 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

5.       FULL APPLICATION – MATERIAL UNLOADING, CONVEYING AND STORAGE 
FACILITY AND ASSOCIATED IMPORTATION OF SHALE SUBSTITUTE 
KILNFEED MATERIAL (ARM). THIS WILL ALSO REQUIRE THE REMOVAL OF 
A FEW ELEMENTS OF MINOR INFRASTRUCTURE AND SOME VEGETATION.  
- (NP/HPK/1020/0929, TE)  

 
APPLICANT:  BREEDON CEMENT 

 
Summary 

 
1. This application proposes the importation of up to 450,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) 

of Alternative Raw Material (ARM) by rail to Hope Cement Works for use as a 
shale substitute in the kiln feed mix required for the manufacture of cement. The 
application also seeks approval for the infrastructure required to facilitate this 
proposes, which in brief, comprises; additional rail siding, unloaded plant and 
equipment, reception facilities, conveyors and a material storage building. 

 
2. The appellants need for this application has arisen due to a change in the 

emission criteria specified by the environmental permitting process administered 
by the Environment Agency (EA). Specifically, the regulations require the operator 
to reduce the sulphur dioxide (SO2) emissions from the stack which arise from the 
cement manufacture process. The Works is currently operating under a 
derogation licence issued by the Environment Agency while this planning 
application awaits determination. Elevated SO2 levels contribute to the formation 
of acid rain, which is damaging to many habitats and species as well as the wider 
environment. While emissions from Hope Cement Works currently present a 
negligible risk of acidification, reducing emissions further would still provide further 
benefits. 

 
3. The Works has traditionally utilised limestone and shale derived from the 

associated on-site quarries as the primary and secondary feedstock in the cement 
manufacture process. Although, in more recent times the on-site shale has been 
supplemented by the importation of up to 100,000 tpa of dry Pulverised Fuel Ash 
(PFA) for use in the kiln feed mix. Trials have been undertaken using conditioned 
(wet) PFA as a kiln feed substitute and have been successful. As such this 
application seeks the flexibility to use conditioned PFA imported to site by rail, 
along with other ARM. 

 
4. Cement making chemistry is complex and requires the presence of specific 

chemical compounds and in the appropriate quantity to ensure a suitable cement 
clinker is produced for sale to the open market. In order to achieve this, the on-site 
shale reserves have been won/worked and utilised in the cement manufacture 
process dependent upon their chemical qualities. The chemical composition of 
shale varies between different geological strata, meaning the correct balance has 
to be struck when using it in the kiln feed.  As a consequence, the majority of the 
consented on-site shale reserves that remain in situ possess a medium to high 
sulphur content.  

 
5. Although the existing consented reserves of natural shale could appear to be 

sufficient to continue cement production until 2037, much of it is of a sulphur 
content too high to utilise alone and meet the revised environmental permit 
requirements. The low sulphur shale that is currently being worked is currently 
estimated to only provide enough raw material for continued cement production 
until around 2025 in the absence of ARM substitution. The operator proposes to 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5.����



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

blend ARM with the higher sulphur content on site shales in order to stretch the 
remaining useable reserves. 

 
6. There are numerous material considerations that arise from this proposal including 

compliance with national and local policy, alignment with the Park’s strategic 
vision, consequences of alternative options and adverse impacts on amenity, all of 
which are discussed in detail in the assessment section. 

 
7. After considering the scheme and all material considerations as a whole, it is 

concluded that on balance, the application be recommended for approval subject 
to the planning conditions stipulated and a Section 106 agreement. 

 
8. The planning conditions proposed allow control, inter alia, of; ARM types and 

quantities, timings of branch line railway movements, branch line improvements, 
landscape impact, landscape enhancements, biodiversity net gain, noise/vibration 
effects, road movements and reclamation of the site. 

 
9. The section 106 agreement contains a planning obligation that ensures the 

permanent cessation of on-site mineral extraction and cement production no later 
than the 22nd of February 2042. This agreement gives the operator security in 
relation to the supply of appropriate secondary materials for use in the cement 
manufacturing process for the next 20 years, but also gives the PDNPA the 
certainty, as far as reasonably possible at this point in time, that the Works will 
cease to operate by 22nd of February 2042 at the latest.  

 
10. The permanent cessation of mineral extraction and/or cement production would 

trigger condition 2 of planning permission ref: NP/CHA/468/2 (1969 consent), 
which requires the decommission of the Cement Works, removal of all associated 
plant and infrastructure and the restoration of the site in accordance with a 
scheme to be agreed with the MPA. The 1969 consent does not specify an end 
date and the clearance and restoration of the site relies solely on the permanent 
cessation of mineral extraction at either of the on-site quarries or cessation of 
cement production.  

 
11. Considerable reserves of both limestone and shale remain on site and although 

the suitability of the latter for continued cement production is questionable, there 
are means which could be employed to ensure that the reserve is exploited to its 
full extent. The operator also benefits from permission ref: NP/HPK/0710/0665 
which allows the importation of 100,000 tpa of PFA for use in the kiln feed mix. 
Should total reserves be fully exploited and combined with the existing importation 
allowance, cement production would likely continue to around 2042, subject to 
sufficient limestone reserves. 

 
12. It is possible however, that on-site shale reserves may still be present beyond 

2042. While reserves remain and are capable of being worked, even at very low 
levels, the life of the 1969 consent would continue, and the possibility of 
subsequent applications seeking to extend the operation of the Works further, 
would exist. The imposition of the planning obligation to permanently cease 
operations at the Works by the 22nd of February 2042 by legal agreement gives 
the PDNPA certainty as to the end of the life of the Hope Cement Works Complex 
as permitted under the 1969 consent. 

 
 
 

Page 14



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

13. Should limestone/shale extraction or the production of cement permanently cease 
prior to the cessation of the importation of ARM, the Park’s position under the 
1969 position would be preserved, and condition 2 triggered. 

 
 
Site and Surroundings 

 
14. Hope Cement Works is located in Derbyshire, near the villages of Castleton to the 

north west, Hope to the north east and Bradwell to the south east. It is in the Peak 
District National Park (PDNP) and predates the designation of the National Park in 
1951. Road access is via Pindale Road and the A6187, with rail access from the 
works sidings via a private branch line to the Earles sidings on the Hope Valley rail 
line to the east which crosses the PDNP connecting Sheffield and Manchester.  

 
15. The works first opened in 1929, prior to the formation of the Peak District National 

Park in 1951. The site has undergone extensive modernisation since cement 
making began in the 1930s, establishing itself as a key provider to the cement 
industry in the UK.  

 
16. It was subsequently upgraded in 1970 to a more energy efficient dry process with 

the introduction of kilns that allowed production to increase and the capacity is 
now circa 1.5mtpa (million tonnes per annum). It represents £61.2m in GVA 
(Gross Value Added) which provides 1.8% of total employment in the Peak Park 
and 7.0% of GVA to the PDNP economy. It is rail linked to 4 nationwide depots 
and 2 terminals. Approximately 1mt of cement is delivered by rail. The works now 
comprises 2 rotating kilns and 2 cement mills and currently employs approximately 
270 employees. 

 
17. The site contains extensive cement making infrastructure, including 2 kilns and 

cement mills, cement silos, conveyors, storage facilities, site offices and ancillary 
structures and equipment. 

 
18. The application site covers an area of 2.7ha within the existing Hope Cement 

Works (HCW) complex and includes a stretch of the rail branch line and 
associated sidings located in the south of the complex; a linear channel running 
from the sidings across the complex in a north easterly direction to the north 
eastern corner of the complex where the ARMs storage building is proposed. 

 
19. The existing element of the branch line and sidings which are proposed for 

realignment are located deep within the heart of the complex and screened from 
views from outside the site by intervening buildings and established vegetation. 
The proposed ARMs offloading building is located immediately to the north of the 
sidings and benefits from similar screening. The application site area then 
continues in a linear fashion in a north easterly direction. The area would be 
occupied by the conveyor system that would transport the off-loaded ARMs to the 
storage abuilding. The conveyor would cross above established features such as 
internal haul roads, established grassland and ancillary structures to the south of 
the kiln buildings and kilns themselves before ending to the north of the main site 
offices.  

 
20. The application site broadens out at this point and covers an area within which the 

ARMs storage building would be located. This area is currently predominantly 
hardstanding occupied by contractors’ offices and containers, but also includes a 
limited section of the woodland to the east. The Stone Store building is located to 

Page 15



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

the North, site offices to the South, bag filter building, chimney and the rest of the 
works complex to the west and a dense wooded area to the east. 

 
21. The HCW complex itself has been established in its current location since 1929, 

before the National Park was designated, and covers an area of approximately 
300 hectares comprising the cement plant and associated plant and buildings, rail 
sidings and the limestone and shale quarries to the south west and east 
respectively. The Works’ location on the cusp of the white and dark peaks has 
presented a unique situation where it is in immediate proximity to the primary raw 
materials (limestone and shale) needed for the manufacture of cement. The site is 
situated within the Hope Valley landscape character area. 

 
22. On the north side of the Hope valley there are a number of high points including 

Win Hill at 463m AOD, 3.5km away, Lose Hill at 475m AOD, 3km away and Mam 
Tor at 517m AOD, 5km away. 

 
23. The Hope valley floor drops to approximately 180m AOD close to the site and the 

proposed storage building is screened from the settlements on the valley floor by 
the tree covered ridge behind the site that rises to approximately 209m AOD. This 
is known as Haywood Hill and is named after Sheila Haywood, a landscape 
architect and colleague of Sir Geoffrey Jellicoe, who designed the landform to 
screen the works from the Hope valley. 

 
24. The Cement Works site is defined by a series of stepped platforms with Ordnance 

Datum levels varying from 191.5mAOD at the most western platform, to 
187.5mAOD on the central platform where the conveyor belt crosses and 
185.7mAOD on the eastern and lowest platform at the rail track. The proposed 
development would extend over all three platforms. 

 
Rail Link 
 

25. Hope Cement Works opened in 1929, and was provided from the outset with a rail 
connection to the Dore & Chinley Line, located some 2 km away, via a private 
branch line (referred to as the Branch Line) which commences at the head shunt 
to Earles Sidings, from where all trains to and from the works are received and 
dispatched and run to the rail terminal within the Works. The Branch Line, like the 
rest of the operator’s private rail system, has been in continuous use since 1929.  

 
26. Cement is exported by road and rail from the works, while coal and ARM 

(currently consisting solely of PFA) are imported. At present, there are four rail 
terminals served by the Works, from where cement is distributed by road to 
customers. 

 
Proposal 

 
27. Importation of Alternative Raw Materials (ARM): The proposed development 

seeks to enable the importation of a range of alternative raw materials (ARM) to 
Hope Cement Works via the existing rail link at the site. Imports could potentially 
occur by road, but only for limited periods and in rail outage emergency situations. 
It is proposed to import up to 450,000 tonnes/annum of ARM (wet) (gross weight). 
This necessitates the importation of 200,000 tonnes/per annum (100,000 tonnes 
plus another 100,000 tonnes allowance for moisture content) in addition to the 
250,000 tonnes/annum of pulverised fuel ash (PFA) permitted under extant 
planning permission NP/HPK/0710/0665. Application ref: HPK/0819/0896 

Page 16



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

currently under consideration by the MPA seeks to vary application ref: 
NP/HPK/0710/0665 to allow all PFA imported to site to potentially be used as kiln 
feed in the cement manufacture process. 

 
28. Whilst importing dry PFA is preferable to the operator, consent is sought to import 

‘wet’ or ‘conditioned’ PFA which may be dried at the cement works site to allow 
access to a wider market of kiln feed substitute sources. In addition to the 
conditioned PFA, consent is sought for access to a wider substitute markets that 
could include, inter-alia, waste shale, slate or clay. All of these materials would fall 
under the term ‘ARM’. 

 
29. The applicant’s need for this application is twofold. Firstly, to allow access to a 

broader market of kiln feed substitutes given the UK government’s policy to move 
away from coal fired power stations which has limited, and will ultimately remove 
access to dry domestic PFA. Secondly, the Environment Agency has imposed 
new requirements on cement manufacturers to cut their sulphur dioxide (SO2) 
emission levels, which the operator must comply with. The majority of the 
remaining on-site shale is of medium to high sulphur content, thus utilising it in the 
cement manufacturing process in its raw form would result in a breach of the new 
emission limits imposed by the Environment Agency. The HCW plant is currently 
operating under an EA permit derogation on the basis that they have are seeking 
to lower SO2 emissions through the means of this planning application. It is 
proposed to blend the high sulphur content shales with imported ARM in order to 
reach a suitable kiln feed mix that satisfies both the cement manufacture process 
and the EA imposed SO2 emission limits. 

 
30. Material types: The proposed development seeks to provide for the reception, 

treatment and storage of all types of potential alternative shale materials (ARM) 
including other sourced shale, conditioned PFA, fireclay, slate fines and other 
such materials.  

 
31. Dry PFA which could continue to be imported would be stored in silos 13, 14, 15 

and 16 as existing and permitted under extant planning permission ref: 
NP/HPK/0710/0665. Application ref: NP/HPK/0819/0896 seeks to allow up to 
250,000 tpa of PFA to be used as kiln feed substitute, currently only 100,000 tpa 
is permitted for this purpose. The infrastructure proposed by the application under 
consideration by this report would allow for the reception, unloading, transfer and 
storage of the materials that cannot be pneumatically unloaded for storage in the 
silos. 

 
32. Importation: The proposal seeks consent for up to 7 mainline train deliveries of 

ARM per week, which may in some circumstances result in more than one 
delivery within any given 24-hour period. However, it is envisaged that 1 mainline 
delivery is most likely to be received each day. The mainline deliveries will be 
offloaded at Earles Sidings outside of the application site and brought into the 
HCW complex by the operator’s locomotives in smaller wagon strings, which 
would result in up to 56 branch line movements per week. It is proposed that 
ARM’s may also be delivered to the cement works by road vehicles, but only in the 
event of rail outage emergencies. This approach would mirror that applied to the 
importation of PFA granted under permission ref: NP/HPK/0710/0665. 

 
33. Shale Substitution Infrastructure Development: It is proposed to reconfigure 

the Cement Works’ rail yard to allow the unloading of materials with similar 
properties to site won shale which would include the construction of an additional 

Page 17



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

railway siding - ‘Siding H’. Having been transported into the works by rail, the rail 
wagons would be emptied at an unloading station using an overhead grab/ gantry 
crane. At the train unloading station, an enclosed overhead shuttle conveyor 
would be installed to transfer material to a newly built material storage building. 
See Drawing 70056391 54-002 A1 issue 02. 

 
34. Drawing 70056391 54-002 A1 issue 02 shows the position and arrangement of the 

siding, which would not require extension of the sidings area due to the now 
proposed new siding being envisaged when the then new rail sidings were 
installed in 2006. The sidings would be used for the storage of rail wagons 
containing both cement and ARM to allow enough storage capacity to adequately 
cope with the additional volume of wagon movements. 

 
35. Proposed unloading station: – Drawing 70056391 54-004 A1 issue 02 shows 

the rail off-loading facility with an internal overhead gantry crane structure and 
extents of movement with a transfer point from the feeder to the transfer conveyor 
located towards the north end. The crane grab unit would have 3 rail wagons 
located underneath it, which would be underloaded into the feeder hopper which 
will then additionally feed the material onto the transfer conveyor. These facilities 
are proposed to be housed within the building to facilitate dust control. The 
dimensions of the proposed unloading station building would be approximately 
60m in length, 16m wide and 14m to the ridge. The building is proposed to be of a 
steal frame construction with open sides and a metal clad roof. 

 
36. Rearrangement and extension of sidings: Drawing 70056391 54-003 A1 issue 

02 shows the position and arrangement of the siding, which would not require 
extension of the sidings area due to the now proposed new siding being 
envisaged when the then new rail sidings were installed in 2006. The sidings 
would be used for the storage of rail wagons both cement and ARM to allow 
enough storage capacity to adequately cope with the additional volume. 

 
37. It is likely that at least 1 train a day of ARM would be arrive at the site (perhaps up 

to 7 trains per week depending on payload). 
 

38. Conveyors (Design): The proposed enclosed overhead transfer conveyor would 
deliver the materials to a new purpose-built covered storage building. The 
overhead conveyors are 2.8m wide with a corridor 1.5m either side for 
maintenance activities. All conveyor runs would be enclosed. (Drawing 70056391 
54-008 A1 issue 01.) 

 
39. South conveyor: The south conveyor would be approximately 300 metres in 

length from the ‘C’ railway sidings to the transfer tower; it would rise to 
approximately 29 metres in height from the rail offloading point (178.0m AOD) to 
its level at the transfer tower (approximately 207.3m AOD) at a roof height of 
some 16.8 metres above the ground at that point.  

 
40. South transfer tower: This would be the tallest structure at approximately 8.3 x 

12.0 metres x 18.5 metres high. It would be clad in the same material and finish as 
the proposed storage building. 

 
41. East transfer conveyor: The east conveyor would cross on a slight incline from 

the transfer tower to the storage building at a roof height of about 13.8 metres, a 
lower level than the entry into the tower of the south conveyor. 

 

Page 18



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
42. New Internal Access Road to / from the Storage Building: For use by tipper 

trailers and other plant to allow raw mix additions to be taken to the building for 
accurate blending into the system through blending hoppers. 

 
43. Cut and Fill Engineering Operation: It would be necessary to create a level 

plateau in order to construct the ARM storage building. To achieve the required 
level surface a cut and fill engineering operation is proposed that would regrade 
the existing topography of the area where the ARM storage building is proposed to 
be located. This process would be undertaken with various plant and equipment 
including excavators and bulldozers. The existing topography is undulating with 
levels varying from approximately 189mAOD to 193m AOD. The cut and fill 
process would effectively create a level surface at approximately 191.5m AOD. 

 
44. ARM Storage building: The proposed material storage building (70056391-54-

0017-A1 Issue 2) would be fully enclosed and would also be able to receive 
material from road going tipper trailers currently used to allow minor raw mix 
additions to be accurately blended into the system using blending hoppers. 
However, the majority of ARM would be transferred directly to the building by the 
proposed conveyor system. 

 
45. The materials would comprise trapezoidal metal wall and roof cladding systems 

with associated flashings and trims. The direction of lay would be vertical. 
Guttering would be metal with circular downpipes. The building would have doors 
and a passive ventilation louvre system. There would be associated support 
trestles, lifting beams, frame structure, access stairs, and gantry systems all in 
galvanised steel. 

 
46. The proposed material storage building would have the facility to store material in 

three distinct bays. From the storage piles in the bays the material would be 
loaded into the blending hopper using a front-end loader (FEL) all within the 
material store. 

 
47. The Storage building’s dimensions are proposed as follows; 14.5m to the eaves, 

16.5m to the ridge,72.5m long and 37m wide. Two colours were suggested for 
cladding in the pre-application response from the PDNP (Dark Moss/ Juniper 
green BS4800/5252 code 12.B.29 or Olive-green BS 4800/ BS 4904/ BS5252 
code 12.B.29) 

 
48. Storage capacity: It has a proposed capacity of 8,000t split into bays of 4,000t / 

2,000t / 2,000t to allow separation and use of multiple materials. On discharge 
from the train the material would be transferred into the requisite reception bay via 
the aforementioned conveyor. 

 
49. Cut and Cover Tunnel and Transfer to Raw Mills: The proposed material 

storage building would have the facility to store material in three distinct bays. 
From the storage piles in the bays the material would be loaded into the blending 
hopper using a front-end loader (FEL) all within the material store. After the 
blending hoppers, two conveyors contained within an enclosure, would be 
installed to convey the material to the dosing vessel. From the dosing vessel 
material would be discharged onto either of two weigh belts which will feed onto 
extended 14 or 15 belts which are the existing raw meal conveyors. Dosing onto 
14 /15 belt would be controlled by the plant control system in conjunction with the 
feeds of shale, low silica limestone and high silica limestone which occur further 

Page 19



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

along 14 / 15 belt. 
 

50. The cut and cover tunnel and linking structure to the raw mill feed conveyors is at 
the south end of the storage building (70056391 54-0019 A1 issue 02). The cut 
and cover tunnel would be an extension to an existing tunnel under the existing 
stone store including extending the existing 14 / 15 conveyors. This option was 
chosen in preference to an elevated conveyor which would have delivered the 
material onto 16 / 17 conveyors. 

 
51. The feed system to the conveyors would be a dosing system to allow accurate 

control of raw meal composition.  
 

52. The system is designed for all types of alternative shale materials including 
potential materials like other sourced shale, conditioned ash, fireclay, slate fines 
etc. (It is not for dry ash as this is pneumatically unloaded from rail tankers and 
stored in the existing silos). All materials would be dried as they pass through the 
raw mill circuits as with the existing shale use. 

 
53. The mode of operation for loading in the building is for a front-end loader (FEL) 

(CAT 966 or similar) to take material from any of the 3 sections of the store (or all 
3 during a blend) then fill an internal hopper within the store. This would feed the 
north conveyor that would deliver material to the north conveyor hopper, before 
being fed onto the extended 14/15 conveyors in the extended cut and cover 
tunnel. The feeder beneath the north hopper would be controlled by the plant 
automated mix control programme to optimise the manufactured raw mix. 

 
54. Facilities for treatment and drying: All materials would be dried as they pass 

through the existing raw mill circuits with any shale extracted from the on-site 
quarry. 

 
55. Relocation of contractor’s compound: The contractor’s compound is proposed 

to be relocated within the Works site to facilitate the construction of the ARMs 
storage building. The compound would be relocated to the position shown on plan 
ref: NT14126/100/Figure 3.2 

 
56. Operational Times: The cement works operates on a 24 hour a day, 7 days a 

week basis, as such consent is sought for 24 hour use of the proposed 
development. However, it should be noted that rail movements would be restricted 
to between 0700 – 2300 hours. 

 
57. Construction Phase: During this phase construction would take place from 07.00 

hours to 18.00 hours Monday to Friday (excluding Bank Holidays), and 07.00 to 
14.00 hours on Saturdays. 

 
58. This phase would involve some demolition of structures and hardstanding within 

the footprint of the proposed development which would be no longer needed. 
These include footings of a silo to allow construction of the unloading facility, a 
road weighbridge, an existing storage unit and lengths of rail track. The 
contractor’s cabins on the site would also be removed. Some removal of trees is 
required to facilitate the erection of the ARM storage building. The construction 
phase is estimated to take approximately 18 months. Construction traffic 
associated with the development  would not exceed 200 annual average daily 
traffic (AADT). 

Page 20



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

59. That subject to the completion of a S.106 agreement in substantially the 
same terms as outlined in the ‘S.106 Head of Terms’ section of this report, 
the application be APPROVED subject to conditions covering the following 
broad areas (Full draft conditions contained in Appendix A):  

 
1) Development in accordance with approved plans. 
2) Development shall cease no later than the 22nd February 2042. 
3) All built development approved under this consent shall be removed within 2 

years of the cessation of operations and site restored within a further 2. 
4) Maximum importation of ARM shall not exceed a combined total (wet and dry 

weight) of 450k tonnes p/a wet weight. 
5) Maximum importation of ARM shall not exceed a combined total (wet and dry 

weight) of 361k tonnes p/a dry weight. 
6) Monthly and annual records of the types and quantities, dry and wet weights 

of all ARM shall be kept and supplied to the MPA on an annual basis or on 
request. 

7) A record of the annual amount of ARM imported to site shall be supplied to 
the MPA at the end of each calendar year and monthly records on request. 

8) All ARM will be imported to the site by rail other than in the event of 
emergencies  

9) Undergrounding of overhead power lines prior to use of ARM building. 
10) Noise and vibration mitigation 
11) Development to be carried out in accordance with Rail Management 

Handbook. 
12) Ecological conditions 
13) Lighting conditions 
14) Environmental Health Conditions 
15) Post approval monitoring of vibration caused by rail movements to ensure 

no significant divergence from levels stated in application submission.  
16) Vibration levels shall not exceed those recorded in submission documents. 
17) The site shall be restored in accordance with submitted restoration plan 

within 2 years of the cessation of development or by 22nd February 2044, 
whichever is the sooner. 

18) The restoration shall be subject to 5 years annual aftercare. 
19) Development in accordance with the Dust Management Plan 
20) LEMP – replacement screen planting and mitigation of impact on heritage 

assets. 
21) All buildings and conveyors consented under this development shall be 

finished in Olive-green BS 4800/ BS 4904/ BS5252 code 12.B.29.  
22) CEMP – construction vehicle movements/controls 
23) No train movements associated with the development (importation of ARM) 

on the branch line between 2300 – 0700. 
24) No existing train movements to be pushed into 2300-0700 time slot as a 

result of this development.  
25) Maximum 7 mainline rail deliveries of ARM per week to Earles Sidings. 
26) Welding of track close to residential properties and removal of points prior to 

commencement of importation of ARM by rail. 
27) Training scheme for train drivers. 
28) Scheme for branch line vibration monitoring. 
29) Rail vibration shall not exceed set limit. 

Page 21



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

30) Review of further rail noise reduction measures. 
31) There shall be no importation of primary aggregates, industrial aggregates or 

virgin extracted material of any kind under this consent. 
32) Set limits for movements on the branch line. 
33) Acoustic screening at branch line. 
34) Construction and demolition management plan (control vehicle movements 

and dust) 
35) Best reasonable endeavours to reduce the carbon footprint of the Works will 

be undertaken when opportunities arise. 
36) Annual records of CO2 emissions to be provided to the MPA. 
37) Definition of ‘ARM’ 
38) Rail deliveries of construction materials shall not exceed more than 1 per 

day and will not push existing deliveries into night time hours. 
39) Ecological enhancement measures. 
40) Biodiversity net gain requirement and management. 

  

Key Issues 
 

60. This is a major development proposal that poses numerous complex planning 
issues, all of which are discussed in detail in this report. However, for ease of 
reference the key issues to be considered when determining the application are 
outlined below. 

 
61. Definition of ARM – Alternative Raw Materials (ARM) is a broad definition that 

could encompass a wide range of materials, as such it will be important to have a 
clear understanding of their nature in order to assess the proposal appropriately 
against the relevant national and local planning policies. 

 
62. Potential departure from Policy CC1 – the use of an alternative secondary 

feedstock in in cement manufacture process calls into question compliance with 
the policy in relation to the embodied carbon within the ARM and as a 
consequence of its transport to site. The implications of the use of ARM in addition 
to, or replacing currently consented PFA are considered in isolation and against 
potential alternatives.  

 
63. Principle of replacement of on-site shale with ARM – the replacement of on-site 

shale with ARM has the potential to extend the life of the on-site shale reserves, 
which needs to be considered in the context of wider cement works complex, it’s 
extant permissions and the National Park’s strategic objectives and fundamental 
purposes. 

 
64. Potential adverse impact arising from additional rail movements – the proposed 

increase in rail movements, specifically along The Works branch line and 
associated activities at Earles Sidings have the potential to cause nuisance to 
local residents by way of noise and vibration. 

 
65. Visual impact of proposed development – impact of the proposed buildings and 

structures on the National Park’s landscape and character. 
 

66. Impact on cultural heritage – the scheme has the potential to impact upon 
designated and non-designated heritage assets and must be fully considered 
against national and local policy. 

 

Page 22



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

History 
 

67. Hope Cement Works has been in existence at its current site in some form since 
1929, and as such pre-dates both the modern planning system introduced by the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1947 and the formation of the Peak District 
National Park in 1951. 

 
68. Production of cement commenced in the 1930s at a rate of 150,000 tonnes per 

annum (tpa), rising to 500,000 tpa in the 1950s. The site has benefited from a rail 
link via its own dedicated branch line since The Works were constructed in 1929. 

 
69. The wider site has a complex planning history with various permissions for 

ancillary development and infrastructure granted over the years. This section of 
the report does not detail the wider site’s entire history, rather it outlines and 
discussed the consents material to the determination of this application applicable 
to the planning status of the wider Works site at the present day. 

 
70. 1948 Permission (ref: 1986/9/3) – Formal consent for the Works was first granted 

under a Ministerial decision on the 21st of December 1948. The application area 
encompassed the cement works and the associated limestone and shale quarries 
from which the works drew its feedstock as one single planning unit. 

 
71. The letter confers consent for ‘the development of land by the winning and 

working of limestone and clay for the manufacture of cement, and the erection of 
buildings at the Hope cement Works’ and makes a number of observations which 
convey the thoughts of the Minister when making his decision. 

 
72. It states: ‘The site of the undertaking in in an area of the Peak District, famous for 

its natural beauty and recommended as a National Park by the National Parks 
Committee for England and Wales. The Minister has borne in mind the beauty of 
the area as a whole and in particular, the importance to the landscape of the 
undulating countryside surrounding the Hope Valley. On these grounds there must 
be a strong presumption against any industrial extension which would be out of 
harmony with the natural beauty of the area. On the other hand, he has had to 
take account of the urgent national need for increased supplies of cement, and of 
the fact the undertaking, which has been in existence since 1929, is well situated 
to supply the demands for cement from the adjacent industrial areas. The Minister 
is advised that there is only a limited number of sites in the country satisfying 
economic considerations and at the same time providing in workable quantities 
the raw materials and services necessary for the production of cement. In this 
field, therefore, any action which would have the effect of disrupting production 
from these Works is undesirable.’ 

 
73. All of the matters taken into consideration by the Minister in 1948 remain pertinent 

to the present day. Although the case for economic need may weigh less heavily 
given the necessity to rebuild the country after the second world war, that need 
still remains in the form of the levelling up agenda, the housing shortfall and due to 
various significant infrastructure projects. The UK’s cement production capacity 
continues run at close to its maximum and relies on a limited number of sites, with 
the Hope Works contributing to circa 15% of the UK’s domestic cement needs. 
However, it also remains true that the Works is located in an area of particular 
beauty given the surrounding landscape, which has since been designated a 
National Park (1951). 

 

Page 23



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

74. The letter continues: ‘On full review of the circumstances, the Minister has been 
forced to the conclusions – albeit with reluctance in view of the special nature of 
the area – that, in the national interest, it would not be right to refuse consent to 
the proposed expansion of the Hope Cement Works, which have been in 
operation on the spot for a number of years and represent an important element in 
the national production of cement. This, however, is on the consideration that all 
practical steps consistent with the development are taken to minimise injury to 
amenity.’ 

 
75. It is important to note the conclusion that the permission was granted with 

reluctance by the Minister in the context of the national need for cement at that 
time, and to appropriately apportion weight to the competing interests when 
determining this application. This matter is fully discussed in the assessment 
section later in this report. 

 
76. The consent also states: ‘The Minister has noted with concern the disparity 

between the working life of the clay and limestone areas. The disparity between 
the primary and secondary feed stocks has remained throughout the life of the 
Works, with subsequent applications submitted seeking to align the two for the 
purposes of continued cement production. This application also seeks to do just 
that, by way of substitution of on-site shale. The MPA considered the 
determination of this application as the appropriate opportunity to instigate a 
strategy that would finally align the reserves. 

 
77. The consent letter closes stating: The Minister wishes to make it clear, however, 

that, while in all the circumstances he has thought it right to consent to the 
extension of the Hope Cement Works, he would regard any further 
industrialisation of the area as undesirable’. 

 
78. Clearly there has been further industrialisation of the site, as outlined below, but it 

is a pertinent closing statement that gives insight into the thoughts of the Minister 
at that time. 

 
79. 1969 Permission (ref: NP/CHA/468/2) – Consent was granted by the Peak 

Planning Board on the 2nd of July 1969 to allow the extension of the cement 
works. This culminated in the extension and significant upgrade of the Works 
which forms the basis of the on-site infrastructure present on site today and 
allowed production capacity to reach its current rate of output circa 1.5mtpa. 

 
80. This consent also granted approval for the Works and the associated limestone 

and shale quarries as a single entity, interrelated and dependent upon each other. 
The consent went further to define the uses as a single planning unit by its 
introduction of Condition no. 2 which reads: 

 
81. ‘When the works have ceased to operate permanently either for the winning and 

working of limestone or clay or shale or for the manufacture, storage and delivery 
of cement, all buildings, plant and machinery, for the manufacture, bagging, and 
delivery of cement or cement products, including all chimneys and other structures 
connected therewith, and all plant and machinery for quarrying, and the 
transporting of limestone, clay or shale whether useable or derelict shall be taken 
down, and removed entirely from the site, as edged Red on the accompanying 
Ordnance Survey Map Scale 6” to 1 mile, Edition of 1955 by the company or their 
successors at their expense entirely, and the Company or their successors shall 
thereupon restore the site in accordance with a landscaping scheme to be agreed 

Page 24



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

between the Peak Park Planning Board and the Company or failing such 
agreement as may be determined by the Minister of Housing and Local 
Government.’ 

 
82. The reason specified for application of the condition in appendix B of the decision 

notice states that: 
 
 

83. ‘The Board believes that there is a conflict between the objects of the National 
Park and the continued existence and operation of the Hope Valley Cement 
Works and on this account envisages the eventual termination of the existing and 
proposed development. The Board, however, accepts the exploitation of the 
limestone resources to the extent already committed, and considers that the life of 
the buildings, plant and machinery of the Works as extended and reconstructed by 
the present application matches generally the period still required to extract the 
remaining reserves of limestone at the rate necessitated for the production of 1.3 
million tons of cement per annum. In the opinion of the Board, there is a position in 
time when the various associated activities of the Works should cease and this will 
coincide with the exhaustion of the present reserves of limestone, which it is 
estimated will take place in 30 years from the start of production of the proposed 
reconstruction works.’ 

 
84. This condition is of particular importance in relation to the determination of the 

current application, as allowing for the importation of ARM to supplement or 
substitute on site shale would have the effect of prolonging the life of the shale 
reserves and as such delay the trigger of the above condition and potentially the 
restoration of the wider site. The reason for the condition anticipated that the 
limestone reserves would be exhausted in approximately 30 years from the date 
of approval. However, this has not occurred, and although the exact figure cannot 
be disclosed due to commercial confidentiality, the Mineral Planning Authority 
(MPA) is satisfied that remaining consented limestone reserves are considerable. 
This matter is discussed in detail in the assessment section of this report. 

 
85. The consent also imposes a condition that relates to vehicle movements by road 

associated with the exportation of product and reads as follows: 
 

86. ‘The company shall undertake not to send out more than 577,500 tonnes of their 
products by road in any year.’ 

 
87. This condition is important and remains of relevance today as it sets the total 

tonnage for the export of product produced at the site by road in any year. 
However, the tonnage specified was in imperial units and equates to 586,777 
metric tonnes for monitoring purposes during the present day. It is important to 
note that this condition relates to the export of product from the site, and does not 
apply to the import of raw materials by road. 

 
88. Permission NP/HPK/1205/1235 – was granted in 2006 in 2 phases to allow 

enabling works for new rail infrastructure including: new reception / office/control 
building/ and new internal HGV access road and development platform for future 
rail sidings. This permission required removal of buildings at the latest by 22nd 
February 2044 and restoration and aftercare of the site at the latest by 22nd 
February 2046. 

 
 

Page 25



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

89. Permission NP/HPK/1108/1031 - was granted in August 2009 for a new rail 
unloading platform, overhead pipe gantry, 2,500 tonnes silo, compressor houses 
and delivery pipeline, for the importation, reception, storage internal transfer to 
existing silos and use of inbound rail fed Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) as a 
cementitious addition to cement products at the cement mills. 

 
90. Conditions 6 and 33 mirrored the end dates in the 2006 permission. Condition 10 

restricted the importation of PFA to rail except during emergencies, and reads: 
 
 

91. ‘Mode of Importation of PFA: The PFA shall be brought into the site by rail only. 
This condition shall not apply in the event of demonstrable emergency, (such as 
prolonged railway breakdown or other impediment to rail delivery that exceeds the 
life of the PFA contingency storage), provided the PFA is only brought into the site 
by road vehicles in such quantities and in accordance with such arrangements 
(including details of load capacity, numbers, frequency and routeing of vehicles) 
and temporary period as may be agreed or modified in writing by the MPA 
beforehand.  

 
92. For the avoidance of doubt, the Mineral Planning Authority will not be bound by 

this condition to agree to alternative arrangements for the movement of PFA into 
the site other than by rail, and in considering any request for this purpose will have 
regard to the extent to which the following criteria has been satisfied: 

• The supply of PFA essential for the day to day production of CEM II 
product(s) at Hope Cement Works cannot be brought to the site by rail due 
to demonstrable exceptional circumstances outside the control of the 
operator; and 

• There is insufficient PFA stock within the CEM II and other PFA silos or 
other contingency storage to assure the continuity of CEM II production 
throughout the anticipated duration of the emergency event; and 

• The circumstances of the emergency and requirements for transportation 
have been notified to the Mineral Planning Authority in writing.’ 

 
93. Condition 11 restricted the export of cement (but specifically CEMII) to rail except 

in emergencies and for the then CEMII Portland Phoenix, which could also be 
exported by road. The use of company trade names for cement products in 
planning permissions rather than technical specifications presents difficulties in 
regards potential enforcement, should it ever be required, but the premise of the 
condition remains clear. 

 
94. Condition 15 restricted the import of PFA to 150,000 tpa for use as an additive in 

production of CEMII (then called Phoenix cement and BCC cement). Condition 16 
restricted the rate of import to the capacity of the silo storage and throughput 
facilities, with no open storage  allowed. 

 
95. At this point in time dry PFA was imported to site and used as a cement product 

extender only. When used in this manner the PFA was mixed with the cement 
after it had been produced in order to bulk out the product. The current operator 
no longer conducts this process at the Hope Cement Works site. However, it is 
worthy to note that the principle of the importation of 150,000 tpa of dry PFA to 
site by rail was deemed acceptable and is established under this consent. This 
principle is a material consideration in the determination of the current application. 

 
 

Page 26



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

96. Permission NP/HPK/0710/0665 - granted on 1st September 2010 allows the use 
of cement storage silos 13-16 for storage of PFA brought in by rail. Condition 4 
mirrored the end dates in the 2006 permission. Condition 6 specifically limits this 
importation to rail transport.  

 
97. Condition 8 as originally worded limited the amounts of PFA that could be utilised 

for specific uses. Up to 150,000 tonnes per annum could be brought in by rail for 
use as an additive at the cement milling stage. The PFA was introduced into the 
process after the cement had been manufactured and the two are ground together 
to produce a product known as CEM II.  

 
98. Secondly, importation of PFA for use as a shale substitute was allowed up to 

100,000 tpa as a partial replacement for natural quarried shale for use in the raw 
material mix used to make cement clinker. The principle of the 
supplementation/substitution of site derived shale up to a quantity of 100,000 tpa 
is established under this consent and is a material consideration in the 
determination of the current application. 

 
99. An application (ref: NP/HPK/0819/0896) to vary condition 8 of the above consent 

is currently under consideration by the MPA. The proposal seeks to remove the 
split of quantities of PFA for the aforementioned specific uses. If approved, this 
would facilitate the use of up to 250,000 tpa of PFA to be imported by rail for use 
as a shale substitute. This application is pursued by the operator to allow for the 
continued importation and utilisation of dry PFA as a shale substitute for use in the 
kiln feed mix, should sources become available. 

 
100. Permission NP/HPK/0710/0665 allows PFA to be imported and specifically to be 

stored only in the existing silos. This type of PFA is imported in rail tankers and, 
because it is ‘dry’, it is pneumatically unloaded directly into the silos. Initially both 
dry PFA (imported under permission NP/HPK/0710/0665) and conditioned (wet) 
PFA, (consented by this application, if approved) would be imported. However, 
when the ‘dry’ PFA is no longer available, following closure of coal fired power 
stations, all the imported PFA would be conditioned PFA, or other ARM, which 
would be unloaded and stored in the proposed storage building.  

 
101. Conditioned PFA contains varying amounts of water up to approximately 25-30% 

by volume.  Conditioned PFA cannot be stored in silos thus this application is for 
450,000tonnes (wet weight) of ARM all to be stored in the storage building and not 
just 200,000tonnes  
 
Consultations 

 
Bamford Parish Council 

 
102. No objection. 

 
Hope with Aston Parish Council 

 
103. Our response is an assessment by the Hope with Aston Parish Council carried out 

by the Parish Councillors on behalf of the local community it serves. We recognize 
the need to minimize road transport in to and out of the site, and agree that the 
proposals have minimal impact on cultural heritage, recreation, biodiversity and 
the visual intrusion of the site. We welcome the slight reduction in visual intrusion 
stemming from burying the overhead power lines to the quarry. But we continue to 

Page 27



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

have important questions about the application and its impact on the local 
community of Hope. These issues still focus on: 

1) noise and rail movements 
2) climate change and long-term sustainability of the site 
3) air quality 
4) road transport and 
5) social and economic costs and benefits.  

Together these concerns suggest that the environmental impacts evaluated in the 
report still elide too much inconvenient detail and underplay the National Park 
location of the plant. In our view the benefit to the company is outweighed by the 
impact on the National Park, and the local community. 

 
104. HwAPC therefore object to the application in its present form and would like the 

issues described in this report to be addressed. 
 

105. Noise and rail movements 
The majority of the revised noise chapter in the supporting report focuses on 
mitigating impacts of the proposed buildings on site, and we recognize that this 
mitigation is sensible and effective. The main issues of concern for local 
communities through still relate to rail movement and consequent noise and 
vibration that stem from transport of ARM into the site and exit of rolling stock from 
the site. We endorse and support the HEARD report on these issues and agree 
with their assertion that the noise survey carried out after the initial application 
significantly misrepresents experienced noise and vibration and underplays the  
impact of the 50% increase in rail traffic arising from the application. 

 
106. Climate change and long term sustainability of the site 

The key issue of the proposal is the wider spatial, and longer-term implications of 
the proposals, both for its role in contributing to an increased carbon footprint, and 
as a potentially precedent-setting issue for planning in the National Park. The 
application acknowledges that there would be an increase in CO2 stemming in the 
main from transporting ARM to the site. It does not chart the wider greenhouse 
gas implications of operation of the plant, which already contributes 1.2 million 
tonnes of CO2 to the atmosphere each year. We suggest the evaluation of climate 
impact surely has to recognise that. 

 
107. Air quality 

The central issue for air quality is the impact upon human health because of the 
changing nature of emissions, dust and particulate levels in the aftermath of the 
ARM development. But the focus of the air quality chapter is almost entirely on 
dust management and fine particulates. 

 
108. Road transport 

The key issue in relation to road transport is the need for a modal shift away from 
road towards rail, as a more carbon-neutral alterative for moving material in to and 
out of the site. Existing HGV movements to and from the Breedon works through 
Hope village are already at a level which creates significant issues for the 
community, including concerns around intimidation, noise, safety, pollution and 
environmental harm. While the current proposal focuses on bringing in ARM by 
rail, and indicates a small reduction in lorry movements, it has the potential to 
increase road traffic in a number of ways, including additional works traffic while 
the building works are undertaken, and displacement to road of movements of 
ARM during any period in which movements by rail are disrupted. 

 

Page 28



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

109. Social and economic Impacts 
The report argues that Hope Works employs a significant workforce, contributing 
large sums directly and indirectly to the local economy. It implies this contribution 
would be threatened were the proposal not to be approved. It also suggests UK 
supply of cement would be threatened should Hope Works be no longer 
sustainable. 

 
Each topic area the Parish Council refer to is followed by a number of key 
questions. All of which are considered in the body of this report and/or addressed 
by the proposed planning conditions. 

 
Edale Parish Council 

 
110. No comments to make. 

 
Bradwell Parish Council 
 

111. Support the application. 
 
Hathersage Parish Council 

 
112. No objection. 

 
Tideswell Parish Council 

 
113. The Parish Council have no comments to make apart from concerns about the 

language used in the application will be very difficult for anyone not advanced in 
this subject to understand. Again the Parish Council would like to see such 
applications be explained in simpler terms. No objection. 

 
114. DCC Highways 

 
115. No objection. 

 
Hope Environmental and Rail Delegation (HEARD) 

 
116. Representations received on 30.11.20 and 27.01.22. 

 
117. The first correspondence received from HEARD constitutes a detailed objection 

with associated appendices to the proposal which is available to view in full on the 
Authority’s website. The points of objection constituting material planning 
considerations are summarised below to assist Members when considering the 
application. 

 
-  Cement production should cease when remaining ‘useable’ shale reserves 
are exhausted on the basis of the existing planning permissions. 
-  Cement production should be relocated to an alternative site that has all the 
required natural resources in situ. 50% increase (3,600 additional) in branch line 
rail movements per year would represent a significant increase and cause adverse 
disturbance by way of noise and vibration. 
-  Increase in movements will cause an adverse impact on human health, due 
to stress and loss of sleep. 
-  Adverse impact on the quiet enjoyment of residential properties/gardens 
and the National Park. 

Page 29



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

-  Excessive speed of passing locos with/without wagons contributes to 
noise/vibration impacts. 
- Shunting activities and idling locos at Earles Sidings cause an adverse 
noise impact on residents. 
- Adverse impact on tourism in the National Park. People staying in holiday 
accommodation in close proximity to the branch line have left negative online 
reviews sighting rail noise as a factor. Rail noise can also be heard in surrounding 
camping and caravan sites. Tourists will choose other locations to stay in the Park 
thus having an economic impact on small businesses in Hope. 
- Continuous incremental increases in number of movements on the branch 
line over the years has increased blight and the current proposal would be 
unacceptable. 
- Net increase in CO2 emissions as a result of the development. 
- Alternative solutions to the need for lower sulphur shale may be available 
but are more costly than the current proposal, these should be utilised rather than 
impacting residents negatively through this proposal. 
- Older buildings in close proximity to the branch line showing signs of 
structural cracks. 
- Average noise measurements used in applicant’s submission, residents are 
concerned by the maximum noise levels. 
- Drivers sounding horns creates further disturbance. 
- Rail noise has increased over the past 10-15 years. 
- Applicants assessment focuses on average noise levels rather than peak 
levels that can reach 88dB. 
- Refute 88dB as a maximum and have experienced higher levels with 
readings having been taken on handheld devices that exceed that level. 
- 88dB is an increase in noise and sound volumes/pressures of a factor of 
virtually 16 times nosier than the average (50 LAeq) decibel levels the applicant 
draws attention to in their submission. 
- Differences between average and peak noise levels must be recognised. 
- Old rolling stock is noisier than modern locos/wagons. These should be 
replaced by modern equivalents. 
- 450 additional mainline movements causing noise and disturbance to 
residents. 
- Consideration to be given to DEFRA’s Noise Action Plan: Railway – 
Environmental Noise (England) Officer Comment - Does not apply in this instance 
as it refers to noise from major railways outside agglomerations where 1% of the 
population (the total population is the number of people within the 50 dB LAeq,18h 
contour from major railways outside agglomerations according to the 2011 
census.) that are affected by the highest noise levels from major railways are 
located according to the results of the strategic noise mapping. 
- Reports that trains were driven slower during the 2019 monitoring period 
than they are usually. 
 

• The appendices submitted with the representation include a study into rail 
noise conducted in Slovakia. While it provides insight into the impact of rail 
noise on people it is not directly comparable to this application which must 
be judged on its own merits. 

 
• The appendices also include two videos of trains using the branch line. One 

in 2010 and one in 2019. The videos show trains moving along the branch 
line and generating noise. Again this evidence provides an insight into 
activities and occurrences it is not possible to quantify speeds or noise 
levels from them so they can only be given limited weight when assessing 

Page 30



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

the proposal. 
 

118. Suggested Measures to Reduce Rail Noise 
- Re-examine all noise and vibration issues in areas of greatest concern 

to reduce impacts 
- Replace all present rolling stock and wagons 
- Potential reduction in coal requirements for use as kiln fuel due to use 

of PFA could reduce night time rail deliveries of coal. These reductions 
should not be replaced by other rail movements. 

- Set in place measures to control speed of branch line movements. 
- Erect noise attenuation fencing at relevant parts of the branch line. 
- Fit noise/vibration reducing sleepers and rail tracks. 
- Install acoustic attenuation materials such as curtains or window 

inserts at affected properties. 
- Replace jointed tracks with continuous welded tracks. 
- Remove points close to Earles viaduct. 
- Install noise reducing windows at affected properties within 25m of the 

branch line at Breedon’s expense. 
- Restrict speed of locos on the branch line 
- Modify horns on locos so as to warn pedestrians crossing the line but 

not be excessively noisy.  
- Reduce  idling of engines at Earles Sidings. 
- Reschedule arrival and departure times of deliveries to Earles Sidings 

to reduce nuisance noise caused by shunting activities. 
- Automatic closing gate to be installed at Earles Sidings to prevent 

access by the public in the interest of health and safety. 
- Negotiate with Network Rail to replace the remaining sodium lit gantry 

lights with LED equivalents.  
- Negotiate with Network Rail to replace worn out track at Earles 

Sidings. 
 

119. The 27.01.22 representation predominantly outlines the same concerns specified 
above and reiterates that residents remain adversely affected by the existing rail 
movements. It also refers to a night time noise survey undertaken in 2010. This 
evidence is anecdotal and not representative of the operation today so cannot be 
given weight in the planning consideration process for this application. It also 
critiques the applicants revised noise assessment and refutes the claims that 
‘noise levels at all ESRs are low and provide a good level of amenity to residents’ 
and that noise levels that would be experienced by residents are ‘not significant’. 
 

120. This latter submission also outlines a number of assurances given by the applicant 
to make improvements to mitigate noise levels experienced by residents. It can be 
confirmed that the operator has made these assurances and they would be 
imposed by planning condition and legal agreement. The mitigation measures are 
outlined in the ‘Rail Noise and Vibration’ section later in this report and specified 
by conditions in Appendix A and the Heads of Terms for a S.106 agreement from 
paragraph 578 of this report. 

 

DCC Flood Risk Management 
 

121. No objection subject to conditions requiring: 
 

- Surface water management, maintenance and drainage plan. 

Page 31



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

- Demonstration that the proposed destination for surface water discharge 
accords with the drainage hierarchy. 

- Scheme for management of additional surface water run off created by 
development. Submission of a drainage verification report prior to first 
occupation. 

 
Health and Safety Executive 

 
122. No requirement to be consulted on the application. 

 
Environment Agency 

 
123. No objection subject to the following conditions: 

 
124. A remediation strategy to deal with the identified free phase hydrocarbon hotspot 

on site should be submitted along with a verification plan providing details of the 
data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the 
remediation strategy are complete. 

 
125. A verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved 

remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted 
to, and approved in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include 
results of sampling carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to 
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. 

 
126. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 

present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the local planning authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy 
detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall 
be implemented as approved. 

 
Historic England 

 

127. Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In 
this case we are not offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment 
on the merits of the application. We suggest that you seek the views of your 
specialist conservation and archaeological advisers. 

 
High Peak BC Environmental Health 

 
128. No objection subject to conditions relating to a number of topic areas specifying 

the following:  
 

Demolition and construction: 
 

129. Works to be undertaken should be conducted under a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) to minimise emissions of dust and noise during 
construction works. The following conditions are recommended and should be 
incorporated within the CEMP: 

 
130. CONSTRUCTION AND  DEMOLITION – DUST 

There shall be no visible dust emissions beyond the site boundary associated with 

Page 32



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

construction/demolition works undertaken at the site. In controlling dust on site, 
the contractor shall have due regard to the Institute of Air Quality Management 
Guidance on the assessment of dust from demolition and construction, 2014. 

 
131. CONSTRUCTION & DEMOLITION WORKS: TIME OF OPERATIONS 

Unless prior permission has been obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority, all noise-generating activities shall be restricted to the following times of 
operations. 

• 07:00 - 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday); 
• 08:00 - 14:00 hours (Saturday) 
• No working is permitted on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

In this condition, a noise-generating activity is defined as any activity (for instance, 
but not restricted to, building construction/demolition operations, refurbishing and 
landscaping) which generates noise that is audible at the site boundary. 

 
132. PILING 

No piling shall take place outside the hours 09:00 hours to 16:00 hours Mondays 
to Fridays 

 
133. Branch Line: 

 
134. Prior to the proposal first being brought into use, the applicant shall implement a 

scheme of noise management measures to be agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority, this shall include details for: 

 
- Implementation of a speed limit on the branch line which should include 

provision for the monitoring and review of the speed of trains using the 
branch line. 

- Improvements to the existing branch line to include smoothing of the bend 
and removal of points. 

- Implementation of acoustic fencing 
 

135. The movement of Alternative Raw Material (ARM) into Hope Works by rail, the 
return of ARM wagons to the Earles Sidings, or the movement of Loco’s (with or 
without wagons) associated with the collection or return of ARM wagons (from or 
to the Earles Sidings shall be prohibited between 2300hrs to 0700hrs unless 
subject to prior approval by the planning authority in an emergency situation. 

 
136. The movement of Alternative Raw Material (ARM) into Hope Works by rail shall be 

made using wagons with a double bogie arrangement. 
 

137. No more than 450,000 tonnes of ARM shall be imported annually in to Hope 
Works. All imports shall be by rail only unless subject to prior approval by the 
planning authority in an emergency situation. There shall be no more than 7 trains 
delivering ARM to Hope Works each week. 

 
Conveying and storage facility: 

 
138. Prior to the proposal first being brought into operation, the applicant shall 

implement a scheme of noise mitigation measures to the extraction unit on the raw 
meal silo as identified in paragraph 13.5.8 of the Noise and Vibration Assessment 
(NT14126/EIA/2/013A, December 2021), to achieve a reduction in noise 
emissions of at least 10dB LAeq when measured or calculated to Pindale Farm, 
as identified in the receptor location ESR5 in Figure 13.1, of the assessment. 

Page 33



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

Validation that this has been achieved shall be submitted to the LPA for approval 
prior to first operation of the proposal. 

 
Earles Sidings: 

 
139. The applicant should make an undertaking to investigate operational practices at 

Earles Sidings to determine if noise levels from the engines can be mitigated at 
source with the aim of reducing noise levels emanating from activities at Earles 
Sidings. 
 

Vibration: 
 

140. The assessment undertaken indicates that vibration from the current track 
movements is below the daytime criterion for ‘low probability for adverse 
comment’ when considered against BS6472-2 at a receptor 22metres from the 
railway (Orlecar Cottage) and the additional proposed movements are considered 
likely to be negligible.  

 
141. Suggest condition requiring monitoring post approval to ensure no significant 

divergence from the levels already monitored occurs and branch line maintenance 
plan. 

 
Natural England 

 
142. No objection. Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the 

proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on designated 
sites and has no objection. 

 
143. European sites – South Pennine Moors Special Area of Conservation and the 

Peak District Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1) Special Protection Area. 
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not have likely significant effects on the South Pennine Moors 
Special Area of Conservation and the Peak District Moors (South Pennine Moors 
Phase 1) Special Protection Area and has no objection to the proposed 
development. To meet the requirements of the Habitats Regulations, we advise 
you to record your decision that a likely significant effect can be ruled out. 

 
144. South Lee Meadows Site of Special Scientific Interest - Based on the plans 

submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will not 
damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and 
has no objection. 

 
145. Protected Landscapes – Peak District National Park. The proposed development 

is for a site within or close to a nationally designated landscape namely Peak 
District National Park. Natural England advises that the planning authority uses 
national and local policies, together with local landscape expertise and information 
to determine the proposal. 

 
Hope Valley Climate Action 

 
146. The enormous emissions of carbon dioxide from cement manufacture derive 

almost entirely from the manufacturing process itself. The carbon emissions 
attributable to the transport of raw materials are only just over 0.1% of the total. 

Page 34



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

For this reason, the changes in practices planned by Breedon, which are 
dependent on the changes for which permission is being sought, will have a tiny 
impact on their overall emissions, so long as the overall amount of cement 
produced does not increase as a consequence.  

 
147. Hope Valley Climate Action does not, therefore, object to the application made. 

We do, however, note that there are some elements of the proposed building 
works, and changes in practice that will follow, that have the potential to impact on 
carbon emissions, and we request therefore that conditions are applied to any 
permission given, as described below. 

 
- That an ambitious requirement should be set for the minimum proportion 

of the overall tonnage of construction materials imported to be brought in 
by rail. 

- That a detailed analysis of the carbon dioxide emissions caused by the 
construction should be carried out, and proposals put forward by Breedon 
as to how they will minimise these, ideally to carbon neutrality.  

- That permission to import shale substitute by road in the event of 
blockage or difficulty in importing by rail, is rescinded.  

- That Breedon work with the relevant rail authorities to produce, within a 
short time period to be determined, a costed proposal for the 
electrification of the Hope Valley line, with the necessary investment 
made available.  

- That Breedon commit to reducing the carbon emissions from the Hope 
works by 50% by the end of 2030, and draw up plans to do so by the end 
of 2021.  

- That Breedon commission a landscape design study to explore options 
for increased tree cover and biodiversity on the site, with the intention of 
planting 1000 trees of a suitable species mix per year during their 
continuing management of the site. 

 
148. In response to the group’s request for conditions, the MPA comments as follows.  

 
149. A condition will specify construction materials shall be imported by rail where 

possible, however it is not possible to set a figure as the materials will be 
transported from as yet unknown sources and there may be implications for just in 
time delivery given available delivery time slots. There is also the implication of 
adverse impact on residents due to delivery by rail, so the condition shall not allow 
increased weekly rail movements above the figures currently consented unless 
otherwise agreed in writing with the MPA. 

 

150. A detailed analysis of CO2 emissions has been provided by the applicant as part of 
this application and is assessed in depth later in this report. A condition requiring 
all reasonable CO2 reductions to be secured would be imposed on any consent. 
Setting targets would go beyond the reach of current planning policy. 

 

151. The importation of PFA by road in rail outage emergencies is an established right 
and there are no material grounds for its removal. It is also necessary to ensure 
continuity of production. However, the ARMs storage building and the existing 
silos should provide capacity to cover most rail outages without the need for 
importation by road. 

Page 35



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 

152. It is beyond the reach of this planning application to impose a requirement upon 
the operator to seek to electrify the Hope Valley rail line and in any case such 
proposal is disproportionate given the movements along the line associated with 
the proposed/existing development when compared with total movements along 
the line. 

 

153. A landscaping scheme would be required by condition should consent be granted, 
but it is not possible to specify an exact number of trees to be planted on site as 
they would have  a landscape implication that has not been assessed and may not 
be suitable in the context of the existing landscape character.  

 
PDNPA Ecologist 

 
154. No objection subject to conditions relating to habitat creation and enhancement, 

lighting scheme, CEMP and LEMP and long term management of habitat. 
 

PDNPA Landscape Architect 
 

155. The site is located within the ‘Valley Farmland with Villages’ LCT in the Derwent 
Valley LCA. Immediately south of the plant is the White Peak LCA with the 
‘Limestone Hills and Slopes’ to the south west and ‘Limestone village Farmlands’ 
to the south.  

 
156. The ‘Valley Farmlands with Villages’ LCT is a settled pastoral landscape, often 

with a low lying topography associated with a network of streams and damp 
hollows. This is an enclosed landscape, with views filtered through scattered 
hedgerow and streamline trees. Gritstone-built villages with outlying farms and 
dwellings are set within small to medium fields that are often bound by hedgerows.  

 
157. Its key characteristics are: 

• A low lying, gently undulating topography  
• Network of streams and localised damp hollows  
• Pastoral farmland enclosed by hedgerows and some drystone walls  
• Small to medium sized fields  
• Dense streamline and scattered hedgerow trees  
• Gritstone villages and outlying farms with associated dwellings and field 

barns  
 

158. The existing cement works plant and associated quarries are obviously key 
existing elements in the landscape.  

 
Applicants LVIA: 

 
159. No comments on methodology. Agreed that a 5km study area is appropriate. The 

character of the site and LCAs are considered, but as the study area includes a 
number of individual LCTs (with different characteristics), I would have liked to 
have seen a ‘local landscape character area’ defined (both spatially and in terms 
of key elements of character) as part of the appraisal. However, while this would 
be best practice (and would enable a more accurate assessment of landscape 
effects at a more appropriate scale to be carried out) it doesn’t invalidate the 
overall findings of the appraisal.  

Page 36



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
160. Comments were given to the applicant at the Pre-app stage – these included 

comments on the colour scheme, roof light panels, mitigation and VP locations – 
and have been incorporated into the appraisal / scheme design.  

 
161. Due to the presence of the existing plant and quarries, it is agreed that the 

application scheme would likely not have a significant adverse effect on the key 
characteristics of landscape character in the ‘Valley Farmlands with Village’ LCT. 
However, it is probable that some significant effects on a smaller ‘local’ landscape 
character area may be possible – potential adverse effects have not been picked 
up due to the scale of the landscape assessment.  

 
162. However, due to the nature of the existing cement works, the existing strong 

structure vegetation cover and local landform, any adverse landscape effects are 
likely to be very localised. While I agree that in terms of the LCT overall effect 
magnitude may be ‘negligible’, I think some areas within the LCT may experience 
low adverse effect magnitude.  

 
163. For other LCTs I agree that negligible is the most likely level of landscape effect. 

The visualisations are useful tools to determine level of visual effect from a 
number of viewpoints, and I agree that adverse visual effects of the scheme are 
likely to be relatively minimal.  

 
164. While I do not object to the scheme (as it would be seen as a small part of an 

existing development and would likely result in negligible or localised adverse 
effects), I cannot support it as it does not accord with the ‘enhance valued 
landscape character’ part of Policy L1A  

 
PDNPA Cultural Heritage 

 
165. The Heritage Statement has identified heritage assets, both designated and 

undesignated that will be affected by the proposals. This identification has enabled 
the development of mitigation measures to try and limit the impact the proposals 
will have on these heritage assets.  

 
166. The comments below reflect those expressed by the PDNPA archaeologist and 

Historic England, any proposals must ensure the impacts are mitigated for as far 
as possible, and opportunities to further reduce these negative impacts should be 
explored.  

 
167. The proposals are within the site of a well-established industrial site that has been 

operational from the early 1920s, pre-dating the National Park and the designation 
of the listed buildings affected by the proposals. The proposals are close to the 
existing rather large industrial buildings, the loading house and conveyor crossing 
through existing buildings. The main ARM building is on the edge of the built site, 
and is closest to the Grade II listed Pindale mine engine house and chimney, 
designated on 21st April 1967. 

 
168. The site has a landscape plan developed by Geoffrey Jellico, this includes the 

later bund known as Haywood Hill that is adjacent to the proposed ARM building. 
The bund was created from quarry spoil in the late 1960s as a natural screen for 
the cement works and has trees on it. The bund creates some screening between 
Pindale mine house and the proposed ARM, but as identified by the Heritage 
Statement this is not complete and there are views from Pindale engine house into 

Page 37



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

the site and of the ARM building. The Heritage Statement and the PDNPA 
archaeologist’s photographs from the December site visit show clear views to the 
proposed area, and therefore the visual impact that the large modern industrial 
structure will have on the listed building. The Heritage Statement also identifies 
noise, vibration and dust as impacts that will be experienced by the listed building.  

 
169. There are mitigation measures proposed to reduce the visibility of the new 

buildings by cladding them in olive green so they blend into the landscape, for the 
ARM building this will mean views through the trees from Pindale engine house 
will be of the olive-green building reducing the visual impact. From further afield 
the ARM building will be seen with the backdrop of trees on Haywood Hill. The 
olive-green cladding to mitigate the visual impact is welcomed. The Heritage 
Statement notes that some trees at the base of Haywood Hill may need to be 
removed to accommodate the ARM building, where this is done, the screening 
trees should be replaced elsewhere on the Hill.  

 
170. To further limit the visual impact screening planting should be utilised including 

new areas of screening and improvements in the existing areas of screen planting. 
The new buildings proposed should be as low as possible, the opportunity to 
further reduce the height and massing of the proposed buildings should be 
encouraged.  

 
171. In conclusion the proposals will cause harm to the significance of the Grade II 

Pindale mine engine house and chimney. This less than substantial harm should 
be assessed against the public benefit of the proposal and the mitigation 
measures identified to minimise the harm to the significance. 

 
Representations 

 
172. A total of 9 representations have been made by member of the public in relation to 

the development proposal. They are summarised as follows and the issues raised 
addressed in the body of the report. 

 
Objections 

 
173. 9 objections have been received in relation to the application from members of the 

public and their grounds are summarised below: 
 

- Inappropriately sized vehicles for village roads are generated by the 
continued operation of the quarry; 

- Concern about the potential impact of the increased rail activity on local 
tourism businesses; 

- Noise generated by the rail activity negative affects resident’s amenity; 
- The application fails to meet the need for exceptional circumstance 

required for major- development to be considered acceptable; 
- Adverse impact on the environment and not in line with the Governments 

climate change goals; 
- Not compatible with core objectives of the Development Plan;  
- The impact of the continued operation is detrimental to the landscape and 

outweighs economic benefit;  
- Raised issue with the methodology of the Vibration and Noise survey; 
- Negative impact on air quality; 
- Proposed buildings are too large to assimilate with the surrounding 

landscape;  

Page 38



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

- Heavily automated process unlikely to generate much new employment;  
- Surrounding roads are being damaged by large vehicles; 
- Noise generated from site is often late at night or early in the morning and 

at weekends;  
- Rail activity damages the landscape and has a negative impact on tourism; 
- Road safety issues arise when HGV’s have to pass each other on narrow 

lanes and poses a risk to pedestrians; 
- HGV movements from 4am on occasion; 
- The site should have an independent access road to avoid the centre of the 

village;  
- Request conditions restricting the amount of material that can be import by 

road; 
- Benefits of the development will not be felt by the local community; 
- Request that no ARM consent increases the number of HGV movements 

along the narrow section of Pindale Road; 
- Operation incompatible with domestic and international Net Zero targets 

 

174. The points of objection are addressed in the respective sections of this report.  
 

Representations 
 

175. Despite reasons for objections the operators of the cement works have always 
been “good neighbours” 

 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

176. National Park designation is the highest level of landscape designation in the UK. 
The Environment Act 1995 sets out two statutory purposes for national parks in 
England and Wales: Which are; to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, 
wildlife and cultural heritage and promote opportunities for the understanding and 
enjoyment of the special qualities of national parks by the public. When national 
parks carry out these purposes they also have the duty to; seek to foster the 
economic and social well-being of local communities within the National Parks. 

 

Page 39



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

177. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has been revised (2021). This 
replaced the previous documents (2012) (2019) with immediate effect. The 
Government’s intention is that the document should be considered as a material 
consideration and carry particular weight where a development plan is absent, 
silent or relevant policies are out of date.  In particular Paragraph 176 states that 
great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic 
beauty in National Parks, which have the highest status of protection in relation to 
these issues. 

 
178. The conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also 

important considerations, and should be given great weight in National Parks. The 
scale and extent of development within National Parks should be limited. 

 
179. When considering applications for development within National Parks, permission 

should be refused for major development other than in exceptional circumstances, 
and where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public interest. 
Consideration of such applications should include an assessment of: 

 
(a) the need for the development, including in terms of any 

national considerations, and the impact of permitting it, or 
refusing it, upon the local economy; 

 
(b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the 

designated area, or meeting the need for it in some other 
way; and 

 
(c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape 

and recreational opportunities, and the extent to which that 
could be moderated. 

 
180. In the National Park, the development plan comprises the Authority’s Core 

Strategy 2011 and the Development Management Polices (DMP), adopted May 
2019. These Development Plan Policies provide a clear starting point consistent 
with the National Park’s statutory purposes for the determination of this 
application. In this case, it is considered there are no significant conflicts between 
prevailing policies in the Development Plan and government guidance in the 
NPPF. 

 
Main Development Plan Policies 

 
Core Strategy 

 
181. GSP1, GSP2 - Securing National Park purposes and sustainable development, & 

Enhancing the National Park.  These policies jointly seek to secure national park 
legal purposes and duties through the conversion and enhancement of the 
National Park’s landscape and its natural and heritage assets. 

 
182. GSP3 - Development management principles.  Sets out principles to which all 

development must conform to ensure the valued characteristics of the National 
Park are respected, conserved and enhanced, including the scale of the 
development, its siting and landscaping, the form and intensity of the proposed 
activity, its impact on local communities, the use of sustainable transport methods, 
and adapting to and mitigating the impact of climate change.  

 

Page 40



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

183. GSP4 – Planning conditions and legal agreements. Supports the use of planning 
conditions and legal agreements to aid the achievement of the National Park 
Authority’s spatial outcomes by considering the contributions that development 
proposals can make.  

 
184. DS1 - Development strategy. Sets out the spatial principles for new development 

in the National Park and directs the majority of new development into named 
settlements. The proposed development is not referred to as acceptable in 
principle in the open countryside. However, it is ancillary to mineral working which 
is defined as acceptable. 

 
185. L1 - Landscape character and valued characteristics. Seeks to ensure that all 

development conserves and enhances valued landscape character and sites, 
features and species of biodiversity importance. 

 
186. L2  - Sites of biodiversity and geodiversity importance. Requires development to 

conserve and enhance any sites of importance and where relevant, their settings. 
 

187. L3 – Cultural heritage assets of archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic 
significance. Requires development to conserve and enhance or reveal sites of 
importance and their settings. 

 
188. CC1 – Climate change mitigation and adaptation. States that development must 

make the most efficient and sustainable use of land, buildings and natural 
resources, and achieve the highest possible standards of carbon reductions and 
water efficiency. It requires non-residential development above 1000m2 to achieve 
a Buildings Emission Rate of 10% than the Target Emissions Rate. 

 
189. CC3 – Waste management. Requires construction and demolition waste to be 

managed and re-used on site.  
 

190. CC5 – Flood risk and water conservation. Development which increases hard 
surface or roof area must adequately address drainage and surface water 
management. 

 
Development Management Policies 

 
191. DM1 – The presumption of sustainable development in the context of National 

Park purposes. A positive approach will be taken by the Authority when 
considering development proposals, and we will work proactively with applicants 
to find solutions that are consistent with our National Park purposes. 

 
192. DMC1 – Conservation and enhancement of nationally significant landscape. 

Requires consideration and proportionate assessment of the potential landscape 
impact of development proposal, with reference to Landscape Strategy and Action 
Plan character areas and cumulative impact. 

 
193. DMC3 – Siting, design, layout and landscaping. Development must respect, 

protect and where possible enhance the natural beauty, quality and visual amenity 
of the landscape and its distinctive sense of place, with particular attention to 
siting, scale, form, massing, height, orientation, as well as landscaping, visual 
context, flood risk and drainage. 

 

Page 41



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

194. DMC5 – Assessing the impact of development on designated and non-designated 
heritage assets and their settings. Development proposals must include 
appropriate assessment of the significance of the asset(s) and the potential impact 
of the development, demonstrating how it will conserve and where possible 
enhance, and detailing why the development is necessary or desirable.  

 
195. DMC6 – Scheduled Monuments. Applies the policy tests of DMC5 to planning 

applications involving a Scheduled Monuments and/or their settings. 
 

196. DMC11 – Safeguarding, recording and enhancing nature conservation interests. 
Proposals should aim for net gains to biodiversity and geodiversity, must provide 
details of appropriate safeguards and enhancements where features could be 
affected, and must consider the cumulative impact of the development with others 
as well as the impact of the development on the setting of features of importance.  

 
197. DMC13 – Protecting trees, woodland or other landscape features put at risk by 

development. Recognising the value of these features in the landscape and to 
biodiversity, this requires sufficient information to be provided to enable full 
consideration of impacts and protects existing tree and hedgerow features by 
applying the exceptional circumstance test to the loss of these features.  

 
198. DMC14 – Pollution and disturbance. Will not permit any development that risks an 

unacceptably adverse level of pollution or disturbance to amenity, neighboring 
land users, the valued chrematistics of the National Park, recreation, ecosystem 
services or rural character, and requires adequate control measures and site 
restoration. 

 
199. DMC15 – Contaminated and unstable land. Requires appropriate assessment and 

remediation on any potentially contaminated or unstable land, including when the 
risk of instability is posed by the proposed development. 

 
200. DME7 – Expansion of existing industrial and business development not involving 

farm diversification. Part B is relevant as this proposal is location outside, and not 
on the edge of, a Named Settlement. It requires proposals to be modest in relation 
to existing activity and buildings, of a scale and type that can be accommodated 
with adverse impacts, to not adversely affect the enhancement of the site and its 
future management, and gives proper consideration of the use of existing 
buildings.  

 
201. DME8 – Design, layout and neighborliness of employment sites including haulage 

depots. Seeks to minimize the adverse impacts of this type of development on the 
National Park’s valued characteristics and local amenity, in particular considering 
viewpoints, access, vehicle circulation and parking, layout, storage, landscaping 
and operating hours. 

 
202. DMMW2 – The impact of minerals and waste development on amenity. Will only 

permit development when adverse impacts on amenity can be reduced to an 
acceptable level or eliminated. 

 
203. DMMW3 – The impact of minerals and waste development on the environment. 

Will only permit development when adverse impacts on the environment can be 
reduced to an acceptable level or eliminated. 

 
 

Page 42



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

204. DMMW5 – Restoration and aftercare. Requires restoration and aftercare schemes 
that contribute to the enhancement of the National Park, with consideration of 
achievable timescales, removal of built infrastructure, biodiversity and amenity 
enhancements, and comprehensive aftercare. 

 
205. DMMW6 – The cumulative effect of minerals and waste development. Cumulative 

impacts must be acceptable, taking into account the site and its locality, existing 
and planned development, the setting of the development and off-site impact of 
infrastructure required to serve the development.  

 
206. DMMW8 – Ancillary minerals development. Will only be permitted where there is a 

close link between the development proposed and the existing mineral 
development, supports the use of legal agreements and conditions to tie in the 
restoration of ancillary development with the mineral workings, and will not permit 
ancillary minerals development on sites that are not operational mineral extraction 
sites. 

 

Page 43



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

Peak District National Park Core Strategy – Minerals Background Paper 
(July 2010) 

 
207. The Minerals Background Paper sets out the PDNPAs strategic policy 

approach in regards to the production of cement at Hope Works. Although 
it references the operator at the time, Lafarge Cement, the principles of 
the approach are still applicable today and to the current operator. 

 
208. ‘Policy approach 

46. Major limestone and shale quarrying and cement making at Hope – the only 
cement  
works in the National Park – is considered fundamentally incompatible with 
National Park  
purposes, it is also a major emitter of CO2 and would almost certainly fail to be 
approved  
today against current policy. However, the Authority has no realistic scope to 
influence  
significantly the output of cement from Hope cement works over the next three 
decades, due to the existence of substantial permissions for the plant and for 
quarrying limestone and shale raw materials. This period of stability, however, 
does provide an opportunity to work with Lafarge Cement UK to effect a transition 
to a more environmentally sustainable pattern of supply more in line with national 
policy, based on mineral working and cement making outside the National Park. 
The Authority considers that the best approach to cement making at Hope is to 
commit to assisting Lafarge to retain modern and efficient operations there until 
the consented reserves of limestone run out, perhaps around 2038, or when the 
planning permission expires in 2042, whichever is the sooner. Further reserves 
will not be allocated nor permissions granted where these would extend the life of 
operations beyond the permission date. 

 
209. The decision on the future of Hope Cement works is based around a 

consideration of the national or regional need for cement, impact on the 
local, regional or (possibly) national economy, the economic analysis of 
the substantial infrastructure established at Hope against the need to 
pursue national park purposes and the planning policies referred to 
above. The Authority considers that it will be necessary to address the 
long-term future of the Hope Cement works beyond its current lifespan 
in relation to other alternatives outside of the National Park in 
subsequent reviews of the Core Strategy, as this will be the appropriate 
time to start to consider an issue that will then be pertinent to the rolled 
forward strategic planning time horizon. The Authority is keen to see the 
future of Hope dealt with through the plan led system, and by indicating 
now that subsequent reviews will address the issue all interested parties 
can start to develop their thought processes in anticipation of the issue 
being considered.’ 

 
210. It is considered pragmatic to continue with the strategy of managed 

cement production at the site until the existing consented reserves are 
exhausted. Although the life of the shale reserves would be artificially 
extended should this consent be granted, the limestone reserves would 
be unaffected, and represent a natural end point for production at the 
Works. It is also important to note that the applicant has agreed to a 
S.106 legal obligation to cease production at the Works in 2042 at the 
latest. This provides certainty to the PDNPA and would accord with the 
strategic policy set out above. 

 

Page 44



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
 
Assessment   

 
Principle of Development 

 
Major Development 

 
211. This application constitutes major development and as such must be 

judged against the appropriate policy context. The NPPF and Policy GSP1 
of the Core Strategy both outline the purposes of the National Park and 
state that major development should not take place other than in 
exceptional circumstances. 

 
212. It is considered that there are a number of exceptional circumstances that 

apply in relation to this proposal which demonstrate it is policy compliant in 
that regard. Firstly, if approved the scheme would result in a reduction in 
sulphur dioxide emissions produced by the cement manufacture process, 
which is required by revised Environment Agency permitting legislation. 
This planning application arises from the need to comply with the 
requirements of the new EA permit and as such is a material consideration 
in its own right. 

 
213. The national need for cement must also be given appropriate weight when 

considering this proposal. Hope Cement Works is one of 11 domestic plants 
supplying the UK cement market and contributes approximately 15% of the 
UK’s demand. The ongoing need for cement for use in a wide range of 
construction projects such as meeting the housing shortfall, maintaining the 
highway network, large scale infrastructure projects such as HS2 and 
facilitating the Government’s levelling up agenda. Market data also indicates 
that the UK is currently a net importer of cement, and such reliance on 
imports would increase should production at Hope Works be reduced or 
cease. Ensuring continuity of cement supply to the regional and national 
market is considered to be in the public interest both locally and in a wider 
context, thus constituting an exceptional circumstance.  

 
214. The existence of the on-site raw materials, i.e. limestone and shale needed 

in the cement manufacture process and their proximity to the established 
Cement Works is a further exceptional circumstance. Minerals can only be 
worked where they are found. The extraction of the remaining reserves has 
been deemed acceptable after assessment through the planning process 
and under the EIA Regulations. If these reserves could not be worked, the 
demand for cement would still exist and alternative reserves would have to 
be sourced and consented, with consequential unknown impacts occurring 
elsewhere. As outlined in the ‘Planning History’ section of this report the 
Works and its associated quarries are one planning entity and the 
exploitation of the consented resource and the Works are intertwined and 
inter-reliant. Although not totally unique, this is a rare planning occurrence 
and represents and exceptional circumstance. 

 
215. Alternatives to the proposal are considered below. However, it is worth 

noting here that any alternative would be likely to impact upon the continuity 
of cement production/supply for the UK market. 

 

Page 45



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

216. The final exceptional circumstance is the existence of the Works on the site 
since 1929, and the extant planning position. Neither the 1948 or the 1969 
planning permissions stipulate a specific end date for the life of the Works 
and both infer the right for the Works to operate whilst mineral reserves 
continue to be won and worked. The extant planning position is a material 
consideration and cannot be ignored. 

 
217. Benefits to the National Park of approving the proposal would include the 

continued transportation modal shift from road to rail when importing 
secondary materials to the Works. The economic benefits of the continued 
operation of the business, both in terms of the jobs it directly provides and by 
way of the money the business spends in the local economy, subcontracting 
various local services (i.e. haulage and engineering) and in local shops and 
businesses.  

 
218. The detrimental effects the proposal would have on the environment and the 

landscape are considered capable of being suitably mitigated so as to make 
them acceptable in planning terms and are discussed in their relevant 
sections later in this report. Potential effects of the proposal on opportunities 
for recreation are limited given the application site is not open to the public 
and does not affect any rights of way. Increased rail movements, additional 
infrastructure and the continued production of cement may have limited 
impact on the enjoyment of those who utilise the Park but it would not 
directly affect their opportunities for recreation. 

 
Development Strategy 

 
219. Policy DS1 in the Core Strategy outlines the Park’s development strategy 

and defines the types of development that are considered acceptable in 
principle in the countryside. The proposed development is unique given the 
extant planning position at the cement works and the need for the 
importation of ARM. It can’t therefore, be reasonably expected that a 
proposal of such a specific nature would be defined in the development plan. 
However, the policy does refer to ‘mineral working’ as an acceptable 
development type in the countryside outside of the natural zone. It is 
reasonable to consider this proposal as ancillary to the extant mineral 
working and the associated Cement Works, which as a complete planning 
unit is an established business in its own right. It is therefore considered that 
the proposed development accords with Policy DS1 and does not represent 
a departure from the plan. 

 
220. Policy DME7 of the Development Management Policies DPD relates to the 

expansion of existing industrial and business development in the National 
Park. Although the wider Works is not considered a standalone industrial 
operation given its intrinsic link and reliance on the associated quarries, the 
process of cement manufacture is an industrial process and as such this 
policy is relevant in the context of the proposed development. 

 
221. Policy DME7 requires that businesses located outside of the settlements 

identified in Core Strategy Policy DS1, of which this proposal is such, shall 
only be expanded where proposals are modest in scale in relation to the 
existing activity; can be accommodated without adversely affecting 
residential amenity; do not adversely affect and where possible enhance the 
valued characteristics of the site and adjoining land; proper consideration of 

Page 46



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

enhancing landscape character by using, modifying or extending existing 
buildings. In all cases the impacts on residential amenity and valued 
characteristics from operating hours, lighting and noise will be considered. 

 
222. Although the proposed ARM storage building is significant in size and scale, 

in the context of the existing cement works infrastructure it is proportionate to 
facilitate the proposed importation and storage of ARM and the ongoing 
operation of the Works. When viewing the site from distance the proposed 
storage building and associated infrastructure would not have an obvious 
impact on the wider landscape. The scheme proposes enhancement of the 
landscape via the undergrounding of a line of on-site electricity cables. 
Landscape impact and enhancements are fully discussed later in this report. 
The Works currently operates 24/7 and this entitlement would be conveyed 
in relation to this scheme should it be consented. The impact of hours of 
operation, lighting and noise are fully considered in the relevant sections of 
this report. However, it is worthy to note here, in the context of Policy DME7, 
that the impacts on residential amenity have been fully assessed and 
deemed acceptable subject to the imposition of the appropriate mitigation 
conditions. No objections have been received from any of the relevant 
statutory consultees. 

 
Ancillary Minerals Development  

 
223. Policy DMMW8 relates to proposals for ancillary minerals development and 

states that such proposals shall only be permitted where there is a close link 
between the ancillary development and the existing winning and working of 
minerals on site; where/when the winning and working of minerals expires, 
so too shall the ancillary development, with appropriate restoration of the 
site. The policy supports the use of planning conditions and legal 
agreements to secure these ends.  

 
224. It is clear beyond doubt that the development proposal is ancillary to the 

winning and working of minerals given the extant planning status of the wider 
Hope Cement Works site. Simply, the winning and working of limestone and 
clay/shales provides the kiln feed stock which allows the production of 
cement. The importation of ARM would allow for their blending with site won 
shale for use in the kiln feed mix, thus allowing the continued exploitation of 
consent reserves that could otherwise be rendered unusable given their high 
sulphur content.  

 
225. Should this consent be granted, conditions would be imposed, as supported 

by Policy DMMW8ii, that require the removal of all built development it grants 
by 22nd February 2044 at the latest and full restoration of the site by no later 
than 22nd February 2046 in accordance with the 2006 consent. These dates 
are extended beyond 2042 to allow for the working of any remaining 
stockpiles. 

 
Principle of Shale Replacement 

 
226. The proposal arises from the need to import ARMs to supplement and or 

substitute on site shales given the sulphur content of the remaining 
indigenous reserves. It is necessary to consider the principle of this practice 
in the context of the extant planning position and the restrictions imposed 
under the existing consents. 

Page 47



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
227. The 1969 planning consent for the Works specifies under condition 2, that 

all operations shall cease should the permanent cessation of winning and 
working of mineral occur. It is recognised that the importation of ARMs 
would stretch the life of the indigenous shale reserves. As a consequence, 
the trigger under condition 2 would be artificially extended, which on a 
holistic level, would be at odds with the intent of condition 2 when it was 
imposed (see definition of condition 2 and reason for its imposition in 
‘Planning History’ section of this report). 

 
228. Condition 2 of the 1969 consent is the MPA’s control over the wider Works 

and it is critical that this control is not jeopardised in anyway given that the 
Works, from the point of its initial formal consent, granted with reluctance 
by the Minister of the time in 1948, is considered incompatible with National 
Park purposes as defined by the Environment Act 1995. It is also relevant 
to note at this point the Ministers comments in 1948 decision letter, that 
‘…there must be a strong presumptions against any industrial extension 
which would be out of harmony with the natural beauty of the area’. 

 
229. Notwithstanding the above, condition 2 specifies the cessation of 

operations at the wider site only upon the permanent cessation of mineral 
extraction. Permanent cessation is difficult to establish given an operator 
only has to demonstrate more than de-minims annual extraction rates to 
preserve the life of a mineral consent. PPG states: 

 
230. ‘A mineral planning authority may assume that minerals development has 

permanently ceased only when: no minerals development has occurred to 
any substantial extent at the site for at least 2 years, and; it appears to the 
mineral planning authority, on the evidence available to them at the time 
when they make the order, that resumption to any substantial extent at the 
site is unlikely (see paragraph 3(2) of Schedule 9 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990).’ 

 
231. Given that the operator would only have to demonstrate minimal continued 

extraction, it is reasonable to assume the life of the mineral working, and by 
default the wider Works, would continue until alternative means of ensuring 
cement production could continue on the basis of the life of extant 
limestone reserves are achieved. Alternatives to this importation of ARM 
application are discussed in the next section of this report. 

 
232. Condition 2 of the 1969 consent specifies a position in time where the 

production of cement ceases and the Works shall be closed, dismantled 
and the site restored. It does not however, impose a fixed end date, nor 
does it stipulate a minimum annual extraction rate for either the shale or the 
limestone. 

 
233. The importation of 100,000 tpa of PFA for use as kiln feed substitute has 

been established under permission ref: NP/HPK/0710/0665 and as such 
the life of the shale reserves have already been extended, in theory by up 
to 2,000,000 tonnes on the basis that extraction must cease by the 22nd of 
February 2042 as imposed on all mineral permission granted before 1982 
by the Town and Country Planning (Minerals) Act 1981. 

 
234. The principle of the importation of material to substitute/supplement the 

Page 48



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

indigenous shale for use in the kiln feed mix has been established under 
permission ref: NP/HPK/0710/0665. Impacts in regards increased 
quantities and the type of material proposed to be imported under this 
application are considered later in this report, but the principle of this 
practice, up to the amount of 100,000 tpa is established and accepted.  

 
235. When consent was granted under NP/HPK/0710/0665, the importation of 

up to 100, 000 tpa of PFA for use a kiln feed substitute represented 
approximately 1/3 of the secondary raw material needed in the cement 
manufacture process on an annual basis i.e. the remaining 2/3 were 
derived from indigenous shales. Given the quantities at play, it is clearly 
identifiable as supplementary to the main feed stock, although not 
insignificant. This is perhaps one reason why consideration was not given 
to the ramifications granting the consent would have on the life of the on-
site shale reserves. Another, perfectly reasonable consideration could have 
been that the life of the Works would be government by the primary cement 
feed stock i.e. the limestone. This point remains valid and is the natural 
control over the life of the Works.  

 
236. However, condition 2 of the 1969 consent expressly defines the cessation 

of mineral extraction at either the limestone or shale quarries as the trigger 
for the closure and restoration of the Works. This application seeks consent 
for what could ultimately be exploited as near 100% substitution of 
indigenous shales with ARMs. Ultimately, granting a consent without any 
controls would preserve the life of the indigenous shale reserves 
indefinitely and compromise one of the MPAs means of control over the life 
of the Works as afforded by the 1969 consent. This is a position that the 
MPA cannot accept given the Works is considered to be inherently 
incompatible with National Park purposes. There is therefore a need from 
the MPAs perspective to secure by one means or another certainty over 
the life of the shale reserves or a comparative offset of ARMs importation 
against the remaining indigenous reserves. 

 
237. As such, it is considered necessary to impose some form of control on any 

consent the Authority may be minded to grant, which offsets the importation 
of ARM against the surrender of on-site reserves. 

 
238. Ensuring a minimum rate of shale extraction would give the MPA some 

confidence that reserves will, at least to some extent, be depleted. 
However, given no controls exist under planning condition or legal 
agreement that stipulate a minimum rate of extraction of shale, it would be 
ultra vires to impose such a requirement on the operator under any 
possible consent. 

 
239. There is the potential to impose, by way of planning condition and legal 

agreement, the surrender of shale reserves comparative to the annual 
quantity, or total quantity of ARMs imported over the life of the 
development, above the 100,000 tpa of material that is already consented 
for use as a kiln feed substitute. This control would require the 
implementation of a complex legal agreement and the monitoring and 
enforcement of detailed planning conditions. It is however, an option 
available to the Authority should it wish to utilise it. This approach would 
ensure that the life of the on-site shale reserves are not extended 
indefinitely. However, such conditions would be onerous and restrictive in 

Page 49



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

terms of fluidity of operation, which would not be optimal for cement 
production given the potential fluctuation in chemical composition of ARM 
supply and that of indigenous shales available at any one point in time. 

 
240. The imposition of planning conditions by a Planning Authority must be done 

so only after assessment as to whether said conditions meet the six tests, 
conditions must be: necessary; relevant to planning; relevant to the 
development to be permitted; enforceable; precise; and reasonable in all 
other respects. 

 
241. It is considered that such conditions requiring the surrender of comparative 

reserves would meet the requisite tests. Whether the conditions would be 
necessary or reasonable in the context of the imposed planning permission 
end date of 2042 on the mineral workings is a point for discussion. One 
may assume that extraction must end by 2042 and the end dates imposed 
upon the quarries would trigger condition 2 of the 1969 consent. Thus, 
rendering the imposition of said conditions unnecessary.  

 
242. However, while mineral reserves remain, there is nothing to prevent an 

operator from applying to extend the life of a permission beyond 2042. The 
greater the remaining quantity of previously consented reserves, the more 
weight would be afforded to an extension of time for their extraction on the 
basis of their extant rights and contribution to the established mineral 
landbank and assumed levels of national supply/need.  

 
243. It is anticipated that there will be many extant mineral permissions with 

considerable remaining viable reserves as the 2042 end date approaches. 
It is not inconceivable that the Government would impose a directive that 
extends the life of said consents. Although there is currently no indication of 
whether this is likely to happen or not, it is a complete unknown that if not 
considered, would leave the National Park vulnerable to future applications 
that could seek to extend the life of the Works. 

 
244. The presence of the Works on its current site since 1929 is accepted and 

forms one of the exceptional circumstances required in order that officers 
support this proposal. However, consent for the Works was granted in 1948 
and again in 1969, on the basis that it would be a temporary operation, 
governed by the life of the mineral reserves. The 1969 consent envisaged 
30 years life on the basis of the remaining limestone reserves. This time 
frame has been long exceeded, and while the MPA does not consider this 
proposal as a whole to be unacceptable, it must be careful to protect the 
future position of the Park.  

 
245. It is for these reasons that the determination of this application is 

considered to be the opportune point in time to define certainty as to the life 
of the Works. The operator has agreed to the imposition of an end date of 
the 22nd of February 2042 on the Works, secured by way of Section 106 
legal agreement. 

 
246. It is considered that this agreement negates the need for obligations or 

conditions requiring the surrender of comparative reserves of shale as the 
imposed end date offers certainty, as far as is possible, to the cessation of 
cement production and the decommission and restoration of the Works. 
Should any of the events specified in condition 2 of the 1969 consent occur 

Page 50



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

before the 22nd of February 2042, the requirement for closure and 
restoration of the Works would still be triggered.  

 
247. On the basis of such a legal agreement and the aforementioned conditions, 

the principle of shale replacement with ARM for use in the kiln feed mix is 
considered acceptable. 

 
Definition of ARM 

 
248. Alternative Raw Material (ARM) is a broad description which could 

encompass a wide spectrum of materials. As such it is necessary to define 
what constitutes ARM for the purposes of considering this planning 
application. The assessment of this application is on the basis of 
importation of alternative raw materials for use as a substitute material in 
place of the Cement Work’s secondary feed stock; site derived shale. 

 
249. The recommendation of this report is made on the basis that all ARM 

imported to the site is ‘secondary’ material, i.e. those derived or arising 
from an industrial of societal process that has or will occur for a primary 
purpose, other than for the production of the material sought to be utilised 
as a shale substitute for the cement works. 

 
250. PFA, both dry and conditioned falls within the above description, as would 

slate fines or shale overburden. These materials are all by-products from a 
process, namely energy generation at a power station and the extraction of 
mineral for a principal purpose, for example roofing slate. 

 
251. Below is a list of materials commonly used for the purpose of shale 

substitution in the cement manufacture process, and which could be 
imported to site under this proposal should permission be granted: 

 
- Coal ash (PFA) - conditioned, dry & processed. 
- Quarry process fines & washings (Only to include  waste derived from 

slate, shale and / or clays) 
- Quarry process over and inter burden (Only to include waste derived from 

slate, shale and / or clays) 
- Blast furnace slag 
- Biomass ash 
- Bottom ash 
- Waste ceramic material 
- Lime waste  
- Used foundry sand 
- Secondary iron oxide 
- Alumina - containing materials (not including primary minerals containing 

alumina) 
- Iron containing materials (not including primary minerals containing iron) 
- Mill scale 
- Gypsum 
- Waste from stone cutting and sawing (not including limestone waste 

without prior agreement of the MPA) 
- Waste ceramics bricks, tiles 

 
252. All ARM would be required to comply with part S2.1 of the site’s 

Environmental Permit, as defined in the table below. 

Page 51



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

253. However, other materials such as shale, which is extracted elsewhere 
principally for the purpose of use as a kiln feed substitute for the 
indigenous shale, would not be considered a ‘secondary’ material and 
would not be consented for importation to the Works for the requested 
purpose. 

 
254. NPPF paragraph 7 states: ‘The purpose of the planning system is to 

contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. At a very 
high level, the objective of sustainable development can be summarised 
as meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs.’ 

 
255. The use of ‘secondary’ materials would align with the principles of 

sustainable development outlined by the NPPF by utilising a material 
that is a by product of another process rather than being extracted solely 
for the purpose of kiln feed. 

 
256. It is important to make this differential to ensure the most sustainable 

use of pre-existing resources, thus reducing the need to exploit virgin 
mineral reserves. The application is considered on this basis and the 
proposal is given favourable weight due to fact previously consented on-
site shale reserves will remain unworked, to be replaced by material 
which has already been extracted/derived due to an alternative process 
that has happened or would occur irrespective of operations at Hope 
Cement Works. If the proposal sought to import ‘primary’ materials, such 
as shale extracted from another quarry solely for the purpose of use as 
a feed stock for Hope Cement Works, the proposal would be considered 
differently. 

 
257. The Works has existed on this site since 1929 due to its proximity to the 

limestone and shale reserves, thus is can be considered a sustainable 
location for a cement works given the very limited distances the raw 
materials travel to feed the Works. If virgin minerals are imported to site, 
be they primary (limestone) or secondary (shale) feedstocks, the 
sustainability of the Works in this location is brought into question and 
any proposal for such an operation would be determined against the 
appropriate material considerations. 

 
258. For the purposes of this application, ‘Alternative Raw Material’ sought for 

importation as a shale substitute shall be defined as: 
 

Page 52



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

259. ‘Materials that are wastes or by-products in other (mainly industrial) 
processes or societal sectors i.e. ‘secondary materials’, imported to the 
Works solely for the purpose of use as a shale substitute in the raw kiln 
feed mix.’ 

 
260. Should consent be granted, a condition is proposed that would define 

the types of ARM permitted to be imported which will exclude ‘primary’ 
sourced materials i.e. virgin material extracted from the ground.  

 
Need for the Development and Alternatives 

 
Need for Development 

 
261. Hope Cement Works (HCW) came into existence at its current location 

due to its proximity to both primary (limestone) and secondary (shale) 
feedstocks required for use in the cement manufacturing process. 
Consent was first granted in 1948 and again in 1969 on the basis of this 
fact with both permissions defining the cement plant and the two 
quarries as one planning unit, with the existence of the plant reliant on 
the mineral reserves found within the planning permission boundary. 
More recently, since 2010, PFA has been imported by rail at a rate of up 
to 100,000 tpa to supplement the shale as an alternative secondary 
feedstock.  

 
262. Although the existing permitted tonnage of natural on-site shale could 

potentially meet the demand of the cement plant until circa 2037, much 
of the remaining shale is too high in sulphur to use on its own and meet 
the requirements of the environmental permit. Low-sulphur shale found 
within strata and levels currently being worked, rather than the higher 
sulphur shale generally at greater depth, would currently suffice only to 
around 2025 in the absence of any ARM substitution. Therefore, ARM 
has been brought to site and used experimentally in the cement making 
process. 

 
263. Since the cement plant was first built, air quality standards for industrial 

emissions have become more stringent. UK air quality standards are 
derived from EU standards. These are adopted into UK legislation and 
the Environment Agency is responsible for monitoring compliance. 
Applicants operating industrial processes have to apply for 
Environmental permits that set standards for permitted air emissions. 
The Cement plant at Hope has a part A1 permit. 

 
264. The European Commission produces best available technique reference 

documents or BREF notes. They contain ‘best available techniques’ 
(BAT) for installations. The European Commission is updating BREF 
notes and the updated versions also include ‘BAT conclusion 
documents’. These contain emission limits associated with BAT (‘BAT 
AELs’) which must be complied with unless the Environment Agency 
agrees an applicant has met certain criteria. 

 
265. Best available techniques’ (BAT) means the available techniques which 

are the best for preventing or minimising emissions and impacts on the 
environment. ‘Techniques’ include both the technology used and the 
way the installation is designed, built, maintained, operated and 

Page 53



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

decommissioned. 
 

266. Applicants will only be granted a permit for activities that do not comply 
with BAT Associated Emissions Levels (AELs) if they can show that the 
costs of achieving the BAT AELs are disproportionately high compared 
to the environmental benefits, for a particular reason. The reason must 
be either: the geographical or local environmental conditions of the 
site,the technical characteristics of the site (for example, the effect of 
reducing excess emissions on other emissions, leading to an increase in 
water use or waste from the site). 

 
267. Making such a proposal is to request a ‘derogation’. The operator has 

been operating under a derogation since 2017. 
 

268. The operator’s issue with high SO2 levels arises due to the nature of the 
remaining on-site shale.  The amount of pyritic sulphur (FeS2) in the 
shale, used as secondary raw material in the kiln feed mix used to make 
clinker, affects the amount of sulphur dioxide (SO2) in stack emissions at 
the Cement works. Up until 9th April 2017 the limit on sulphur dioxide 
emissions was 1760 mg/ Nm3. After this date the operator was required 
to meet a derogation limit of 850 mg/ Nm3until 1st April 2019. In 
November 2018 a second derogation, with a limit of 695 mg/ Nm3, was 
proposed for the period from April 2019 until the end of March 2022 
whilst the plans for future shale substitution were developed and 
implemented. The operator is in the process of obtaining a further 
derogation to allow for the determination and potential implementation of 
this planning application. The current BREF4 SO2 limit is 400 mg/ Nm3 
and this could reduce further, to 200 mg/ Nm3 for example, in the future. 

 
269. At a rate of 5% shale substitution the operator would be able to meet the 

secondary derogation limit, and at a rate 10%, the current BREF limit. 
 

270. Importation of ARM and PFA is the operator’s preferred method in order 
for cement manufacture to continue and meet the emission limits set by 
the Environmental Permit. Full details and consideration of this proposal 
are the subject of this report. 

 
Alternatives 

 
271. It is necessary to consider alternatives to the development proposal to 

ensure that it is afforded the appropriate weight when weighing all 
material considerations in the planning balance. The alternatives to this 
proposal are: cessation of cement production; construction of an on-site 
desulphurisation plant; extension to the shale quarry. 

 
272. Cessation of Cement Manufacture – Hope Works is one of the 11 

cement plants located within the UK. The Works produces 
approximately 1.5mt of cement for the UK market each year. All of the 
UK’s cement plants are operating at close to full capacity but are unable 
to meet the current UK market demand. The most recent available data 
provided by the Mineral Products Association indicates that the UK has 
been a net importer of cement since 2001 (start of recording in data set 
obtained), with 2,350,000 tonnes imported in 2020.  

 

Page 54



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

273. Should cement production cease at Hope Works, the deficit in cement 
supply would have to be made up by imports, at least in the short term. 
Importing cement would create greater carbon emissions and potentially 
disrupt the supply chain. Given the current difficulties bringing goods into 
the UK from the EU and the ultimate impact of Brexit still unknown, it will 
be important for the UK to maintain relevant self sufficiency in the 
construction sector. The Governments ‘levelling-up’ agenda, ambitious 
home building targets and major infrastructure projects such as HS2 will 
all require continuity of cement supply.  

 
274. In the longer term, construction of a new plant or plants would be likely 

be required to meet the UK’s market needs. This would be a process 
that could take many years when factoring in site identification, 
acquisition, planning permission process, permit process and 
construction. There is also the consideration of where the raw materials 
would be derived from to feed a new cement works. It would be difficult 
to identify and obtain the relevant permissions for a site that has raw 
material reserves in situ, thus it would be more likely the feed stock 
would need to be imported by road or rail. 

 
275. Given the extant planning status of Hope Works, the remaining workable 

limestone reserves and to a lesser extent shale reserves, it would be a 
sustainable and pragmatic use of resources and infrastructure to allow 
the exploitation of the remaining reserves. Should consent be granted 
with a fixed end date, it would give the operator and the industry 
certainty and allow for succession planning to meet market demand after 
the life of Hope Works has naturally come to an end. 

 
276. On-site Desulphurisation Plant -  It is possible to reduce the levels of 

sulphur in the on-site shale through a desulphurisation process, either 
processing the raw shale or the exhaust gasses produced during the 
cement making process. 

 
277. The operator has observed that shale extracted and left for a period can, 

when tested, have reduced levels of pyritic sulphur compared to known 
data from the area. When carrying out initial optioneering, scaling of this 
behaviour was considered with the following findings. 

 
278. Significant design, development and research would be required to 

prove the concept reduces sulphur levels to an extent that makes it 
suitable for use in the kiln feed raw mix. The arrangements for facilitating 
in-situ leaching would require significant quantities of shale to be 
advance dug, crushed and then placed in wind rows to begin the 
leaching process. It was envisaged space would be an issue for the 
amount of material spread on the ground for the pre-processing phase 
and the area of the western shale quarry would be required which has 
previously been restored and is planned to be managed as a nature 
reserve. The processing phase was considered to be undertaken by 
several washing plants most possibly rotary followed by a drying 
process to enable the material to be transported and dosed into the 
cement manufacturing  process. Associated equipment would also be 
required for solids removal from water and pH correction before 
discharge. 

 

Page 55



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

279. Given the surface area needed for the initial leaching process, it is likely 
that the previously restored western shale quarry would need to be 
utilised. This area is undergone progressive restoration with favourable 
results. The leaching of shale in windows upon it could compromise the 
restoration and is seen by the MPA as a retrograde step in the 
progressive restoration of the Works with a view to achieving final 
restoration and decommission. 

 
280. The potential for water and energy consumption to run the wash plants 

and associated equipment could be high and would likely be fuelled by 
oil or gas resulting in increased CO2 emissions. Wastewater chemical 
treatment consumption would also be significant prior to discharging 
water to the River Noe via Bradwell Brook. 

 
281. These further negative effects are not necessarily insurmountable, but 

whether they could be overcome and effectively mitigated is unknown 
and would have to be tested through the full formal planning process. 
Given these unknowns, the potential impact on the restored areas of the 
shale quarry, the uncertainty in relation to how successful the raw 
leaching process would be and the application currently before the MPA, 
it is considered the process can be ruled out until the current application 
is determined. While this process could turn out to be viable, it is not 
known at the current time and would certainly compromise the 
restoration the MPA has a duty to determine the application before it on 
the basis of all material considerations. 

 
282. Wet scrubbing systems provide the highest removal efficiencies for 

soluble acid gases of all flue-gas desulphurisation (FGD) methods. The 
wet scrubber is a proven and commonly used technique for flue-gas 
desulphurisation within the power sector. For cement manufacturing 
processes, the wet process for reducing SO2 emissions is also an 
established technique. The SO2 is absorbed by a liquid/slurry, which is 
sprayed in a spray tower. The absorbent used is calcium carbonate. The 
slurry is sprayed in counter-currently to the exhaust gas and collected in 
a recycle tank at the bottom of the scrubber where the formed sulphite is 
oxidised with air to sulphate and forms calcium sulphate dihydrate. This 
synthetic gypsum material can be used in controlled amounts in the 
cement milling process, although other disposal routes for this waste 
may be required. The water used can be recirculated through the 
scrubber. 

 
283. A wet scrubber could potentially reduce SO2 emission levels, but even if 

all the on-site shale was useable, there would still be a requirement to 
import additional secondary feed stock to utilise the residual limestone 
reserves. 

 
284. However, approximately 4.17 million tonnes of the remaining on-site 

shale is considered to posses an ultra-high sulphur content. Feeding 
shale with such elevated levels of sulphur into the plant would lead to 
the retention of unsupportable levels of sulphur in the cement kiln, 
ultimately rendering the process inoperable. 

 
285. These reserves contain sulphur levels of between 7% and 12.5% , the 

vast majority of which, circa 90%, is pyritic. In theory all this pyritic 

Page 56



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

sulphur should be driven off as SO2 at temperatures of between 400°C 
and 600°C in the upper stages of the kiln preheater tower and become a 
part of the exhaust gases. However, in reality, the efficiency of this 
removal in kilns with high levels of SO2 is far lower, at 40% to 60%, with 
the data showing Hope Cement works to be at the lower end at 42%. 
Hence over half this sulphur would pass through the preheater and enter 
the kiln process. Of the 42% that would exit with the exhaust gases, 
slightly less than half would pass through the raw mill, which would trap 
approximately 30% of the SO2 leaving the system. 

 
286. The SO2 trapped in the raw mill would be absorbed by the raw meal 

then fed back to the kiln, thus exacerbating this cycle still further. To run 
kilns with these levels of sulphur input and, by extension, sulphur to 
alkali ratios, is almost impossible. The potential amount of sulphur-
based build-up within the kilns and preheater cyclones would seriously 
affect process control and reliability and would also severely affect 
clinker quality. 

 
287. Even if the effects on the kiln were found to be manageable, this would 

still leave around 30% of the original sulphur input in the form of SO2 
leaving the stack. This would still equate to unabated stack emissions, 
depending on the level of SO3 in the on-site shale, of between 2,500 and 
2,900 mg/Nm³. Use of a scrubber modelling tool shows that in order to 
reach the SO2 limit of 400 mg/Nm³ an SO2 collection efficiency of 84.0% 
is required by the scrubber. The typically quoted level of efficiency is 
75% and therefore it is not certain whether the use of wet scrubbers 
would result in the desired reductions in SO2 levels required at Hope 
Works in order to meet the requirements of the EA permit. 

 
288. It is considered that this option can be ruled out on technical grounds, 

but it is also worth noting that a proposal of such nature would require 
planning consent. Desulphurisation plant and equipment would be 
required to be constructed around both rotary kilns resulting in obvious 
physical additions to the Works. The use of wet scrubbers would also 
result in a visible plume emanating from the stack, both of these visual 
impacts would create an adverse impact on the Hope Valley landscape. 
In addition, the use of such plant would require off-site disposal of the 
waste material derived from the process, additional water consumption 
and a substantial increase in electricity supply, resulting in higher CO2 
emissions from the Work as a whole. All of these impacts would be 
weighed in the balance by the PDNPA when determining any such 
planning application.  

 
289. Extension of the Shale Quarry – Laterally extending the existing shale 

quarry could potentially release additional reserves of shale with lower 
sulphur contents that would be suitable for use in the kiln feed mix to 
allow cement manufacture to continue and comply with the EA emission 
limits. Likewise, establishing consent for a new quarry further from the 
Works could also serve the same purpose. 

 
290. The likely scale of such a quarry extension could lead to possible 

impacts upon landscape, heritage and wildlife, and such proposals could 
result in potential new impacts of quarrying upon residents and visitors. 
The probability of obtaining planning consent is uncertain and given the 

Page 57



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

existing extant planning position of the Works and the strategic vision of 
the PDNPA, it is unlikely the Authority would encourage the submission 
of such a proposal. 

 
Design and Appearance 

 
291. The built aspects of the proposed development are set out and 

described in detail in the ‘Proposal’ section earlier in this report. It is 
however necessary to assess the design and appearance of the 
buildings and infrastructure against the relevant Policy criteria.  

 
292. Policy DMC3: Siting, Design, Layout and Landscaping states that where 

development is acceptable in principle (considered earlier in this report), 
detailed treatment is required to be of a high standard that respects, 
protects and where possible enhances the natural beauty, quality and 
visual amenity of the landscape. Particular attention should be paid to, 
inter alia; scale, form, mass, levels, height and orientation in relation to 
existing buildings, the use of landscaping to enhance new development 
and materials and finishes that reflect or complement the style and 
traditions of the locality. 

 
293. The design of the buildings and associated infrastructure has been 

driven by the operational need, with size and mass of all structures 
limited to the minimum that can provide the capacity required for 
material handling and storage on site. The nature of the buildings and 
structures further dictates the materials suitable for use in their 
construction, prominently being steal frames and steel cladding. The 
style is of a functional and industrial nature, of no particular value but 
would be in keeping with existing structures present within the Hope 
Works complex. 

 
294. However, it is possible to exercise control over the final finish and it 

proposed that all buildings and structures shall be finished in olive 
green, and secured by planning condition. The choice of colour is on the 
advice of the PDNPA Landscape Architect and it will ensure visual 
impact of the scheme is kept to a minimum. The olive-green finish would 
ensure the structures assimilate well with the surrounding environment 
and are less obvious features in the landscape when viewed from a 
distance. The impact of the ARMs storage building in particular would be 
greatly reduced given its proposed backdrop of established woodland 
and Haywood’s Hill.  

 
295. The positioning of the built development within the Works complex is 

again driven largely by operational need. The material reception and 
unloading building is located alongside Rail Siding C in order to facilitate 
unloading of wagons. There are no viable alternative options available 
for location of the reception building and a covered structure is required 
to contain any migrant dust that may be generated during the unloading 
process. 

 
296. The conveyor system would then run in a north easterly direction across 

internal haul roads and some grassland area with the backdrop of the 
existing Works complex to the north. This backdrop would limit the visual 
impact of the conveyor system, which would be apparent in close 

Page 58



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

quarters but barely discernible amongst the existing infrastructure when 
viewed from outside of the site. Its route is dictated by the need to 
transfer material to the ARMs storage building located in the north east 
corner of the existing complex. 

 
297. There are limited options available within the site when seeking to locate 

a building of the ARM storage shed’s scale. The proposed location has 
been chosen as it will ensure the majority of the building is screened by 
the existing landscaped features ‘Haywood’s Hill’. The established 
vegetation upon the Hill provides further useful screening. This location 
is also optimal in terms of the production process as it is just south of the 
existing stone store and allows ARM to be feed into the stone store prior 
to use in the cement manufacture process. The stone store building is 
also slightly larger than the proposed ARM building measuring 
approximately 85m x 50m. As such, the proposed building would not be 
introduced into an area of the Works previously devoid of surrounding 
structures. 

 
298. The ARM building is orientated so that it is set into the base of 

Haywood’s Hill, with its longest side facing the Hill. This further 
demonstrates the thought process behind its siting so as to limit visual 
impact. The area of land is currently hardstanding occupied by 
contractors’ offices and mobile shipping containers. As such, no 
biodiversity interests are affected other than the removal of some self-
set trees at the base of Haywood Hill. The matter of tree removal is 
discussed later in this report. 

 
299. Given the reasons outlined above, it is considered that the proposal has 

been designed as far as is practical when considering the functional 
need, to be sympathetic to the environment and makes best use of the 
available land within the Works Complex. As such the proposal accords 
with Policy DMC3. 

 
Landscape and Visual Impact  

 
300. The scale of the built aspect of the proposed development has the 

potential to cause a visual impact on the special landscape of the 
National Park and as such must be assessed accordingly. A number of 
policies within the Core Strategy apply in relation to the landscape 
impact assessment. 

 
301. GSP1 – requires that major development to demonstrate a significant 

net benefit to the National Park and every effort should be made to 
mitigate and compensate for potential localised harm. 

 
302. GSP2 – requires that opportunities for enhancing the valued 

characteristics of the National Park be identified and acted upon and 
proposals for enhancement will need to demonstrate significant overall 
benefit. A design will be sought that respects the character of the area 
and where appropriate landscaping and planting schemes will be sought 
that are consistent with local landscape characteristics and their setting.  
Opportunities will be taken to enhance the National Park by the removal 
of undesirable buildings.   

 

Page 59



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

303. L1 – states that development must conserve and enhance valued 
landscape character, as identified in the Landscape Strategy and Action 
Plan.  

 
304. The applicant has conducted a landscape and visual impact assessment 

(LVIA) to support the application which includes detailed assessment of 
the impact of the scheme from numerous viewpoints surrounding the 
site defined within the Zone of Theoretic Visibility (5km radius from 
application site) as agreed with the PDNPA at pre-application stage. 
This area has been determined by the topography of the landscape and 
intervening physical features. Views of the Cement works diminish with 
distance and it is not predicted that any significant effects would occur at 
distances greater than 5km. 

 
305. The site is located within the ‘Valley Farmland with Villages’ Landscape 

Character Type (LCT) in the Derwent Valley LCA. Immediately south of 
the plant is the White Peak LCA with the ‘Limestone Hills and Slopes’ to 
the south west and ‘Limestone village Farmlands’ to the south. The 
‘Valley Farmlands with Villages’ LCT is a settled pastoral landscape, 
often with a low lying topography associated with a network of streams 
and damp hollows. This is an enclosed landscape, with views filtered 
through scattered hedgerow and streamline trees. Gritstone-built 
villages with outlying farms and dwellings are set within small to medium 
fields that are often bound by hedgerows.  

 
306. The key characteristics of the locality are its low lying, gently undulating 

topography; Network of streams and localised damp hollows; Pastoral 
farmland enclosed by hedgerows and some drystone walls; Small to 
medium sized fields; Dense streamline and scattered hedgerow trees; 
and gritstone villages and outlying farms with associated dwellings and 
field barns. 

 
307. The existing cement works plant and associated quarries have been in 

existence in some form since 1929 and are obviously key existing 
elements in the landscape that provide a context for the assessment for 
the proposed development.  

 
308. The applicant’s LVIA considers the character of the site and Landscape 

Character Areas (LCAs) are considered, but given the study area 
includes a number of individual LCTs (with different characteristics), it 
may have been appropriate to have completed a ‘local landscape 
character area’ assessment (both spatially and in terms of key elements 
of character) as part of the appraisal. However, it does not invalidate the 
overall findings of the appraisal.  

 
309. Due to the presence of the existing plant and quarries, it is agreed that 

the proposed development would not have a significant adverse effect 
on the key characteristics of landscape character in the ‘Valley 
Farmlands with Village’ LCT. However, it is probable that some 
significant effects on a smaller ‘local’ landscape character area may be 
possible. Potential adverse effects at this level may have not been 
identified due to the scale of the landscape assessment. 

 
 

Page 60



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

310. However, due to the nature of the existing cement works, the existing 
strong structure vegetation cover and local landform, any adverse 
landscape effects are likely to be very localised. While it is considered 
that in terms of the LCT overall effect magnitude may be ‘negligible’, it is 
possible some areas within the LCT may experience low adverse effect 
magnitude. These short distance views into the site could be suitably 
mitigated by the introduction of further screening by way of enhanced 
vegetation planting. The enhanced planting would be required by way of 
a landscaping scheme to be agreed and implemented via a planning 
condition. 

 
311. In regards the other aforementioned LCTs the PDNPA’s Landscape 

Architect has agreed with the conclusion of the applicants LVIA that the 
most likely level of landscape effect is negligible. 

 
312. The visualisations provided as part of the LVIA are useful tools to 

determine level of visual effect of the proposal from a number of 
viewpoints, and the PDNPA Landscape Architect again agrees that the 
adverse visual effects of the scheme are likely to be relatively minimal. 

 
313. The various aspects of the scheme that could impact upon the 

landscape are discussed below. 
 

New storage building, rail offloading infrastructure, and conveyors  
 

314. As outlined in the previous section of this report, the proposed ARMS 
storage building and the rail offloading reception building are 
considerable structure in their own right. However, viewed in the context 
of the existing Works complex and the screening offered by Haywood 
Hill and the established planting around the site, the impacts would be 
minimal and capable of mitigation to a suitable extent via an appropriate 
colour scheme and further vegetation planting.  

 
Plume 

 
315. The use of ARM in the kiln feed mix raises the question as to whether 

there would be a noticeable alteration to the plume emanating from the 
Works stack. Given that the chemical composition of the ARMs would be 
comparative to the PFA that has previously been used as a shale 
substitute it is appropriate to expect little if any noticeable visual change 
to the plume. The use of ARMs has been preferred by the operator over 
the use of chemical scrubbers on the stack which would result in a 
visible plume.   

 
Removal of Trees 

 
316. The construction of the ARMs storage building would require the 

removal of a strip of self-set trees that currently occupy the base of 
Haywood Hill. These trees provide little screening of the area from 
outside views given they are at the base of the hill and the presence of 
the established woodland further up the hill. Another small number of 
trees are also proposed for removal to the north east of the rail reception 
building to facilitate the construction and location of the southern section 
of the transportation conveyor. When viewed from outside of the site the 

Page 61



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

loss of these tress will be barely if at all noticeable. The tress to be 
removed are of no special ecological value and their removal has not 
been challenged by the PDNPA Ecologist or Tree Officer. The trees 
offer little to the landscape in the context of wider established woodland 
and their backdrop of the vast Works complex.  

 
Lighting  

 
317. The proposed infrastructure will require suitable lighting for operational 

purposes and a strategy has been devised that covers both the rail 
sidings and unloading area and the vicinity of the ARMs storage building 
itself. 

 
318. The lighting scheme has been designed to avoid adverse impact of 

wildlife, specifically bats. It is shown on WSP drawing 70056391 55 
3201 A1. Lighting would comprise 140W LED flood on a 10m column 
(eg Thorlux Stargard or similar). It utilises a combination of building 
mounted and site perimeter column mounted lights operated with 
photocells and time clocks. The intent is to contain light within the 
curtilage of the development minimising light spill into the adjacent 
woodland area or upwards and would meet the requirements of BSEN 
12463-2 Lighting of Work Places Outdoor, (section 4.4 Obtrusive light).  

 
319. It is considered the site would be classified as environmental zone E1 

ambient brightness. It will meet with requirements of BSEN 12463-2 
section 5.7- Industrial sites and storage areas to achieve a maintained 
illumination level of c20 lux with a uniformity ratio of 0.25.  

 
320. All luminaires would avoid use of metal halide fluorescent sources and 

instead be LEDs, due to their sharp cut off, lower intensity, good colour 
rendition and dimming capacity. • A warm spectrum would be adopted 
(less than 2700 kelvin) to reduce the blue light component, which is 
optimal for health and safety. Luminaires would feature peak 
wavelengths higher than 55nm to avoid the component of light most 
disturbing to bats.  

 
321. During the operational life of the development the external lighting 

would be operated for short duration inspections i.e. 5-10 minutes per 
night shift, for breakdown repairs to the woodland side conveyors or 
dosing tower – it is understood from the operator that the frequency of 
this is anticipated to be once per annum.  

 
322. The lighting scheme is designed to minimise sky glow to protect the 

amenity of the National Park. The building design specifically avoids 
transparent roof panels to avoid light spill. No objection has been 
received in relation to the lighting strategy from the PDNPA Landscape 
Architect and as such is considered acceptable and accords with 
Policy L1 of the Core Strategy. 

 
Enhancements and Mitigation 

 
323. In order to mitigate the loss of trees the applicant has proposed 

woodland tree and shrub planting and hedgerow compensation. These 
mitigation measures would be secured via planning condition. This 

Page 62



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

would present an opportunity to further increase the density of planting 
around the perimeter of the site to enhance screening and also within 
the site to compensate for any residual loss.  

 
324. As previously discussed in the report all buildings and structures will be 

required to be finished in olive green as requested by the PDNPA 
Landscape Architect. This requirement would be secured through 
planning condition and would further mitigate any harmful visual impact 
arising from the proposal. 

 
325. Policy GSP2 of the Core Strategy requires that opportunities be taken 

to enhance the National Park by the treatment or removal of 
undesirable features or buildings. The applicant is proposing to remove 
a 300m section of overhead electric lines that currently runs from the 
south of the stone store building in a south westerly direction. The 
current route of the line travels uphill through an established woodland. 
Although views into the site are not seriously affected by the presence 
of the overhead lines, the existing woodland is managed to allow safe 
passage of the power supply. The proposal to underground the lines 
would remove an undesirable structure in the landscape and allow for 
the woodland to naturally colonise the area it previously occupied. This 
would create a landscape enhancement in accordance with Policies 
GPS2 and L1 and a biodiversity gain. 

 
326. The route of the overhead line lies upon land within the applicants 

control and the works can be undertaken under Part 17, Class A of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 on the basis that the works would be ancillary to the wining and 
working of minerals within the wider site. The requirement to 
underground the power lines would be secured by planning condition, 
specifying the works to be completed prior to the use of the ARMs 
storage building. 

 
327. The potential landscape impacts have been fully assessed in the 

applicants LVIA and the PDNPA has assessed the proposal and 
agrees with its conclusion and raises no objection on this basis. The 
proposed mitigation and enhancement measures outlined above 
ensure the scheme strives to comply with Policy L1 of the Core 
Strategy. While the built development itself cannot be considered a 
visual enhancement it’s impact can be suitably mitigated and the 
landscape enhancement measures ensure the proposal is not contrary 
to the policy as a whole. 

 
Climate Change and Carbon Reduction 

 
328. Hope Cement Works is a significant emitter of carbon, largely due to 

the chemic processes involved in cement manufacture which, at a 
molecular level, split carbon atoms. As such the proposal must be 
assessed against Policy CC1 of the Core Strategy which seeks to 
achieve the highest possible standards of carbon reductions and make 
the most efficient and sustainable use of land, buildings and natural 
resources.  

 
329. The total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the plant in 2019 

Page 63



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

were 1,180,385 tonnes of CO2e. This data has been used to provide 
the relative emissions associated with the proposed development in 
the context of the overall existing cement works. 

 
330. The baseline emissions scenario has considered emissions based on 

the extraction of on-site shale and its transportation from the quarry to 
the plant by conveyor. The calculations have been based on fuel and 
energy data available for 2019 corresponding to the extraction of 
375,000 tonnes of shale. The assessment has also taking into account 
the plant’s utilisation of 100,000 tonnes of PFA as already permitted, 
and the corresponding shale requirements of 330,000 tonnes. This 
data allows for a comparison of the CO2 emissions associated with the 
importation of ARMs to be made against it. 

 
331. A summary of the baseline GHG emissions is provided in the table 

below. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

332. Carbon emissions are expressed as: tCO2e (metric tonnes in carbon 
dioxide equivalent) 

 

333. Under the baseline scenario the total average annual GHG emissions 
would be 963(tCO2e) and the total emissions for the period 2020-2042 
would be 21,186(tCO2e). 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 

 

 

 

334. The table below provides a breakdown of GHG emissions based on 4 
development scenarios (likely sources of PFA/ARMs) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

335. For the proposed development, the worst case annual GHG emissions is 
estimated to be 3,413(tCO2e) and for the period 2020-2042 the total 
estimated GHG emissions would be 75,806(tCO2e). 

 
336. As such the development would result in maximum additional emissions of 

an estimated 2,450(tCO2e) per annum and a total increase in emissions 
over its life (from 2020-2042) of 53,900 (tCO2e) compared with the baseline 
scenario. The additional CO2 emissions are attributable to the 
transportation of ARM to the site over greater distances than the site won 
shale. 

 
337. It is useful, however, to put into context the increases in CO2 emissions 

relative to the emissions from the Works as a whole operation. The 
increase of 2,450 tCO2e per annum accounts for 0.21% of the total cement 
plant emissions. Although any increase in CO2 emissions is undesirable, it 
is important to consider the proposal in the wider context of the operation 
and with the alternatives that are discussed further below. 

 

Page 65



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

338. It should also be noted that in January 2020 the operator entered into an 
agreement to purchase renewable energy for consumption at the Works, 
which would result in a saving of 834,588 tCO2e over the period 2020-
2042. Opportunities such as this and energy efficiency savings can all 
reduce the carbon footprint of the Works and should be sought and 
implemented by the operator at any reasonable opportunity.  

 
339. The cement industry is recognised as a hard to decarbonise sector but is 

included in the Governments Industrial Decarbonisation Strategy (March 
2021) which seeks to decarbonise industry in line with ‘Net Zero’ targeting 
a reduction in emissions by at least two-thirds by 2035 and by at least 90% 
by 2050, with 3 MtCO2 captured through Carbon Capture, Usage and 
Storage (CCUS) and around 20 TWh switching to low carbon fuels by 
2030. 

 
340. The Mineral Products Association has also set out a road map which aims 

to make the UK cement and concrete industry carbon negative by 2050. 
The operator has confirmed that they are committed to achieving the aims 
set out in all of the above strategies. 

 
341. In 2018 the operator became an active Member of the Global Cement and 

Concrete Association (GCCA), which aims to drive industry leadership in 
the manufacture and use of cement and concrete with a view to reducing 
the environmental impact of the industry’s activities. 

 
342. As such it is proposed to append a condition to any approval the Authority 

is minded to grant that requires the operator to make best reasonable 
endeavours to reduce the carbon footprint of the Works wherever possible. 

 
343. In this instance, given the complexity of the proposal, it is necessary to 

assess the built aspect of the proposed development, the importation of 
ARM and the use of ARMs in the cement manufacture process to fully 
consider the potential climate change impacts of the development, and 
whether there are opportunities for further carbon reductions. 

 
Built Development  

 
344. Policy CC1 requires that non-residential major development above 1000m² 

floorspace must achieve Buildings Emissions Rate at least 10% less than 
the Target Emissions Rate. The proposed ARMs storage building exceeds 
this threshold and as such must be considered in the context of the Policy 
requirements. 

 
345. However, Target Emission Rates for specific types of building are set by 

Building Regulations. 
 

346. The ARM storage building would be provided to store solid aggregate type 
material to be used in the manufacture of cement. There would be no 
manufacturing process taking place within the building and there is no 
permanent occupation of the building. The structure would have no heating, 
the only fixed building service to be provided would be the lighting. As such 
the proposed structure is classified as a non-exempt building with low 
energy demand and therefore the Target Emission Rate calculation is not 
required. The lighting is to be designed to meet the standards set out in 

Page 66



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

Approved Document Part L2B of the Buildings Regulations. The 
aforementioned regulations will control the development in this regard and 
as such it is not necessary to impose a planning condition requiring the 
same. 

 
347. The Institute of Environmental Management & Assessment (IEMA) states 

that emissions mitigation should be addressed against the following: Do not 
build; Build less; Design clever; Construct efficiently; Offset and sequester. 

 
348. The building is required to store ARM which in turn are required to ensure 

the Works meets the standards set by the Environment Agency in relation 
to SO2 emission. There are no existing buildings on site capable of 
performing this function. Alternative options are discussed previously in the 
report and it’s concluded that those options would have greater CO2 

impacts. The building has been designed to the minimum scale required to 
accommodate the required stocks of ARM on site at any one time and to be 
as energy efficient as possible. It has been located on an area of existing 
hardstanding previously occupied by contractor offices and containers 
which will be rationalised and relocated on site. Bulky construction 
materials are proposed to imported by rail where possible as a more 
sustainable means than road transit. The applicant is seeking to offset any 
negative CO2 impacts by way of a green energy tariff and process 
efficiencies in the cement manufacture process. 

 
349. Given the above, it is considered that the built aspect of the development 

does not conflict with the requirements of Policy CC1 of the Core Strategy. 
 

Use Of PFA/ARM as Kiln Feed Substitute 
 

350. Use of PFA as a kiln feed substitute has already been established under 
permission ref: NP/HPK/0710/0665 albeit at a rate of 100,000 tpa. Trials 
have been undertaken by the operator where PFA has been used as a 
100% shale substitute in the kiln feed mix and have demonstrated that the 
impact on carbon emissions from the stack are negligible. This is because 
any unburnt carbon present in the PFA contributes to the relatively constant 
fuel energy requirement within the kiln system, negating the requirement for 
the equivalent kiln fuel usage which equates to no net increase in CO2 
emitted. 

 
351. The additional key characteristic of alternative raw materials that could 

fundamentally increase the process CO2 emissions from the cement kiln is 
the presence of carbonate minerals which would dissociate at high 
temperatures (over 800oC), producing CO2 as a consequence. Examples of 
commonly found carbonate minerals would be calcium carbonate or 
magnesium carbonates. These carbonate minerals are unlikely to be found 
in materials such as PFA which have already been exposed to high 
temperatures at the power stations: any calcium or magnesium being 
present as oxides which will not further dissociate nor produce CO2.  

 
352. Additionally, carbonate minerals are unlikely to be present within naturally 

occurring shales or slates in any measurable quantity. All of the incoming 
materials would be tested in accordance with various requirements and any 
CO2 contribution from carbonate materials tracked against the current site 
greenhouse gas permit as well as being controlled to a raw material 

Page 67



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

specification. 
 

353. At full shale replacement with PFA the effect on CO2 emissions would be 
less than 4 kg CO2 e/t clinker which is less than the inherent variability of 
the clinker-making process. Given the chemistry of the raw materials used 
in cement manufacture it is not possible to define a consistent CO2 output 
from the process i.e. it varies depending on the precise kiln fuel and raw 
material mix used to produce the cement clinker. Given that the variation 
when using 100% shale substitute is less than the inherent variation of 
using site sourced shale, it is reasonable to accept that the replacement of 
on-site shale with PFA would not result in greater carbon emissions than 
that which would be emitted by the plant operating under its current 
consent.  

 
354. It is also largely possible to apply this data to any ARM which may be 

imported for the same purpose on the basis that the chemical composition 
of such materials would need to be within the same field of range as the 
PFA currently used in order for it to be suitable for use. 

 

355 It is however, possible that ARM imported under this consent may contain 
levels of organic carbon that are higher than the on-site shale. Any organic 
carbon within the ARM would be consumed as fuel in the kiln during the 
cement manufacture process on a 1:1 ratio with the fuel source i.e. a higher 
content of organic carbon within an ARM would be offset by a reduced fuel 
input of a comparative carbon content. This practice would comply with the 
energy hierarchy set out in part B of Policy CC1 in that it would ‘use energy 
more efficiently’. Any volatile organic carbon (VOC) present in the ARM 
would flash off in the pre-heater tower and therefore not produce CO2.  

 
356 It is necessary to note the requirements and wording of criteria (D) of Policy 

CC1 which states ‘Achieve the highest possible standards of carbon 
reductions.’ CO2 is an inherent by product of the cement manufacture 
process and its production is inevitable in what is recognised as a hard to 
decarbonise sector. It is therefore not considered to be possible to reduce 
carbon emissions any further by way of altering the kiln feed mix if cement 
production is to continue.  

 
Importation of ARM 

 
357 The operator’s preference is to import dry PFA to the site for use as a kiln 

feed substitute where and when it is possible to source it. Dry PFA is 
obtained from the existing operational coal fired powers stations. However, 
these coal fired power stations are designated to be decommissioned by 
2025 as the UK attempts to reach its net zero target by the year 2050. As 
such, the operator is seeking alternative sources of conditioned PFA, that is 
material which has previously been deposited in landfills and settlement 
lagoons, and a range of ARM previously outlined earlier in this report. Due 
to the complexity of the chemistry in the cement making process, the 
availability of materials and market fluctuation, it is not possible to define 
categorically where PFA or ARM will be derived from over the life of the 
proposed development. However, the table below provides examples of the 
likely sources of PFA and ARM and the distances they would travel to the 
Works.  

 

Page 68



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 

 
358 Notwithstanding the above and the baseline assessment previously 

discussed, it is not possible to categorically calculate the carbon footprint of 
the proposal arising from the distances the ARM would be transported to 
reach the site. It is however, reasonable to conclude that the transportation of 
any material to the site would result in a greater carbon footprint than the 
utilisation of site derived shale. The increases in emissions are estimated 
earlier in this report. When considering this point in isolation, it is reasonable 
to call into question the proposal’s compliance with Policy CC1. 

 
359 However, it is also necessary to consider the alternatives (previously 

discussed) to this proposal and the impact that they would have in regards to 
carbon emissions within the National Park and also in the national and global 
context. 

 
360 Importation by road – importing ARM by road would result in approximately 

22,500 HGV movement p/a based on delivery in 20 tonne tipper wagons, 
45,000 counted as two-way movements. Again, it is not possible to define 
where the materials would be derived from, but it is fair to assume that 
transportation to the Works by rail is a more sustainable option in terms of 
carbon footprint. Transportation of freight by rail is widely established as being 
a more sustainable means of transport when compared with road due to the 
ability to transport larger quantities in fewer movements. 

 
361 Closure of the Works – should the Works cease to operate, there would be a 

deficit in UK cement supply. The UK cement market is supplied by 11 
operational cement plants, all of which are running at or close to production 
capacity. The most recent available data provided by the Mineral Products 
Association indicates that the UK has been a net importer of cement since 
2001 (start of recording in data set obtained), with 2,350,000 tonnes imported 
in 2020. Hope Cement Works provides approximately 1,500,000 tonnes of 
cement to the UK market per annum. Should production cease, there is no 
existing UK capacity to meet that shortfall and further imports would be 
needed. It is reasonable to conclude that importing this additional cement to 

Page 69



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

the UK would result in a greater carbon footprint than the importation of 
450,000t/pa of ARM to the Works by rail.  

 
362 The construction of a new cement plant elsewhere would also have a greater 

carbon footprint due to procurement of materials, land take, construction and 
associated vehicle movements. There is also the question of where the raw 
materials would be derived from and the implications of said materials being 
extracted from new mineral sites or transported from existing consented sites. 
The potential upgrading of existing cement plants would also result in high 
levels of carbon emissions for the above reasons. It is also worthy to note that 
the market Hope Works serves with cement by road delivery is within a 60-
mile radius. If cement was required to meet the demand within this area 
should Hope Works cease to operate there would be a further increase in 
carbon emissions due to the need for extended travel distances. 

 
363 Given the consequences resulting from the alternatives to the importation of 

ARM by rail it is considered that while the proposal may not accord with Policy 
CC1 it is not possible to say it wholly conflicts with the aim of the Policy in a 
holistic sense. It is reasonable to assume that refusing this application would 
result in greater carbon emissions potentially locally, but certainly nationally 
and globally due to the implementation of the alternatives that would be 
required in order to meet the UK’s need for cement. The intent of Policy CC1 
is to achieve the ‘highest possible standards of carbon reductions’ and it is 
concluded that this proposal would achieve that aspiration in the context of 
contributing to the UK’s national need for cement. 

 
Heritage Impact 

 
364 Given the geographic location of the application site, the proposal has the 

potential to affect numerous designated and non-designated heritage assets. 
Paragraph 194 of the NPPF states: 

 
365 ‘In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an 

applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, 
including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be 
proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to 
understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a 
minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been consulted 
and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where 
necessary. Where a site on which development is proposed includes, or has 
the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, local 
planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-
based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.’ 

 
366 The applicant has employed specialist consultants ‘Archaeological Research 

Services Ltd’ to complete a full assessment of all cultural heritage assets 
within a 5km radius of the site based on zones of theoretic visibility, as agreed 
with the PDNPA during the pre-application discussion process. The 
assessment and effects on archaeological interests were scoped out of the 
process on the advice of the PDNPA Cultural Heritage team on the basis that 
‘the effects of the proposed development are considered likely to be 
insignificant on archaeological interests.’ 

 
 

Page 70



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

367 Notwithstanding, given that all of the proposed application site subject to 
construction works is previously developed or disturbed land, it can be 
concluded that any archaeological interest that may have been present will 
have already been disturbed and would not be adversely affected by 
consequence of this proposal. 

 
368 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF states that: 

 
369 ‘Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular 

significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal 
(including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking 
account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should 
take this into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage 
asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s 
conservation and any aspect of the proposal.’ 

 
On-Site Features 

 
370 The applicant has consulted the Derbyshire and the PDNPA Historic 

Environment Record (HER) and Historic Buildings and Scheduled Monuments 
Record (HBSMR) records to identify known recorded assets within the 
application site boundary which are identified as: 

 
371 Hope Cement Works - Constructed in 1929 by G & T Earle Ltd and expanded 

in 1935. Further expansion in 1948 included a 400 ft high chimney and also 
took place in 1961 and 1969. In 1990 there was a diversion of Castleton Lane 
and revised quarrying proposals with improved long-term and progressive 
restoration. This is the site of an innovative Jellicoe plan for environmental 
screening and restoration. It is a combined limestone quarry and shale 
extraction site for cement production; and 

 
372 Pin Dale Quarry - Limestone quarry immediately north of the Blue Circle 

quarry on the south side of Pin Dale. Owned by Jack Eidson until c.1995. 
Some possibility of the quarry being re-opened (1997). 

 
373 The first entry on the records relates to the cement works itself and it is 

considered to be of limited cultural value constituting an industrial facility in a 
rural location. Notwithstanding, the effects of the proposal would not adversely 
affect the asset given the industrial style ARMs storage building and 
associated infrastructure would be similar to the existing buildings and 
structures that occupy the vast industrial complex. 

 
374 In regards to Pin Dale Quarry, it should be noted that the asset is not actually 

within the application site boundary and is in fact approximately 100m West of 
where the ARM storage building is proposed to be located. Pindale Quarry is 
however, located within the wider Hope Works Complex above the northern 
face of the Limestone Quarry. 

 
375 A landscaped feature formed of quarry waste known as ‘Hayward Hill’ 

designed to screen the works from outside views lies between Pin Dale 
Quarry and the majority of the application site. This landform was designed by 
Geoffrey Jellicoe in 1968-70 as part of landscape impact mitigation proposals 
in relation to the 1969 consent and was planted with trees that are now well 
established. Some of the self-set trees that have colonised the north-western 

Page 71



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

edge of the site are proposed for removal as part of the development 
proposal, but the mature trees on Haywood Hill would not be affected and 
would continue to afford screening of the Works from the Hope Valley. 

 
Off Site Features 

 
376 The impact of the proposed development on off-site designated and non-

designated heritage assets located within a 5km Zone of Theoretical Visibility, 
as agreed with the cultural heritage officer, have also been assessed as part 
of the application submission. 

 
377 A total of 17 Scheduled Monuments, 17 Listed Buildings and 39 non-

designated assets were identified for assessment. Potential impacts on four 
Conservation Areas were also discussed in the applicant’s assessment, as 
well as impacts on the settings of areas of well-preserved medieval strip fields 
or other ‘ancient enclosure’.  

 
378 Full details of the assessment of the magnitudes of change predicted at each 

of the assessed assets (or the landscape zone that they are within) due to the 
proposed development can be found in the Heritage Statement submitted to 
accompany the application. The Heritage Statement also fully explains the 
methodology adopted for the assessment of the assets. The impact of 
proposed development on the various assets is summarised below. 

 
379 Scheduled Monuments – neutral effects were predicted at 7 of the assets, 

neutral to slight adverse effect were predicted at 7 assets and slight adverse 
effects were predicted at 3 assets. 

 
380 Listed Buildings – neutral effects were predicted at 12 of the assets, neutral or 

slight adverse at 4 of the assets and slight adverse effects at 1 of the assets. 
 

381 Non-designated Assets - Neutral effects were predicted at all of the assets 
assessed. 

 
382 Conservation Areas - of the four Conservation Areas that were assessed 

neutral effects were predicted at one, whilst effects that could range from 
neutral to slight adverse were identified at three. Potential effects of up to 
slight adverse significance were also identified for elements of the historic 
landscape characterised as ‘Ancient Enclosure’. 

 
383 The potential effects on the historic environment are considered to be minimal 

and capable of being suitably mitigated by way of additional screening and 
applying and appropriate colour (olive green) finished to the ARM building. 
These requirements would be secured by way of planning conditions.  

 
384 The PDNPA’s Cultural Heritage Officer concurs with the findings of the 

applicant’s heritage assessment but notes that views of the Grade II listed 
Pindale Mine Engine House would be visible in conjunction with the proposed 
ARM storage building. Haywood Hill provides some suitable screening but it is 
not complete. As such, the heritage officer has concluded that there would be 
less than substantial harm to the designated heritage asset. Therefore it is 
necessary to consider the proposed development against the appropriate 
tests set out in the NPPF. 

 

Page 72



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

385 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that: ‘Where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.’ 

 
386 The proposed development would lead to less than substantial harm to the 

Grade II Listed Pindale Mine Engine House by way of impact on its setting. It 
is a High Priority Lead Mining site, identified in the Inventory of Nationally and 
Regionally Important Lead Mining Sites in the Peak District.  

 
387 It comprises a well preserved two storey horizontal engine house and 

chimney, a sealed shaft, surrounding waste hillocks with a retaining wall in 
parts and a powder house set behind to the east. It is a site of considerable 
historic and archaeological interest. The engine house and chimney are of 
particular importance. This is the only complete dual winding and pumping 
engine house left in the National Park and one of the very few left anywhere in 
the country in good condition. 

 
388 When appreciating the asset in close quarters, views of the cement works and 

the proposed ARM storage building would be generally well screened by 
Haywood Hill and the established woodland upon it. However, during winter 
months when foliage is not present, some glimpses of the ARM building may 
be possible.  

 
389 The heritage asset itself, in a physical sense, would not be affected by the 

proposed development, rather its setting and one’s experience of it, would be 
the element of harm that needs to be assessed. Views of the ARM building 
from in and around the designated asset would be intermittent and are not 
consider to be highly damaging to the setting of the asset or to its enjoyment. 
It should be noted that the development is temporary in nature and its removal 
by 2042 at the latest would prevent any long term harm to the asset. 

 
390 They also have to be considered in the context of the existing Works, with the 

chimney already clearly visible. Any effect would be further mitigated through 
the proposed olive-green finish to the building and additional screening 
planting proposed for Haywood Hill. Both of these elements of mitigation 
would be secured through planning conditions appended to any approval the 
Authority may be minded to grant.  

 
391 Noise from the works is already experienced at the heritage asset. Based on 

the assessment in the Noise chapter of the Environmental Statement, it was 
concluded that noise levels during construction would have a minor adverse 
noise impact, and during operation the noise from the ARM plant would result 
in a 1db increase of noise at the site, a change that is below the limit of 
perceptible change (which is 3db). As such, any harm by way of noise, if there 
is any, would be considered negligible. 

 
392 The PDNPA Cultural Heritage Officer and the Archaeologist both concluded 

the proposal would result in less than substantial harm to the heritage asset. 
 

393 The assessment of the ‘less than substantial harm’ to the heritage asset as a 
result of the proposal is set out above, and this level of harm must be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposed development. Those benefits 
include the continuity of cement production in a regional and national sense 

Page 73



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

and represent what is currently considered to be the most sustainable option 
to secure the necessary continuity of cement supply to the UK market. 
Cement is vital in the construction of houses, roads, school and hospitals and 
other developments consummate to modern standards of living.  

 
394 The less than substantial harm to the Grade II Listed Pindale Mine Engine 

House is considered to be outweighed by the need for continuity of cement 
production to sustain economic growth and allow the sustainable provision of 
social infrastructure. These public benefits which would be achieved via the 
proposed development outweigh the less than substantial harm to the heritage 
asset.  

 
395 Although the Cultural Heritage Officer has only identified Pindale Mine Engine 

House as  asset in need of assessment against the test in the NPPF, for the 
avoidance of doubt, the following assets were also identified in the Heritage 
Statement as possibly suffering less than substantial harm as a result of the 
proposed development. 

 
396 The Folly platform cairn (Scheduled Monument). Proposed storage shed 

screened from view by intervening vegetation, potential views of loading 
gantry and new transfer tower wholly within extant arc of view of HCW. 

 
397 Lord’s Seat bowl barrow (Scheduled Monument). Very slight increase in arc of 

view of the HCW but may not be readily discernible at this distance. 
 

398 Slight univallate hillfort and two bowl barrows on Mam Tor (Scheduled 
Monument). Very slight increase in arc of view of the HCW due to small areas 
of roof of storage shed visible above the trees on ‘Haywood Hill’. 

 
399 Engine Sough and associated nucleated lead mine, 500m south of Mam Tor 

(Scheduled Monument). Views across the monument from the north west 
could potentially include a very slight increase in the arc of view within which 
HCW would be visible.  

 
400 Odin Mine nucleated lead mine and ore works, 350m WNW of Knowlegates 

Farm (Scheduled Monument). Views from parts of the monument could 
potentially include a very slight increase in the arc of view within which HCW 
would be visible. 

 
401 Pin Dale lead side veins (Scheduled Monument). Very slight increase in 

massing would be wholly within the extant arc of view of the HCW but minor 
impact upon the appreciation of group value of High Priority sites on Dirtlow 
Rake. 

 
402 Ring cairn on Bamford Moor, 900m north east of Lydgate Farm (Scheduled 

Monument). Very slight increase in massing of structures but within the same 
arc of view – barely discernible at this distance. 

 
403 Cairn on Bamford Edge, 500m north east of Mooredge (Scheduled 

Monument). Very slight increase in massing of structures but within the same 
arc of view – barely discernible at this distance. 

 
 
 

Page 74



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

404 Cairnfield and quarry on Bamford Edge, 720m north of Clough House 
(Scheduled Monument) Very slight increase in massing of structures but 
within the same arc of view – barely discernible at this distance. 

 
405 Cairn on Bamford Edge, 570m north east of Clough House (Scheduled 

Monument) Very slight increase in massing of structures but within the same 
arc of view – barely discernible at this distance. 

 
406 Highfield Head Farmhouse And Attached Outbuilding (Grade II Listed 

Building) Possible view of storage shed just above treeline but against a green 
wooded backdrop. 

 
407 Chapel Farmhouse and Attached Outbuildings (Grade II Listed Building) 

Possible view of storage shed just above treeline but against a green wooded 
backdrop. 

 
408 Barn to North of Ryecroft Cottage Farmhouse (Grade II Listed Building) 

Possible view of storage shed just above treeline but against a green wooded 
backdrop. 

 
409 Milepost at OS 134 837 (Grade II Listed Building) Views from here could 

potentially include a very slight increase in the arc of view within which HCW 
would be visible. 

 
410 The effects of the proposed development on all of the above mentioned 

heritage assets range from neutral or negligible to slight adverse, which could 
potentially constitute ‘less than substantial harm’ when considered in terms of 
the NPPF. None of the features have been considered worthy of further 
assessment by the Cultural Heritage Officer or Historic England. It is 
considered that any harm which could be caused by the proposal would be 
adequately mitigated by way of the olive-green finish to the ARM storage 
building and the requirement for an enhanced planting scheme to further 
reduce views into the Works. Any less than substantial harm is therefore 
outweighed by the need for continued cement manufacture as outlined above. 

 
411 Policy L3 of the Core Strategy requires  development to conserve and where 

appropriate enhance or reveal the significance of heritage assets, and states 
that other than in exceptional circumstances development will not be permitted 
where it is likely to cause harm to the significance of any cultural heritage 
asset. 

 
412 Given the nature of this proposal and its location within the established 

Cement Works complex, opportunities to enhance or reveal significance of 
assets are not available. It is considered that the significance of assets is 
however, largely conserved given the findings of the Heritage Statement, the 
conclusions reached above and the proposed means of mitigation.  

 
413 It is considered that the limited level of harm that the proposal would cause to 

cultural heritage assets is outweighed by the economic and social needs for 
continuity of cement production, continued local employment and sustainable 
development in the regional and national context. Thus the exceptional 
circumstances required by Policy L3 of the Core Strategy have been met and 
the proposal accords with the policy, the NPPF and Policy DMC5 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD. 

Page 75



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
Ecology Impact  

 
414 The proposed development has the potential to impact upon habitat and 

species through its land take/ construction and through its operation. As such 
it if required to be assessed against paragraph 180 of the NPPF and 
development management policies DMC11, DMC12 and DMC13 of the 
PDNPA Local Plan. Consideration must be given to the protection of habitats 
and species, their enhancement and the schemes contribution towards a 
biodiversity net gain. The proposal also has the potential to affect European 
designated sites and has therefore been subject to a Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA). 

 
Habitats 

 
415 The main habitats present at the Site are hard-standing, amenity grassland, 

buildings, immature mixed plantation woodland, ephemeral and tall ruderal 
vegetation, introduced trees and shrubs and scrub.  A young mixed plantation 
woodland is partly within and outside the Site and covers an area of 0.36ha. 
The plantation is immature at approximately 35 years old and it is understood 
that  0.27 ha of this woodland will be affected by the works. This area of 
immature woodland would need to be removed to facilitate the location of the 
ARM storage building. 

 
416 None of the habitats within the Site are considered to be Habitats of Principal 

Importance/priority habitat type. These habitats are considered to be of low 
conservation value,  and overall are evaluated as being of no more than Site 
importance.  

 
417 The Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Method statements 

have been produced to avoid damage to the above and below ground parts of 
existing trees that are to be retained during development operations. There 
would be no structures constructed within Root Protection Areas or crown 
spreads of the retained trees to ensure they are not compromised. As such 
the proposal complies with development management policy DMC13 of the 
PDNPA Local Plan. Conditions requiring the protection of retained trees and 
use of the felled trees foliage for habitat creation are proposed. 

 
Birds 

 
418 The mixed plantation woodland, introduced trees and shrubs, and scrub are 

suitable for breeding birds. These habitats are not considered likely to support 
significant numbers of notable bird species due to the immaturity of the 
habitats affected and the total combined loss of these habitats will be 0.35 ha. 
Off-Site habitat (i.e. the more established mixed plantation woodland) is 
considered to offer better opportunities for breeding birds.  

 
419 Overall, it is considered that there is limited habitat available within the Site for 

breeding birds. Conditions are proposed to protect birds during the nesting 
season and for the installation of bird boxes within the retained trees. 

 
 
 
 

Page 76



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

Great crested newts 
 

420 There are discreet areas of ephemeral, tall herb and scrub vegetation within 
the Site which include piles of rubble that are suitable for amphibians and the 
mixed plantation woodland also provides suitable terrestrial habitat. However, 
the local nature reserve provides suitable aquatic and terrestrial habitat for 
amphibians. The topography between the nature reserve and the Site is steep 
sided and it is considered highly likely that amphibians recorded within the 
nature reserve would remain in the proximate terrestrial habitat rather than 
moving towards the Site.  

 
421 Terrestrial habitat associated with Pond 1 is connected to the railway sidings 

within the eastern part of the Site. Whilst unlikely, the ballast that is present in 
the sidings may provide places of shelter and rest suitable for great crested 
newt.  

 
422 No waterbodies are present within the Site and majority of the Site supports 

terrestrial habitats that are suboptimal for great crested newt. It is considered 
unlikely that other amphibians are present within the Site or would be affected 
by the Proposed development. 

 
423 Conditions are proposed to ensure creation of an off site great created newt 

hibernaculum to the benefit of the GCN population associated with Pond 1 
within the wider Works holding, and for the creation of further habitat from 
timbre obtained from felled trees. 

 
Reptiles 

 
424 The majority of the Site (i.e. hard standing, amenity grassland) is considered 

to provide sub-optimal habitat to support reptiles. The areas of scrub and tall 
ruderal vegetation are considered to provide suitable habitat for common 
species of reptile such as grass snake and slow worm. It is considered that, 
due to the high amount of human-related activity and the limited nature of 
suitable habitat on site reptiles are unlikely to be present on the Site and will 
not be affected by the proposed development 

 
Badgers 

 
425 There is currently no evidence of badger within the Site but there is activity 

relatively close by. The site supports habitats that are considered to be of 
limited suitability for badger and as such the species would not be adversely 
affected by the proposal. A condition is proposed to ensure a pre-construction 
walk over survey is conducted to ensure no presence of badgers. 

 
Bats 

 
426 There are very limited opportunities for bats to roost within the site. The 

surveys undertaken in 2018 and 2019 did not identify any evidence of bat 
roosts within the Site. 

 
427 Overall, there is suitable habitat for foraging and commuting bats within the 

Site including mixed plantation woodland, introduced trees and shrubs, and 
scrub. The woodland is connected to areas of more suitable habitat beyond 
the Site within the surrounding landscape.  

Page 77



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
428 Artificial lighting within the Site is considered to reduce the suitability of parts 

of the Site for foraging and commuting bats and as such requires further 
consideration. Conditions are proposed that would require a pre-construction 
site inspection for bats and the installation of bat boxes at suitable locations to 
provide additional roots. 

 
Lighting 

 
429 The impact of the proposed additional lighting has been assessed in 

conjunction with BSG Ecology Report. It is proposed that the following 
measures would minimise lighting impacts of the development and in 
particular, in relation to bats. The lighting scheme has been designed to 
minimise sky glow with the building design specifically avoiding use of 
transparent roof panels to avoid light spill. This is supported by officers, and 
also reduced the visual impact of the building in the landscape. 

 
430 In order to reduce disturbance to bats it is expected that the detailed lighting 

design scheme would comply with the guidance in Bat conservation Trust and 
ILP (2018) ‘Guidance note 08/18, bats and artificial lighting in the UK’ , and as 
set out in the submitted information as follows:  

 

431 All luminaires would avoid use of metal halide fluorescent sources and instead 
be LEDs, due to their sharp cut off, lower intensity, good colour rendition and 
dimming capacity.  

 
432 A warm spectrum would be adopted (less than 2700 kelvin) to reduce the blue 

light component, which is best for health and safety. (Whilst this may not be 
the least disturbing spectrum for bats it is satisfactory, and this is offset by the 
short duration). 

 
433 Luminaires would feature peak wavelengths higher than 55nm to avoid the 

component of light most disturbing to bats.  
 

434 For the duration of the life of the consented operations, the external lighting 
would be operated as follows:  

 

a. For short duration inspections i.e. 5-10 minutes per night shift.  
b. For breakdown repairs to the woodland side conveyors or dosing tower 

– it is understood from Breedon that the frequency of this is anticipated 
to be once per annum. 

 
435 Subject to the above requirements, which would be secured by planning 

condition, the scheme is considered acceptable and the impact on bats 
suitably mitigated. 

 
Water Quality 

 
436 There is potential for water quality effects on Bradwell Brook and two 

unnamed ordinary watercourses within the vicinity of the Site resulting from 
activities during the construction phase, for example: the interaction between 
surface and groundwater; demolition, remediation and excavation; the 
transport and storage of materials; and with the movement and operation of 

Page 78



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

vehicles and machinery. There is also potential for water quality effects from 
surface water discharge from the proposed development to these receptors, 
should free discharge occur.  

 
437 Existing operational measures are already in place to mitigate a pollution 

event that might otherwise result in a decrease in water quality. A number of 
interceptors across the Site and the ability to ‘close off’ Pond 2 to prevent 
discharge leaving the site provide suitable mitigation. Conditions are 
proposed which require a surface water management plan. 

 
Dust/Air Quality 

 
438 The dust assessment in Chapter 12 of the Environmental Statement has 

concluded that the risk of dust generation arising from the Proposed 
development is low. This is based on the nature of the materials processing 
(under cover and the use of incoming wet materials). The assessment has 
also considered dust arising/air quality impacts associated with exhaust 
emissions from rail movements.  They conclude that  given the small number 
of rail movements involved, it is considered that impacts on the ecological 
receptors can be screened out and concluded to be negligible and not 
significant. 

 
439 ARM is proposed to be transported to site by rail in open topped waggons in 

a wet condition so as to prevent dust emissions. Polymer spray would be 
used if required as an additional dust control measure. Once unloaded, ARM 
would be transported by covered conveyors and water sprays which would 
also control dust emissions from the storage building.  

 
440 A Dust Action Plan has been prepared by Wardell Armstong as part of this 

Proposed development and the development would be carried out in 
accordance with its provisions. This requirement would be secured by 
planning condition. 

 
CEMP/LEMP 

 
441 Overall, it is anticipated that construction environmental effects would be 

controlled by the operator’s environmental management systems that include 
a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to be agreed and 
implemented by condition. 

 
442 A number of mitigation and compensatory measures are proposed in the 

submission and it is recommended that these are either conditioned should 
approval be granted with a further condition requiring a Landscape & 
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) to be agreed for the management of 
the habitat enhancements. 

 
Biodiversity Net Gain 

 
443 Habitat enhancement and creation measures have been incorporated into 

the proposed development to address habitat loss and provide a biodiversity 
net gain through all phases of the development. During the operational 
phase of the development it is anticipated that 13% net gain can be 
achieved, with further gains after the storage facility and rail sidings are 
decommissioned. This includes the enhancement and creation of areas of 

Page 79



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

broadleaved woodland, scrub, and species rich grassland both within and 
off-site. 

 
444 The extent of habitat compensation and enhancement is shown on Figure 

7.5 Rev A provided by BSG as part of the application submission. The 
requirement for its implementation prior to operation of the ARM storage 
building is proposed to be secured through planning condition. 

 
445 The details of habitat compensation, enhancement, creation and 

management shall be set out in the CEMP and LEMP for the habitat creation 
and management respectively, to secure compensation and mitigation 
measures and the delivery of the measurable biodiversity net gain.  

 
446 Conditions would eb appended to any approval requiring the following; Prior 

to the commencement of works the CEMP and LEMP shall be agreed to the 
complete satisfaction of the Authority; Areas of habitat associated with the 
decommissioning of the storage facility and rail sidings, as shown on Figure 
4 Rev A shall be created within 2 years of decommission; All habitat created, 
as shown on Figure 7.4 and 7.5, shall be managed and maintained as 
identified in the CEMP/LEMP for a minimum of 30 years after their creation. 

 
447 Subject to the aforementioned conditions the proposal would result in a 

biodiversity net gain of 13% during operation, with further net gains expected 
upon decommissioning and would be suitably mitigated to avoid significant 
harm to habitats and species. As such the scheme accords with paragraph 
180 of the NPPF and development management policies DMC11 and 
DMC12 of the PDNPA Local Plan. 

 

Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
 

448 HRA is required by Regulation 63 of the Habitats Regulations for all projects 
and plans which may have ‘likely significant effects (LSE)’ on a European 
Site and are not directly connected with or necessary to the management of 
the European Site. Regulation 84 of the Habitats Regulations states that 
Regulation 63 i.e. the assessment provisions, apply to applications for 
development consent under the Planning Act 2008. 

 
449 The requirements of the Habitats Regulations with regard to the implications 

of plans or projects are set out within Regulation 63. It is a requirement of 
any public body (referred to as a competent authority within the Habitats 
Regulations) to carry out a Habitats Regulations Assessment when they are 
proposing to carry out a project, implement a plan or authorise another party 
to carry out a plan or project. Competent authorities are required to record 
the process undertaken, ensuring that there will be no adverse effects on the 
integrity of any European Site as a result of a plan or project whether alone 
or in combination with other plans or projects. 

 
450 The three stages of the HRA process, in line with UK government 

policy are:  
 

a. Stage 1 - Screening: To test whether a Scheme either alone or in 
combination with other projects is likely to have a significant effect on a 
European Site  

Page 80



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
b. Stage 2 - Appropriate Assessment (AA): To determine whether, in view of 

a European Site's conservation objectives, the Scheme (either alone or in 
combination with other projects) would have an adverse effect on the 
integrity of the site with respect to the site’s structure, function and 
conservation objectives. If adverse impacts are anticipated, potential 
mitigation measures to alleviate impacts should be proposed and 
assessed  

 
c. Stage 3 – Derogation: allow exceptions:  

 
d. Test 1 – Consider alternative solutions: Where a Scheme is assessed as 

having an adverse impact (or risk of this) on the integrity of a European 
Site, there should be an examination of alternatives (e.g. alternative 
locations and designs of development). 

 
e. Test 2 – Consider Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest 

(IROPI): Assessment where no alternative solutions have been identified 
and where adverse impacts remain. In exceptional circumstance (e.g. 
where there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest), 
compensatory measures can be put in place to offset negative impacts. 

 
451 The PDNPA as competent authority has conducted a detailed HRA which 

is available on the Authority’s website under the planning application 
record. 

 
452 The PDNP Authority has considered the following potential impacts ‘alone’ 

and ‘ in combination’  
1 Habitat loss and disturbance/disruption; 
2 Visual, noise and vibration related disturbance of mobile species and 
collision risk; 
3 Air quality impacts from dust deposition; 
4 Air quality impacts from other airborne pollutants. 
c) rail – operational activities 
d) construction and decommissioning 

 
453 The Authority concludes that the proposal can be screened out from further 

stages of assessment because significant effects are unlikely to occur, 
either alone or in combination 

 
454 Natural England were consulted on the HRA screening report and 

concurred with the findings of ‘No LSE’ advising that there was no 
requirement to go through to Stage 2 of the HRA process. 

 
Transport 

 
455 Transport matters related to this proposal are relative to two specific areas, 

the importation of ARM; and the construction/demolition phases of the 
development.  

 
456 Policy T1 of the Core Strategy states conserving and enhancing the 

National Park’s valued characteristics will be the primary criterion in 
transport management. It goes on to state that a modal shift to sustainable 
transport measures will be encouraged. 

Page 81



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
457 Policy T4 seeks to manage the demand for freight transport and states that 

infrastructure developments that enable the transfer of road freight, 
including minerals, to rail will be supported where appropriate. 

 
 
 

Construction Traffic 
 

458 The construction phase of the development is anticipated to last between 12-
18 months, with delivery of material expected to last between 12-15 months. 
During this phase construction would take place from 07.00 hours to 18.00 
hours Monday to Friday (excluding Bank Holidays), and 07.00 to 14.00 hours 
on Saturdays. 

 
459 The applicant has stated that construction traffic would not exceed 200 annual 

average daily traffic movements (AADT), thus there is no requirement to study 
air quality impacts from construction vehicles. However, it is not possible to 
predict exact daily vehicle movements at this point and figures would be 
clarified once contractors are appointed. In order to ensure there is not an 
adverse impact on the highway network a Construction and Environmental 
Management Plan is proposed by the applicant. The CEMP would be secured 
by planning condition and would allow the MPA to specify a maximum daily 
importation limit. The Highway Authority have raised no objection on this 
basis.  

 
460 In addition, it is proposed that deliveries of construction material would be 

made by rail wherever possible. These deliveries would not exceed 1 per day 
and would replace one of the existing permitted rail deliveries to the Works 
i.e. a kiln fuel delivery. There would be no additional rail movements overall to 
facilitate construction material delivery by rail and the timing of other 
movements would not be affected. This would also be secured by planning 
condition. The Highway Authority have raised no objection to the proposal. As 
such the construction phase of the development accords with the relevant 
transport policies. 

 
Existing Rail Movements 

 
461 It is important to note that the export of cement from the Works by rail is 

currently unrestricted and governed by the production capacity of the Works, 
circa 1.5mt/pa. The proposed development seeks additional daytime (0700 – 
2300) movements only. The existing baseline is outlined accordingly. 

 
462 The existing daytime rail movements associated with the Works based on the 

full year 2019 total daytime branch line movements per annum were as 
follows:  

a. Light engine movements – 1674  
b. Empty cement – 592  
c. Full cement – 1296  
d. Empty coal – 142  
e. Full PFA – 37  

463 (NOTE – empty PFA wagons are included in empty cement) 
 

464 The total number of existing daytime branch line movements, based on 2019 

Page 82



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

data is 3,741.  
 

Importation of ARM by Rail 
 

465 Conditioned PFA is currently being imported by road to be used in trials. This 
is due to the fact that no rail unloading infrastructure exists at present. The 
amount of shale substitute imported in 2019 was 53,698 tonnes. Assuming 
these deliveries were made in 20 tonne tipper wagons, it would equate to 
approximately 2,685 deliveries (5,370 movements) over the course of the 
calendar year, or approximately 14 daily movements. Should consent be 
granted for importation by rail, these vehicle movements would be taken off 
the public highway. 

 
466 The applicant presented various branch line movement arrangements to 

facilitate the delivery of ARM from Earles Sidings to the Works. Ultimately the 
following arrangement has been selected.  

 
467 Mainline deliveries would be broken down into 2/3 strings of wagons for 

transit along the branch line. 
 

468 The daytime ARM movements (excluding PFA trains counted as part of the 
2019 total that would no longer be required) would be:  

 
2524 ARM associated movements per annum broken up by  
Light engine movement – 778  
Full wagon movement – 1055  
Empty wagon moves – 691  

 
469 7 mainline ARM delivery trains per week would generate 56 branch line 

movements per week. The proposed ARM movements on the branch line are 
broken down as follows: 

 

 Mainline train arrives in Earles siding with 22 wagons  

 The works class 20 runs down to Earles Sidings to collect the first rake – 1 
movement light engine  

 11 wagons are pulled up to the works by the Class 20 – 2nd movement  

 The works class 20 returns to Earles Sidings to collect the second rake – 
3rd movement light engine  

 11 wagons are pulled into the works by the Class 20 – 4th movement  

 Unloading process occurs  

 The works class 20 loco takes 11 empty wagons back to Earles Sidings – 
5th movement  

 The class 20 loco returns to the works – 6th movement light engine  

 The works class 20 loco takes 11 empty wagons back to Earles Sidings – 
7th movement  

 The class 20 loco returns to the works – 8th movement light engine 
 

470 The 8 movements per day over the course of a 7 day working week equate to 
a maximum of 56 branch line movements associated with the proposed 
importation of ARM. 

 
471 It is also proposed to append a number of planning conditions that would 

control branch line movements to ensure no more than 56 movements 

Page 83



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

associated with ARM occur per week. No movements associated with ARM 
would be permitted between 2300 - 0700 and no existing movements shall be 
pushed into the night time period. Given that movements along the branch 
line are currently unrestricted, it is proposed to take this opportunity exercise 
some control over its operation. A maximum total limit on branch line 
movements of 7,500 per annum is recommended by condition. This figure 
includes all existing movements and proposed ARM movements and has 
been fully assessed as part of the application process. Imposition of this 
condition would ensure that if further movements were ever proposed, they 
would be subject to further assessment. 

 
472 In accordance with paragraph 55 of the NPPF 2021, the conditions are 

considered necessary in order to make the development acceptable and have 
thus been recommended for inclusion. Control of all branch line movements 
has been sought at this point on the basis of the noise and vibration 
assessment conducted in support of this application. It is both necessary and 
reasonable to restrict total movements to the levels that were assessed in 
order to ensure there are no adverse impacts on amenity which have not 
been subject to assessment. 

 
473 The 1969 consent for the ‘Works’ allows for the production of cement on the 

basis of the utilisation of on-site mineral reserves. It is reasonable to conclude 
on this basis that the importation of primary and secondary feed stocks is not 
necessary and as such the consent does not permit the importation of 
feedstocks to the site. However, the consent does not explicitly preclude it by 
way of condition. The proposal seeks the importation of ARM by rail to 
supplement the secondary kiln feed stock and is the operator’s preferred 
means of delivery to the Works. Whilst this application must be determined on 
its own merits, it is worthy to note that importation by road is an avenue an 
operator may choose to explore should circumstances dictate. As previously 
discussed in this report, transportation of goods/freight by rail is widely 
accepted to be more sustainable than by road, and impacts upon the 
environment and amenity in relation to this proposal in particular, are 
expected to be more limited should ARM be imported by rail. 

 
474 The importation of ARM to the ‘Works’ shall be restricted by condition to the 

means of rail expect in emergency rail outage situations. An emergency 
situation constitutes a period of prolonged railway breakdowns or other 
impediment to rail deliveries that exceed the life of the ARM contingency 
storage. 

 
475 The transport related elements of the proposal, subject to the conditions 

specified are in accordance with Policies T1 and T4 of the Core Strategy. 
 

Noise and Vibration 
 

476 Extensive noise and vibration assessments have been undertaken by the 
operator to support the application and consideration has been given to the 
effects from operational plant and activities within the Works site associated 
with the importation of ARM and the impacts arising from the branch line rail 
movements. 

 
477 The increase in activity at the site and additional branch line movements 

mean additional impacts above what is currently experienced by receptor 

Page 84



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

sites is inevitable. However, it is crucial to determine the extent of the impacts 
and whether they can be mitigated to a suitable level or not in accordance 
with the requirements of Development Management Policy DMC14 – Pollution 
and disturbance. 

 
478 Paragraph 185 of the NPPF  states that: 
‘Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment, as well as potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts 
that could arise from he developments. In doing so they should: 

a. Mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from 
noise from development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse 
impacts of health and the quality of life; 

b. Identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively 
undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity 
value for this reason…’ 

 
479 Paragraph 185 of the NPPF also requires decision makers to consider the 

likely effects of noise on the environment and living conditions. In addition it 
requires the identification and protection of tranquil areas. The qualities of the 
National Park include its tranquillity and quiet enjoyment and it is therefore 
appropriate to apply the policy rigorously to ensure noise impacts are 
considered accordingly. However, it is also worthy to note that the policy 
refers to areas that ‘have remained relatively undisturbed’. Given the 
existence of the Works and the associated branch line, it is important to 
recognise that this area of the Park does not remain undisturbed, and that the 
current environment is considered to be the baseline for any assessment. 

 
480 With regard to ‘adverse impacts’ the NPPF refers to the ‘Noise Policy 

Statement for England’ (NPSE), which defines three categories, as follows:  
a. NOEL – No Observed Effect Level  

This is the level below which no effect can be detected. In simple terms, below this  
level, there is no detectable effect on health and quality of life due to the noise.  

b. LOAEL – Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level  
This is the level above which adverse effects on health and quality of life can be 
detected.  

c. SOAEL – Significant Observed Adverse Effect Level  
This is the level above which significant adverse effects on health and quality of 
life occur. 

 
481 In order to quantify the assessment, the applicant’s consultant has identified 

the sensitivity of receptors and the magnitude of impact. Both factors have 
been combined to identify the ‘impact severity’ categorised as negligible, 
minor, moderate and substantial. 

 
482 A total of 8 existing sensitive receptors (5 residential properties, 1 outdoor 

centre) have been identified for the purpose of the assessment, 6 of which are 
in proximity to the existing Works and proposed ARMs storage 
building/conveyors and 2 are in the close proximity to the branch line 
(Castleton Road and Orclecar Cottage). Impacts at 1 bridleway and 2 public 
footpaths have also been assessed. Impact on a heritage asset was 
considered but not subject to further assessment given the outcome of 
assessments on the rights of way are similar, yet closer to the noise source 

Page 85



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

and were deemed negligible.  
 

Construction Noise 
 

483 The activities associated with the earthworks and construction phase of the 
proposed development would have the potential to generate noise and create 
an impact on the environment and surrounding sensitive receptors. Although 
this matter is considered as part of the application, the effects of construction 
noise are controlled by the Control of Pollution Act 1974 (COPA 1974). 

 
484 The Control of Pollution Act 1974 (COPA 1974) gives the local authority 

power  to serve a notice under Section 60 imposing requirements as to the 
way in which works are to be carried out. This could specify times of 
operation, maximum levels of noise that may be emitted and the type of plant 
that should or should not be used.  

 
485 Paragraph 188 of the NPPF states that ‘The focus of planning policies and 

decisions should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use 
of land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where these are 
subject to separate pollution control regimes Planning decisions should 
assume that these regimes will operate effectively.’ 

 
486 Given the above policy, it is appropriate to allow for control of construction 

noise via the Control of Pollution Act 1974 and not the planning system. 
However, an assessment of construction noise and vibration has been 
undertaken by the applicant’s consultants which concluded that there would 
be a negligible effect at the sensitive receptors. The Environmental Health 
Officer has raised no objection on this basis. 

 
487 It is proposed to append a condition to any approval that Members may be 

minded to grant that requires submission of and adherence to a Construction 
and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) that would include best 
practice measures for the control of noise, vibration, dust and construction 
vehicle movements. 

 
488 A further condition would restrict the hours of construction/demolition 

operation to between 0700 – 1800 Monday to Friday (excluding public 
holidays) and between 0700 -1400 on Saturdays, with no working on a 
Sunday. 

 
Construction Vibration 

 
489 Earthworks and construction activities may take place at a distance of 

approximately 80m from the nearest sensitive receptor (Pindale Outdoor 
Activity Centre). Modelling was undertaken on the basis of the plant and 
machinery likely to be used during the construction phase and found that 
levels of vibration would be highly unlikely (vibration at 2.35 mm/s at 30m 
from source) to breach the threshold as defined by the British Standard that 
could generate complaints at the nearest sensitive receptor. Notwithstanding, 
should vibration be experienced at the nearby sensitive receptors, it would be 
for a temporary period only which on balance is considered acceptable when 
considering the proposal as a whole. 

 
 

Page 86



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

490 Vibration modelling found both potential impact on human health and on built 
structures to be negligible.  

 
Operational (daytime and night-time) 

 
491 The operational phase of the development would add new plant noise (due to 

unloading and conveying) to the existing cement works facility, and therefore 
has the potential to affect existing receptors near the Cement Works. An 
assessment has been undertaken by the applicant to compare the existing 
background levels with predicted ARM plant noise.  

 
492 A baseline noise survey was conducted at one of the closest receptors to the 

proposed development in order to establish the effects of increased activity.  
 

493 Due to the current activities on site operating 24/7, it was not possible to  
take a background noise measurement at the nearest receptor in the absence 
of the existing plant noise. Therefore, an assessment has been undertaken to 
ensure that the noise emissions from the proposed development would not 
significantly increase the ambient noise level at nearest receptors. It should be 
noted that a 3dB increase is considered by laboratory tests to be the limit of 
perceptible change and anything below this would likely be unperceivable. 
The book ‘Fundamentals of Acoustics’ by  

 
494 Professor Colin H Hansen explains that a 3dB increase in noise level is just 

perceptible, therefore this value has been adopted as the threshold of a minor 
impact. BS4142 has been used to estimate rating levels. 

 
495 To present a worst-case scenario the storage shed has been modelled with 

the doors open. Figure 13.2A of the applicant’s submission demonstrates 
operation noise contours during the daytime and Figure 13.3A demonstrates 
operational noise contours at night-time. The tables below present the 
existing ambient sound levels, the estimated sound levels as a result of the 
proposed development and the predicted increase at each of the sensitive 
receptors. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 87



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 

 
496 The modelling shows that daytime ambient noise levels would increase by a 

maximum of 1dB at sensitive receptors ESR4 – ESR6. The 1dB increase is 
unlikely to be audible and as such is considered to be an acceptable increase 
in noise levels. The EHO has raised no objection on this basis. 

 
497 However, the modelling shows that night time ambient noise levels at ESR4 – 

ESR6 are likely to increase by 3dB, which is the widely accepted level of 
possible perceivable change to humans. While the change may only be slight 
and not necessarily great enough to cause concern, it is necessary to 
consider the potential impact, especially given the increase would occur 
during the night time. 

 
498 Overall the sensitivity of ESR1 – ESR6 is high and the magnitude of impact is 

considered to be low, resulting in a ‘moderate’ noise impact during the 
operational phase of the development.  

 
499 Subsequent to the initial assessment, further investigation by the applicant 

revealed that the increased noise could be attributed to an extraction unit on 
the raw meal silo. In order to further reduce the noise impacts on sensitive 
receptors the EHO has requested a condition requiring the submission of a 
scheme of noise mitigation measures to achieve a reduction in noise 
emissions of at least 10dB LAeq when measured at source. The condition 
would require submission of the scheme prior to commencement of 
development and further require validation that the reduction has been 
achieved prior to first operation of the proposal. 

 
500 Estimated noise levels at the nearby bridleway and footpaths have also been 

assessed. The predicted levels at the nearby bridleway (ESR9) and footpaths 
(ESR10 and ESR11) are 39dB, 36dB and 47dB respectively. The nearest 
receptor to the northwest of the proposed ARM facility is ESR9; this location 
is also representative of ESR10. The existing ambient noise levels at ESR9 
are likely to be similar to those at ESR1-ESR6. Since ESR 9 is at a greater 
distance from Pindale Road it is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 
existing LAeq. Road traffic movements on Pindale Road are infrequent and 
consist mainly of residents moving towards the dwelling. An LAeq of 41dB 
has been adopted as a representative ambient noise level. Therefore, the 
increase in noise levels at ESR9 and ESR10 would be less than 3dB. At 
ESR11, the existing ambient noise level is expected to be higher than 
experienced at ESR9 and ESR10 as this location is closer to the current 
operations at the Cement works. The distance of ESR11 from the proposed 
development is greater. Therefore, the potential noise impact at ESR11 would 
be less than it is at ESR9 and ESR10, where a minor magnitude of impact is 
predicted.  

 

Page 88



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

501 The sensitivities of ESR9 to ESR11 are low and the magnitude of impact is  
minor. Any impact on users would be temporary while they pass the Works. 
Therefore, the effects of noise during the operational phase of the proposed 
ARM facility on the public rights of way are considered to be negligible.  

 
502 Subject to the proposed condition the EHO has no objection on the grounds 

of operational noise and the proposal is considered acceptable in accordance 
with NPPF paragraph 185 and Development Management Policy DMC14.  

 
503 Rail Noise 

 
504 The proposal seeks the additional importation of ARM to the Works by rail, 

consequently increasing the number of branch line movements to and from 
Earles Sidings and the Works (movements discussed previously in this 
report). It is clear that the increase in movements would generate additional 
noise and it is necessary to assess whether that level of noise constitutes an 
adverse impact upon amenity. 

 
505 The application originally proposed 9 mainline deliveries of ARM to Earles 

Sidings each week, constituting up to 72 branch line movements. The 
proposal has since been revised such that it would allow only 7 mainline 
deliveries and 56 branch line movements. The noise assessment has been 
conducted on the basis of the existing movements associated with the Works 
and the additional proposed movements. Should the proposal be granted, a 
maximum of 7,500 branch line movements could occur per calendar year. 
The impact of those movements upon the properties located along the branch 
line has been considered by the applicant’s assessment and independently by 
the MPA and the EHO as part of the planning application process. 

 
506 Baseline noise surveys were undertaken at Orlecar Cottage (ESR8), the 

closest receptor to the branch line in order to inform the study. The baseline 
assessment consisted of the recording of actual noise levels at Orlecar 
Cottage over a 7 day period in October 2019 with the figures displayed in 
Appendix 13.4 of the applicant’s submission.  

 
507 Noise generated by passing trains is emitted from two sources; the noise of 

the locomotive’s engine and the noise of the locomotive/wagon’s wheels 
running along the rails. Both noise sources have been assessed to best 
understand impacts and implement the most appropriate mitigation to ensure 
effective reduction of noise levels at sensitive receptors. 

 
508 The noise generated from passing trains varies depending on number of 

wagons, quantity of load and type of load. As such the noise levels recorded 
vary considerably with the lowest recorded Sound Exposure Level (SEL) 
being 54dB and the highest 88dB.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
509 Sound exposure levels at receptors along the branch line are displayed in the 

table below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

510 The SEL was then used in combination with the number of existing and 
proposed train movements to calculate a daytime LAeq,16h noise level 
associated with all train passes. 

 
511 The difference in levels between the scenario with only existing train 

movements and the scenario with both existing and proposed train 
movements has been used to provide an indication of the potential noise 
impact of increased train movements in the daytime. Night time impacts have 
not been considered as the proposal would not create additional night time 
movements or push any existing movements into the night time, and this 
would be controlled by condition.  

 
512 The table below displays the predicted noise levels at the receptors should 

the development be implemented and should train movements occur at their 
maximum level. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
 

513 The modelling indicates that there would be a 3dB increase in the SEL LAeq 
16hr at the receptors along the branch line. As previously discussed, 3dB is 
widely considered to be the limit of audible change perceivable to humans. 

 
514 These increased noise levels are considered to ‘remain low and not 

significant’ by the applicant’s consultant and the EHO’s consultation response 
of ‘no objection’ indicates that this level of change is not considered to be of a 
level detrimental to residential amenity that warrants refusal of the application. 

 
515 It is worthy to note that British Standard BS8233: Guidance on sound 

insulation and noise reduction for buildings states “external areas that are 
used for amenity spaces such as gardens and patios, it is desirable that the 
external noise level does not exceed 50dB LAeq. The predicted noise levels 
as a result of the implementation of the proposed development to its 
maximum would result in a noise environment that is below the maximum 
recommended sound levels that should be experienced in gardens as set by 
the relevant British Standard. 

 
516 The predicated noise levels at the receptors are on the basis of a number of 

mitigation measures being implemented along the branch line prior to the 
importation of ARM. The mitigation measures include the removal of the 
points, the smoothing of the bend and the installation of acoustic barriers as 
shown on Figure 13.8 of the applicant’s submission. These measures would 
be required by planning condition as part of a scheme of rail noise mitigation 
measures to be agreed prior to importation of ARM. A further planning 
condition to ensure all movements of ARM are transported in wagons with a 
double-bogie axel is also proposed to further reduce noise/vibration effects. 

 
517 Although the measures proposed would be suitable to reduce and control the 

effects of noise at the receptors, the impact on them as a result of the 
potential additional movements and the location within the National Park is 
recognised by both the MPA and the operator. As such further conditions are 
proposed that seek to commit the operator to maintain the track in 
accordance with the Rail Management Handbook and to investigate the 
viability and effectiveness of further mitigation measures should they prove to 
have a beneficial reduction in noise levels experienced by the receptors. 

 
518 Furthermore it is recommended that the number of train movements along the 

branch line is strictly controlled by planning condition to ensure that the 
resulting noise environment should the application be approved, is 
comparative with the assessments undertaken and the predicted noise levels. 

 
519 Concerns have been raised by the local campaign group HEARD in relation to 

trains moving at excessive speed and the correlation between it and 
increased noise levels. While speed is a possible causation of increased 
sound levels, it is not, in itself the adverse impact on amenity that the planning 
system should be concerned with. The noise and vibration resulting from the 
movements are the effects in question and it has been demonstrated that they 
can be suitably controlled by the mitigation proposals.  

 
 
 

Page 91



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

520 It would be difficult to control the speed of trains by condition and it would not 
meet the tests for planning conditions on the basis that it is not necessary 
(speed not the effect impacting upon amenity) and that it is not enforceable. 
The speed a driver feels it is necessary to travel at is based on a number of 
factors including load, weather/track conditions, gradient and previous 
progression along the line. Thus it is difficult to set a limit that can be adhered 
to consistently. 

 
521 However, a condition is also proposed to require the installation of speed 

monitoring equipment into the locomotives and the required reporting of 
speeds to the MPA so that it can be appropriately monitored. A condition is 
also proposed to ensure the provision of a training programme for train drivers 
with a view to controlling speeds and reducing the effects on receptors.  

 
522 Noise monitoring would be required to be conducted by the operator twice per 

annum at any of the receptors, subject to allowance of access to ensure 
future compliance. The façade noise levels displayed on plan ref: NT141260 
500 Rev A Figure 13.8 would be set as a maximum not to be exceeded by 
planning condition. All conditions can be viewed in Appendix A to this report. 

 
523 A further condition, in relation to vibration levels would also serve to control 

noise and is discussed later in this report. 
 

524 Given the proposed mitigation measures and no objection from the EHO, the 
development is considered acceptable and as such accords with paragraph 
185 of the NPPF and Development Management Policy DMC14.  

 
Rail Vibration 

 
525 It is also necessary to consider the effects increased branch line movements 

could have on both people and structures by way of vibration. 
 

526 British Standard 6472-2:2008 presents a guide to the evaluation of human 
exposure to vibration in buildings. The impact upon humans by way of 
vibration is expressed as Vibration Dose Value (VDV) which is calculated by 
combining the magnitude of vibration and the time for which it occurs. A 
seismograph was placed at Orclecar Cottage during the monitoring exercise 
to measure the vibrations in PPV mm/s (Peak Particle Velocity millimetres per 
second).  

 
527 BS5228-2 indicates that the threshold of human perception is generally 

accepted to  be between a peak particle velocity (PPV) of 0.14 and 
0.3mm/sec. BS5228-2 also indicates that it is likely that vibration of 1.0 mm/s 
in residential environments would cause complaint but can be tolerated if prior 
warning and explanation have been given to residents. The standard also 
indicates that 10 mm/s is likely to be intolerable for any more than a very brief 
exposure to this level. 

 
528 The highest reading recorded when a train passed the monitoring point was 

0.49 PPV mm/s, and as such would be noticeable to anyone present.  
 
 
 
 

Page 92



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

529 BS6472-2 (2008) provides guidance regarding the significance of Vibration 
Dose Value (VDV) within buildings in terms of human response for both 
daytime and night time periods, as detailed in the table below. 

 
 

 

 
530 The PPV mm/s figure of 0.49 has been used against the average length of 

time it took for a train to pass the monitoring point to produce the VDVs which 
are displayed in the table below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

531 It is clear from the VDV figures recorded at the monitoring location that the 
levels of vibration experienced are considered by the British Standard to be of 
a level below that of ‘low probable adverse comment’. 

 
532 In order to ensure these levels of vibration and the VDV are not exceeded, 

and consequently residents are adversely affected, it is proposed to append 
conditions requiring the quarterly monitoring of vibration at Orlecar Cottage 
and set a vibration limit at the monitoring point of PPV 0.60 mm/s which must 
not be exceeded. These conditions would give confidence that the operation 
of the branch line will be comparative to the time the vibration and noise 
assessment were undertaken and ensure residential amenity is not adversely 
affected. 

 
533 In relation to the potential for structural damage of properties, BS5228-2 

suggests that the onset of cosmetic damage is 15mm/sec (15 mm/s at 4 Hz 
increasing to 20 mm/s at 15 Hz for residential or light commercial type 
buildings). Given the PPV recording of 0.49 mm/s relative to the British 
Standard guidance there is sufficient confidence that vibration as a result of 

Page 93



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

rail movements alone would not cause structural damage to property. The 
aforementioned vibration limit and monitoring condition would ensure the 
levels are controlled. 

 
534 Given the proposed measures of control, the proposal accords with paragraph 

185 of the NPPF and development management Policy DMC14 of the 
PDNPA Local Plan. 

 
 

Hope Valley Line/Earles Sidings 
 

535 Deliveries to and from the Works are transported via the branch line to 
Earles Sidings for onward transfer from/to the Hope Valley Railway Line 
that connects Sheffield and Manchester. On average this line has in excess 
of 230 train movements per 24-hour period, and the proposed development 
would add up to a maximum of 7 trains per week (14 movements in and 
out). As such, the increase is not considered to cause a noticeable increase 
in daytime rail noise levels on the Hope valley line. 

 
536 However, there are a number of residential properties on Edale Lane 

(closet approx. 210m away) and a group of properties to the east of the 
sidings between 60 – 210m away which suffer disturbance due to activities 
at the sidings. These disturbances arise from the noise of shunting of 
wagons, sounding of horns, idling of engines and light over spill from the 
rail gantry. 

 
537 It should be noted that the Sidings are outside of the application area and 

are not within land under the applicant’s control. It is therefore not possible 
to control the activities by condition. In addition, the handling of freight at 
the sidings is conducted by a third party company, again outside the control 
of the applicant. The third party is liable to change at the end of any 
contractual operating period and as such a S.106 agreement with a third 
party as a signatory is not appropriate, notwithstanding whether they would 
be willing to enter into an agreement or not. Neither the MPA nor the 
applicant has the power to compel a third party to sign up to a legal 
agreement. 

 
538 In order to best address the effects of activities arising at the sidings it is 

proposed to set up a stand alone liaison committee comprising 
representatives from the local community, the MPA, the cement works 
operator and the freight handler. The liaison meeting will be secured 
through planning condition and S.106 agreement. The committee would be 
required to meet at least bi-annually with a view to discussing and 
arranging environmental mitigation measures to be implemented at the 
sidings. The freight handler have agreed to attend the liaison committee 
meeting and the S.106 agreement would require any future freight handler 
to be contractually required by the Works operator to attend liaison 
committee meetings.  

 
539 Given the current situation this approach is considered to be the most 

effective means of fostering a working relationship between the operators 
and the local community with a view to developing mitigation measures and 
improved working practices at the sidings. The EHO has raised no object 
on the basis of current activities at the sidings given there are no means to 

Page 94



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

address them through this application, but has advocated the creation of 
the new liaison committee. 

 
 

Dust and Air Quality 
 

540 The proposal has the potential to impact upon air quality by way of dust 
generated during construction/demolition, handling of ARM and due to 
vehicle/locomotive emissions during construction and the operational phase 
of the development. These aspects of the scheme must be considered in the 
context of paragraph 185 of the NPPF and Development Management Policy 
DMC14. The applicant has completed a full dust and air quality assessment 
as part of the application submission. 

 
Air Quality 

 
Rail (Human Health) 

 
541 The initial pre-application submission indicated that the applicant intended to 

apply for a mix of both road and rail importation would be applied for.  
However, this was revised for the planning application to be solely rail 
importation of ARM. Rail freight is often encouraged as it is results in fewer 
emissions to air than the higher number of road vehicle movements which 
would be required to transport the same quantity of material. Rail lines also 
often pass through environments where air pollution concentrations are lower, 
and population densities are lower whereas road vehicle movements along A-
roads are likely to add to pollution levels that are already elevated and pass 
more residential properties. 

 
542 Human sensitive receptors along the mainline and branch line have been 

identified as part of the air quality assessment. 
 

543 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) concentrations along the entire length of the rail line 
where it passes through the PDNP would be substantially below 25μg/m3. As 
identified on Figure 12.2 of the applicant’s submission, NO2 concentrations 
are below 15μg/m3 at all identified sensitive receptors, which is below the 
25μg/m3 threshold for assessment set by Local Air Quality Management 
Technical Guidance - LAQM.TG(16). The impact of rail emissions on human 
health is therefore expected to be negligible and no further assessment is 
necessary. 

 
544 Importation by road could occur in emergency rail outage situations. However 

a road vehicle emissions assessment (of NO2) is not required as there would 
generally be no increase in road vehicle emissions arising from material 
importation. Notwithstanding, such situations are considered unlikely and the 
ARM storage building has been designed to afford enough capacity to supply 
the Works with over a weeks’ worth of ARM, meaning any rail outage is likely 
to have been rectified before the need to import ARM by road emerges.  

 
545 It is also not necessary to address road vehicle emissions during the 

construction phase given its short-term temporary nature and the vehicle 
generation is expected to be below the requirement when a detailed 
assessment is considered. This criterion is when more than 100 heavy-duty 
vehicle movements/day are created in a location outside an air quality 
management area as stipulated by Environmental Protection UK ‘Land-use 

Page 95



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

Planning & Development Control: Planning for Air Quality’ 2017. The number 
and frequency of HGV movements would be controlled by the CEMP required 
to be agreed by planning conditions should approval be granted. 

 
546 The EHO has raised no objection to the proposal on the basis of air quality 

and the proposal accords with paragraph 186 of the NPPF. 
 

Rail (Biodiversity) 
 

547 Figure 12.2 of the applicant’s submission shows that the Hope Valley Line 
passes through and close to a number of Ecological designations, including 
ancient woodland, SAC, SPA and SSSI. The Eastern Peak District Moors on 
the edge of Sheffield and the South Pennine Moors to the east of Manchester 
are both Special Protection Area (SPA) and Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) designated.  

 
548 There is no specific guidance in relation to air quality impacts arising from rail 

movements on ecological designations, nor is there any screening criteria 
available. The applicant has used a modified version of the screening criteria 
for road traffic emissions on ecological designations. The applicant’s 
consultant undertook an exercise to compare the emissions for a diesel 
freight train compared with an HGV to inform the study. 

 
549 The screening criteria for road traffic emissions on ecological designations is 

200 HGV / 1,000 AADT movements within 200m of a designation. This 
assumes continuous daily movements on the road network. Over the course 
of a day, there may be numerous road vehicles passing ecological 
designation. The proposed development would generate up to 7 trains per 
week. Train movements to and from the development would be in single 
transient passes and emission release would disperse into the airflow. The 
rail emissions would be released above ground level (4m is expected). It is 
anticipated that emissions of NO2 from 14 train movements per week on the 
main line would be well below emissions of NO2 from 200 HGV / 1,000 AADT. 

 
550 The impact additional rail and highway movements would have in terms of 

additional generation of pollutants to the air is fully considered in the PDNPA’s 
Habitat Regulations Assessment. The HRA found that the transient nature of 
the train movements, low levels of existing pollution and dispersal of NO2 from 
passing locomotives 4m above ground level would not trigger the threshold 
for further assessment. It can therefore be concluded that the minimal 
increase in levels of pollution would not adversely affected any of the 
biodiversity within the railway line assessment buffer area. The PDNPA 
Ecologist has raised no objection on the basis of air quality impacts on 
biodiversity interests.  

 
 

Fine Particulate Matter 
 

551 Guidance indicates that the risk of fine particulate matter effects is considered 
to be possible only when background PM10 concentrations exceed 17μg/m3. 
Background concentrations in the area of Hope Cement works are below 
17μg/m3 and therefore the requirement for a detailed assessment has been 
scoped out in accordance with the IAQM Minerals Guidance. Overall, with site 
specific mitigation measures in place, the dust and fine particulate effects 

Page 96



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

from the operations are not considered to be significant. The EHO has raised 
no objection. 

 
Control of Dust 

 
552 The earthworks and construction and demolition phases of the development 

would give rise to dust emissions. Should dust clouds form within the site they 
may be visible from heritage assets or impact upon their setting, although 
dust itself is non-hazardous and innocuous to the built environment. Dust 
emission could also impact upon the enjoyment of PRoW and the views users 
could appreciate from them. 

 
553 To ensure a visible dust cloud does not form and transient dust does not 

leave the working area a dust management plan has been submitted as part 
of the application submission. The plan includes details of best working 
practices to minimise emissions and dust suppression measures such as 
damping down dry surfaces/material, wet transport of material, sheeting and 
use of mist cannons to arrest escaping particles.  

 
554 There is also potential for dust generation during the operational phase of the 

development due to the handling and storage of ARM. Storage of the ARM 
within the storage building would contain the majority of any transient dust, as 
would the covered conveyors used to transport material. However, the 
handling of material may give rise to air borne dust. Likewise ARM 
transported by rail could also contribute to dust generation. This would be 
appropriately mitigated by the use of sealed or sheeted rail wagons. The dust 
action plan DAP) would be required to be implemented by planning condition. 
The proposed control measures would ensure compliance with development 
management policy DMC14. 

 
Other Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Stack Emissions) 

 
555 Neither Policy CC1 or the NPPF directly refer to greenhouses gases other 

than carbon dioxide. However, other emissions from the stack have the 
potential to contribute to climate change or impact upon human health. The 
plant’s emissions are regulated by the Environmental Permit issued by the 
Environment Agency. The permit set limits for emissions which the Works 
operates within comfortably, other than in relation to Sulphur Dioxide. There is 
the potential for fluctuations in emissions from the stack dependant on kiln 
feed mix, however it is for the Environment Agency to regulate these matters 
and it is not for the planning system to seek to impose controls which are 
enforced through other legislative regimes as prescribed by paragraph 188 of 
the NPPF. Implementation of this proposal would result in a demonstrable 
reduction in sulphur dioxide emissions as required by the Environment 
Agency, which are known to have an adverse impact on the environment due 
to acidification. 

 
Land and Hydrology 

 
Contaminated Land 

 
556 Although almost all of the land proposed for physical development has been 

subject to previous disturbance, the applicant has conducted a Ground 
Investigation Report to ascertain whether there are any potential 

Page 97



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

contaminates present, and if any risk of pollution is likely. 
 

557 The report identified a single localised hotspot of free phase hydrocarbon 
contamination. Although the occurrence is localised, effort should be made 
during the construction phase of the development to ensure that the 
contamination is not left in situ as an ongoing source. There would also be the 
possibility that the localised contamination could be mobilised during the site’s 
redevelopment if appropriate steps are not taken. As such it is proposed to 
append a condition to any approval which requires the submission of a 
scheme detailing the method of handling and removal of the hydrocarbon 
contamination prior to the commencement of operations. A further condition 
would require a verification report demonstrating, that the contamination has 
been removed successfully.  

 
558 Subject to the suggested conditions the proposal would accord with 

paragraph 183 of the NPPF and  development management policy DMC15 of 
the PDNPA Local Plan. 

 
Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
559 The applicant has conducted a flood risk assessment to support the 

application and determine whether the proposal is likely to increase the risk of 
flooding or have an impact upon the water environment. The assessment 
considered, inter-alia, surface water run-off, ground water, fluvial and artificial 
sources. Potential receptors have also been identified and their sensitivity 
categorised.  

 
560 The application site and the wider Works lie within Flood Zone 1 as defined by 

the Environment Agency and represents areas at the lowest risk of flooding. 
This site is at very low risk of flooding with only some minor areas of surface 
water ponding having been identified. 

 
561 The proposed scheme would utilise the existing Hope Works drainage 

infrastructure. The majority of surface water on site is captured in drains or 
surface water sewers that convey water to the east of the site, before 
discharging into a number of unnamed watercourses which flow through and 
are hydraulically linked with four existing ponds. Downstream, these ultimately 
discharge to the Bradwell Brook. 

 
562 A small on-site ‘circulatory system’ where surface water is collected and 

thereafter used within the onsite cooling system is in operation on the wider 
Breedon Cement works site. This system promotes a sustainable means of 
reusing surface water usefully at the site reducing demand on supply from the 
mains. 

 
563 The site has not been identified as being at risk of ground water or sewer 

flood risk, as confirmed by the Lead Local Flood Authority. There are no 
identified risks to human health or potential cumulative effects in regards to 
flood risk or drainage as a result of this proposal. 

 
564 In accordance with the sustainable drainage (SuDS) hierarchy, it is proposed 

to utilise a geocellular storage system within the existing on site drainage 
network to provide on-site attenuation of surface water before it is discharged 
at a maximum rate of 5l/s into the existing drainage network 

Page 98



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

 
565 The drainage design is shown on Plan Ref: BRE WSP XX ZZ SK CV 009 and 

11 in Appendix 9.1 of the applicant’s submission. The drainage scheme has 
been designed to collect surface water in an underground storage tank facility 
that attenuates flow to the ponds on site to a greenfield runoff rate. The 
capacity of storage is designed to accommodate the 1 in 100-year flooding 
event, with an allowance of 40% for climate change. 

 
566 The CEMP which would be required by planning condition would include 

measures to control the potential pollution risks during the construction phase 
of the development. 

 
567 The lead Local Flood Authority have raised no objection to the proposal 

subject to conditions requiring the submission of a surface water management 
plan, surface water discharge in accordance with drainage hierarchy, details 
to avoid surface water run-off during construction and a drainage scheme 
verification report. 

 
568 The proposal, subject to the recommended conditions accords with 

paragraphs 167 and 169 of the NPPF and Policy CC5 of the PDNPA Core 
Strategy. 

 
Socio-economic 

 
569 Hope Cement Works is a significant local employer and contributor to the 

Peak District economy. It represents £61.2m in GVA (Gross Value Added) 
which provides 1.8% of total employment in the Peak District National Park 
and 7.0% of GVA to the PDNP economy. 270 people are directly employed at 
the Works, with local contractors employed where possible. A social club is 
also provided on site for use by employees and members of the local 
community, as well as a golf course. A local catering company provides food 
and refreshments at the club.  

 
570 Direct benefits generated by operation of the site which amount to 202 FTE 

jobs and GVA of approximately £59.0m. Indirect benefits supported in the 
supply chain across the PDNP economy, via the procurement of goods and 
services, especially spending on manufacturing services, other quarrying 
support and repair & maintenance services. These benefits are estimated to 
amount to around 52 additional jobs and £1.7m of GVA.  

 
571 Induced benefits resulted from employees (both those directly employed and 

in the supply chain) spending their wages. These benefits are estimated at 14 
additional jobs and £500,000 of GVA.  

 
572 Community and social impacts resulting from Hope Cement Works 

engagement with the local community either through volunteering time, 
charitable donations and sponsorships, and rental savings from utilising the 
Hope Works Estate. In total these amount to 2 jobs and £59,400 of GVA. 

 
573 The Works as a whole is a significant contributor to the local economy and the 

continued production of cement at the site would preserve the existing 
employment contribution to the Park and associated contractors, local supply 
chains and businesses. A condition is proposed that would require the use of 
local contractors during the construction and demolition phases of 

Page 99



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

development where possible. 
 

Restoration 
 

574 The proposed development is temporary in nature and would be required to 
be removed upon the cessation of mineral extraction and cement production. 
Consent is proposed to be granted until the 22st Feb 2042 and a condition 
would required removal of all buildings and infrastructure granting under the 
consent by 22nd of February 2023 at the latest. 

 
575 Upon removal of buildings and infrastructure the site is to be restored in 

accordance with plan ref: Figure 7.4: Restoration phase plan (BGS Ecology). 
The approved restoration scheme would provide for the creation of neutral 
grassland, scrub and mixed plantation woodland. A condition would require 
the completion of final restoration works by 22nd February 2044 and further 
conditions would require suitable aftercare and management to ensure habitat 
can establish appropriately. The proposed restoration scheme would achieve 
a biodiversity net gain in excess of the statutory 10% required by the 
Environment Act 2021, although the requirement does not come into force 
until 2023. 

 
576 An area of hardstanding in the immediate vicinity of the Works railway sidings 

is proposed for retention and could be utilised for alternative uses in the future 
given its proximity to a potential sustainable travel link. However, the area is 
also included under the wider 1969 Works consent which is subject to its own 
restoration conditions which will outline the final restoration of the site. 
Ultimate restoration and after use will be decided in the context of the 
strategic aims and extant policies of the National Park Authority at the 
appropriate point in the future. 

 
577 The proposed restoration of the site would accord with development 

management policy DMMW5 of the PDNPA Local Plan. 
 

S.106 Heads of Terms 
 

578 The recommendation of approval is subject to a Section 106 legal agreement 
to secure the permanent cessation of the winning and working of minerals 
and the associated manufacture of cement at the wider Works site by 22nd 
February 2042 at the latest. 

 
579 Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states that ‘Local Planning Authorities should 

consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made 
acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations. Planning 
obligations should only be used where it is not possible to address 
unacceptable impacts through a planning condition.’ 

 
580 Allowing the proposed development without the proposed planning obligations 

would effectively allow the preservation of consented on site shale reserves 
and present any potential operator with the opportunity to build a case for the 
ongoing manufacture of cement at the Works beyond 2042 on the basis of the 
remaining on-site reserves. When planning permission was originally granted 
in 1948 and again in 1969, it was on the basis of the Works ceasing to 
operate upon the exhaustion of the on-site raw materials (limestone and 
shale). Allowing importation of ARM without agreeing to the final closure of 

Page 100



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

the Works would be contrary to the intent of the historic permissions at the 
site.  

 
581 Given the Works setting in the National Park’s protected landscape the 

obligation is necessary to ensure the current non-conforming land use does 
not continue for a longer period that necessary to provide for the UK’s need 
for cement, while alternative means of production are realised.  

 
582 The cessation of mineral extraction and cement production could not be 

secured through conditions related to this application given the extant 
planning consent applicable to the wider Works and as such a legal 
agreement is the only means of imposing an end date on the relevant 
consents. 

 
583 This approach accords with the NPPF, policy GSP4 of the Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policy DMH11: Section 106 Agreements in the 
PDNPA Local Plan. 

 
584 Should the Authority be minded to approve the proposal it is recommended 

that it be subject to a Section 106 legal agreement that stipulates the following 
heads of terms: 

 
o No operations consisting of or relating to the winning and working of 

minerals shall take place on the Land after 22 February 2042. 
 

o Development (as defined in section 55(1) of the Act) pursuant to the 1948 
permission, the 1969 Permission and the 2006 Permissions or any 
permission modifying those permissions shall cease on 22 February 2042. 

 
o When the Works have ceased to operate permanently either for the winning 

and working of limestone or clay or shale or for the manufacture, storage 
and delivery of cement, or the importation of ARMs all buildings, plant and 
machinery, for the manufacture, bagging, and delivery of cement or cement 
products, including all chimneys and other structures connected therewith, 
and all plant and machinery for quarrying, and the transporting of 
limestone, clay or shale whether useable or derelict shall be taken down, 
and removed from the site.   

 
o Phased restoration and aftercare shall be completed, in accordance with 

the principles for restoration and aftercare set out in or referred to in the 
2006 Permissions or any plans, drawings or schemes approved by the 
Authority under or by virtue of that planning permission, not later than 5 
years after the cessation of mineral extraction or by 22 February 2047 
whichever is the sooner. 

 
o Total importation of PFA and ARM to Hope Cement Works for use as a 

secondary kiln feed substitute (shale supplement/replacement) shall not 
exceed a total of 450,000 tonnes per annum (wet weight) pursuant to the 
planning permissions granted for the Full EIA Application and the PFA S73 
Application. 

 
o To use reasonable endeavours to ensure the company’s rail freight handler 

attends a regular, standing, liaison meeting with the company, the Authority 
and locally affected residents with a view to facilitating the mitigation of 

Page 101



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

noise and disturbance arising from activities at Earles Sidings. 
 

 Upon entering into a new contract with any freight handler, for the 
operation of rail freight to and from the Land, the Owner shall require: 
i. regular attendance by the freight handler at the Liaison Committee for 

the life of the contract  
ii. that said freight handler shall agree to use reasonable endeavours to 

reduce noise and disturbance arising from activities at Earles Sidings.  
iii. the Owner shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that the 

freight handler performs such contractual requirements] 
 

Conclusion 
 

585 The determination of this complex planning proposal will have considerable 
implications for the future of the Works as one of the Park’s strategically 
important sites and will have an effect on the economy, society and the 
environment. 

 
586 In reaching a recommendation, all of these matters have been given full 

consideration during the planning process. There have been no objections 
received from any specialist statutory bodies or any internal expert consultees 
subject to the conditions proposed to be appended to any consent the 
Authority may be minded to grant. 

 
587 The positive resolution, in some cases with suitable mitigation, of effects on 

matters relating to the topic areas covered in the report allow for officer 
support of the scheme and present no technical grounds for a 
recommendation of refusal. 

 
588 The basis of the Authority’s decision should therefore be taken in relation to 

the application of relevant planning policy and the strategic vision for the 
Works and the Park itself into the future. 

 
589 Interpretation and compliance with Policy CC1 of the Core Strategy is 

discussed in detail earlier in this report. When weighing all material matters 
including viable alternatives to the proposal in the planning balance, it is 
officer opinion that allowing the production of cement to continue at Hope 
Works on the basis of the importation of ARM for a further 20-year period, is 
the most environmentally sustainable way of meeting the UK’s demand for 
cement over that period of time. The increased carbon footprint due to 
importation of ARM by rail is an obvious negative impact upon on climate 
change. However alternatives are considered to present outcomes that would 
produce greater CO2 emissions due to the need to import cement from 
outside the UK in the short/medium term due to existing domestic production 
capacity and the utilisation of additional raw materials for the construction of a 
new cement works, consumption of virgin mineral as opposed to secondary 
materials and its transportation to any new facility for manufacture. It is also 
reasonable to expect reductions in CO2 emissions from the plant as a whole 
given the industries efforts to decarbonise to meet national climate change 
targets. 

 
590 The utilisation of secondary materials for use in the cement manufacture 

process is more sustainable than the utilisation of virgin won minerals. It is 
also considered pragmatic to allow the utilisation of the remaining viable on-

Page 102



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

site shale reserves and consented limestone reserves given their existence 
and proximity to the cement plant. 

 
591 The importation of ARM by rail is a sustainable means of transport and would 

result in lower CO2 emissions compared to transport by road and has the 
benefit of taking HGV movements off the road network avoiding conflict with 
other road users and improving air quality. 

 
592 The 1969 consent is conditioned such that upon the cessation, inter-alia, of 

shale/clay extraction the cement manufacture process must cease and the 
site be restored. It could be considered that once useable on-site shale 
reserves are depleted, the condition is triggered. However, the condition is not 
as prescriptive. It is also worthy to note that the remaining reserves could 
have been utilised in conjunction with the extant consent for the importation of 
supplementary PFA if it were not for the requirements of the Environment 
Agency for the plant to reduce its SO2 emissions.  

 
593 Given the UK’s need for continuity of cement supply, the consented reserves 

on-site and the extant consent for the Works, it is considered pragmatic and 
sustainable to allow importation of ARM to supplement/replace the high 
sulphur shale allowing cement manufacture to continue whilst reducing SO2 

emissions. 
 

594 As previously discussed, an open-ended permission would not be considered 
acceptable by the PDNPA as it would allow the nonconforming use of the site 
as a cement works to continue longer than is necessary. The 
recommendation is therefore subject to the aforementioned legal agreement 
that requires the cessation of all mineral extraction and cement production by 
22nd February 2042 at the latest and the subsequent restoration of the site. 

 
595 This approach strikes a balance between allowing the operator certainty of 

supply of secondary kiln feed material for a period of up to 20 years and gives 
the PDNPA certainty, as far as is possible, that operations at the Works would 
cease in 2042 at the latest. The PDNPA has never before been in the position 
of certainty as to the life of the Works. Issuing a consent with the S.106 
obligation provides that certainty and a means of influencing the future of the 
site.  

 
596 The proposed 2042 end date aligns with the end dates imposed upon mineral 

operations granted before 1982 by the Town & Country Planning (Minerals) 
Act 1981. However, should on-site limestone reserves be exhausted before 
2042, the Works would be required to be removed and restored in 
accordance with the provisions of the extant 1969 planning consent and as 
specified in the Section 106 agreement attached to this permission should 
consent be granted. 

 
597 Notwithstanding, the certainty of an ultimate end of operations at the Works 

by 22nd February 2042 allows for the PDNPA to plan effectively for the future 
of the site beyond that date.  

 
598 The closure of the Works, its removal and restoration would result in a 

significant alteration to the visual landscape of the Hope Valley. The Works 
has been in existence since before the formation of the National Park and its 
presence, although providing a vital role in the local and national economy 

Page 103



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

   
 

has long been in conflict with the core purposes of the Park. Many of the 
impacts of the Works on the landscape, environment and local community 
have been mitigated to an extent through the co-operation of the current 
operator, but ultimately the operation, by its very nature, is a land use 
incompatible with the purposes of the Park which should be removed at an 
appropriate point in time.  

 
599 It is considered that 2042 is the appropriate time for the cessation of 

operations at the Works the reasons explained in this report and securing an 
end date is a significant point in the history of the Peak District National Park 
Authority. This resolution would allow for the PDNPA to meet its strategic 
aims and objectives in the future, whilst allowing the continued sustainable 
production of cement at the Works in the medium term to meet the UK’s 
demand. 

 
600 It is for these reasons, after weighing all material planning considerations in 

the balance, that the proposal is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions and a S.106 legal agreement. 

 
Human Rights 

 
601 Any human rights issues have been considered and addressed in the 

preparation of this report. 
 
 

602 List of Background Papers (not previously published) 
 

603 Appendix A (Draft Conditions) 
 

604 Report author: Tom Evans, Strategic Planning Manager 

 

Page 104



 

 

Appendix A - Hope ARM Conditions 

General Principles 

Compliance with Approved Details 

1. Unless modified or required by other conditions attached to this permission, the 

development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved plans and 

documents submitted with the application, comprising the following: 

Figure 2.1 General Site Location  

Figure 2.2 Location Plan  

Figure 6.44 Proposed Landscape Plan  

70056391-52-1210-A1 Issue 02 Cut and Fill Exhibit for Proposed Material Storage Building  

70056391-52-1211-A1 Issue 02 Cut and Fill Sections for Material Storage Building 

70056391-54-0001-A1 Issue 02 Existing Site Layout  

70056391-54-0002-A1 Issue 02 Proposed Site Layout  

70056391-54-0003-A1 Issue 02 Building 01 - Rail Off-loading Facility - General Arrangement  

70056391-54-0004-A1 Issue 02 Building 01 - Rail Off-loading Facility – N&W Elevations  

70056391-54-0005-A1 Issue 02 Building 01 - Rail Off-loading Facility – S&E Elevations  

70056391-54-0006-A1 Issue 02 Building 01 - Rail Off Loading Building – Sections  

70056391-54-0007-A1 Issue 02 Building 02 - Off-Loading Building Link to Conveyor CV01  

70056391-54-0008-A1 Issue 01 Buildings 03-07 - Conveyor CV01 - General Arrangement  

70056391-54-0009-A1 Issue 02 Building 04 - CV01-ST1 - Southern Access Stairs  

70056391-54-0010-A1 Issue 02 Building 06 - CV01-ST2 - Northern Access Stairs  

70056391-54-0011-A1 Issue 02 Building 08 - Transfer Tower TT01 - General Arrangement  

70056391-54-0012-A1 Issue 02 Building 08 - Transfer Tower TT01 - Elevations  

70056391-54-0013-A1 Issue 02 Building 08 - Transfer Tower TT01 - Sections  

70056391-54-0014-A1 Issue 02 Building 09 - General Arrangement Ground  

70056391-54-0015-A1 Issue 02 Building 09 - Material Storage and Unloading Facility - 

General Arrangement Conveyor and Roof Level Plans  

70056391-54-0016-A1 Issue 02 Building 09 - Material Storage and Unloading Facility - 

General Arrangement - Elevations Sheet 1 of 2  

70056391-54-0017-A1 Issue 02 Building 09 - Materials Storage and Unloading Facility - 

General Arrangement Elevations Sheet 2 of 2  

70056391-54-0018-A1 Issue 01 Building 09 - Materials Storage and Unloading Facility - 

General Arrangement Sections  

70056391-54-0019-A1 Issue 02 Building 10 - Reclaim Feeder FD02 Conveyor CV10 - Plan 

and Elevations  

Page 105



 

 

70056391-54-0020-A1 Issue 02 Building 11 - Surge Bin B001 - General Arrangement Plans  

70056391-54-0021-A1 Issue 02 Building 11 - Surge Bin B001 - Elevations  

70056391-54-0022-A1 Issue 02 Building 11 - Surge Bin B001 - General Arrangement 

Sections  

70056391-54-0023-A1 Issue 02 Building 12 - Power and Controls Building - Elevation and 

Section  

70056391-55-3202-A1 Issue 03 Electrical Services - External Lighting - Site Layout  

BRE-WSP-XX-ZZ-SK-CV-009 Rev P06 Indicative Proposed Surface Water Drainage 

Strategy 

 

Availability of Plans 

2. From the commencement of the development until its removal a copy of this 

permission including all approved plans and documents shall always be kept 

available at the Works office for inspection. 

Timescales 

Commencement 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within 3 years from the date 

of this permission. 

Duration of Planning Permission and Removal of Development 

4. The importation of Alternative Raw Materials (ARM) to the Works shall cease on the 

22 February 2042. 

 

5. All buildings and infrastructure approved under this consent shall cease to operate on 

the 22 February 2042, or upon the permanent cessation of the winning and working 

of minerals at either the Works Limestone or Shale Quarries, or upon the permanent 

cessation of the production of cement, or upon the permanent cessation of the 

importation of ARM, whichever is the sooner, and will be dismantled and removed 

from the site by 22 February 2044 or within 2 years of the permanent cessation of 

one of the aforementioned operations, whichever is the sooner. 

Notifications 

6. The operator shall notify the MPA in writing of the permanent cessation of the 

importation of ARM within 7 days of the cessation of the activity. 

Restoration 

7. The application site shall be restored in accordance with plan ref: Figure 7.4 no later 

than the 22 February 2044, or within 2 years of the  permanent cessation of the 

winning and working of minerals at either the Works Limestone or Shale Quarries, or 

upon the permanent cessation of the production of cement, or upon the permanent 

cessation of the importation of ARMs, whichever is the sooner. 

Definition and Use of ARMs 

Definition of ARMs 

Page 106



 

 

8.  For the purposes of this consent Alternative Raw Materials (ARM) are defined as 

follows: ‘Materials that are wastes or by-products in other (mainly industrial) 

processes or societal sectors i.e. ‘secondary materials’, imported to the Works solely 

for the purpose of use as a shale substitute in the raw kiln feed mix’.  

Material Types 

9. For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding the definition of ARMs specified by 

condition 8 and the specification of ARMs defined by conditions 10, 11, 12 and 13, 

materials permitted for importation are restricted to the following, unless prior 

agreement has been obtained, in writing, from the MPA: 

- Coal ash (PFA) - conditioned, dry & processed. 

- Quarry process fines & washings (Only to include waste derived from slate, shale 

and / or clays) 

- Quarry process over and inter burden (Only to include waste derived from slate, 

shale and / or clays) 

- Blast furnace slag 

- Biomass Ash 

- Bottom ash 

- Waste ceramic material 

- Lime waste  

- Used foundry sand 

- Secondary iron oxide 

- Alumina - containing materials (not including primary minerals containing 

alumina) 

- Iron containing materials (not including primary minerals containing iron) 

- Mill scale 

- Gypsum 

- Waste from stone cutting and sawing (not including limestone waste without prior 

agreement of the MPA) 

- Waste ceramics bricks, tiles 

 

Material Specification 

10. All ARMs permitted for importation under this consent must meet the following 

specification as defined by the Environmental Permit: 

 

 
 

 

11. The mean average of CaO content within all ARM imported to site in any calendar 

year shall not exceed 3% Ca expressed as CaO. Annual records of CaO importation 

Page 107



 

 

levels shall be kept by the operator and provided to the MPA on the 22nd February 

each year. 

 

12. All ARM permitted for importation under this consent must meet the criteria in the 

submission document ‘Specification for PFA Sources to Breedon Cement, Hope 

Works’ dated 04/04/2022. 

 

13. There shall be no importation of primary aggregates, industrial aggregates or virgin 

won minerals of any kind under this consent. 

Restrictions on Importation 

Quantities  

14. The maximum quantity of ARMs (including PFA – conditioned, dry or processed) 

imported to the Works shall not exceed a combined total of 450,000 tonnes per 

annum wet weight or 361,000 tonnes per annum dry weight. 

Precluded Materials 

15. For the avoidance of doubt, the following materials are precluded from importation 

under this consent 

- Soils 

- Silica sand containing materials (sands) 

- Calcium sources including FGD material 

- Concrete waste 

- Pyrite ash 

Mode of Importation 

16. The ARM shall not be brought into the Works other than by rail, except in the event of 

an emergency (such as prolonged railway breakdowns or other impediment to rail 

deliveries that exceed the life of the ARM contingency storage), the details of which 

shall be notified to the Mineral Planning Authority I writing within 7 days of the start of 

the emergency event. 

Rate of Importation relative to Storage Capacity 

17. ARMs shall not be imported into the Works at a rate in excess of the available 

approved storage capacity (holding and throughput facilities including silos and other 

storage building) save for ARMs held in standing railway wagons. There shall be no 

open storage whether sheeted or otherwise of ARM within the Works and the Works 

Limestone and Shale Quarries. 

Reporting 

18. The operator shall keep a continuous record of all ARMs imported to site, including 

material types, any known chemical specification, quantity (dry and wet weights) and 

status (i.e. conditioned, dry or processed). Monthly records are to be made available 

to the MPA upon request on a confidential basis.  

 

19. An annual report summarising all importation that has occurred over the preceding 

12 months to December must be produced and provided to the MPA by the 31 March 

each year on a confidential basis. The report shall include: 

- monthly and annual totals of ARM imported to the Works 

Page 108



 

 

- the total imports of each material type  

- annual input/throughput of ARM into the cement manufacturing process as a 

partial shale replacement at kiln feed stage 

- ratios at which the ARM have been blended with indigenous site won shale 

before being fed into the kiln 

Landscape 

Enhancements 

 

20. The removal of the overhead electricity lines as shown on plan ref: NT14126-100-3.3 

and their undergrounding shall be completed prior to the operation of the ARMs 

Storage Building. 

Mitigation 

21. A Landscape Environmental Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to the 

MPA prior to the commencement of construction of the ARMs storage building, for 

approval in writing. The plan shall include: 

- proposals for enhanced screening/planting on Haywood Hill 

- proposals for enhanced screening/ planting along the branch line 

- proposals for additional  planting within the Works complex 

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details in the first 

appropriate available planting season. 

22. Trees, shrubs and hedges planted in accordance with the approved scheme shall be 

maintained and any plants which at any time during the development period die, are 

removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 

planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in 

writing with the Mineral Planning Authority. 

Colour Scheme 

23. All buildings and conveyors consented under this development shall be finished in 

Olive-green BS 4800/ BS 4904/ BS5252 code 12.B.29. 

Rail Movements 

Definition of ‘Movement’ for the avoidance of doubt - A ‘movement’ is defined as a single 

transit of a locomotive, without or without wagons, from either Earles Sidings or the 

Works onto the branch line.  

ARMs Deliveries 

24. There shall be no more than 7 mainline rail deliveries of ARMs imported to the 

application site per calendar week. 

25. Branch line MovementsThere shall be no more than 56 total branch line movements 

associated with the importation of ARM per calendar week. 

 

26. There shall be no more than 7,500 total movements along the branch line in any one 

calendar year. 

 

27. The movement of Alternative Raw Material (ARM) into Hope Works by rail shall be 

made using wagons with a double bogie arrangement. 

Page 109



 

 

Hours of Operation 

26 The movement of Alternative Raw Material (ARM) into Hope Works by rail, the return 

of ARM wagons to the Earles Sidings, or the movement of Locos (with or without 

wagons) associated with the collection or return of ARM wagons (from or to the 

Earles Sidings shall be prohibited between 2300hrs to 0700hrs unless subject to prior 

approval by the planning authority in an emergency situation. 

 

27 No existing branch line movements that currently occur during the 0700 – 2300 time 

period shall be displaced by proposed movements such that they would have to 

occur during the 2300-0700 time period. 

 

Record Keeping 

28 The operator shall keep a daily log of all branch line movements to include: 

- Time of departure 

- Number of wagons (full and empty) 

- Type of material transported 

The records shall be made available to the MPA upon request. 

Branch line Mitigation Measures 

Noise/Vibration 

29 Prior to the first importation of ARMs, the operator shall implement a scheme of noise 

management measures to be agreed in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority, this 

shall include details for:  

- implementation of a branch line speed monitoring system to allow review of train 

speed and its impact on noise and vibration levels.  

- Improvements to the existing branch line to include smoothing of the bend, 

welding of track and removal of points, as shown on Figure 13.7A in the 

Environmental Statement  

- Implementation of acoustic fencing as shown on plan ref: NT14126 500 Figure 

13.8 Rev A. 

 

30 Within 12 months of the date of this consent the operator shall submit to the MPA a 

study examining the potential benefits to residential amenity that could arise from the 

installation of further noise reduction measures  along the branch line. Should the 

results of the study suggest a reduction in noise at any of the  sensitive receptors  the 

operator shall submit a further scheme and timetable for the implementation of the 

additional mitigation to the MPA for approval in writing.  The scheme shall be 

implemented by the operator in accordance with the approved details and timetable. 

 

31 The operation and maintenance of the branch line shall be carried out in accordance 

with the Rail Management Handbook submitted as part of the application submission 

and any future updated iterations.  

 

32 Prior to the first importation of ARMs, the operator shall submit a locomotive driver 

training scheme to the MPA for approval in writing. The approved scheme shall be 

implemented in accordance with the details and timetable to be agreed. 

 

Page 110



 

 

33 Prior to the importation of ARMs, the operator shall submit a scheme for the  

monitoring of vibration caused by branch line movements at ‘Orlecar Cottage’  on a 

quarterly basis  to the MPA for approval in writing.  The scheme shall include: 

- Monitoring location(s) 

- Length  of monitoring period 

- Means of collecting vibration data 

- Means of reporting vibration data to the MPA 

 

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details for the life 

of consent subject to access being granted by the land owner, unless otherwise 

agreed in writing with the MPA. 

 

34 No rail movements along the branch line shall result in a PPV value reading in 

excess of 0.6 mm/s when measured from the agreed monitoring point at ‘Orlecar 

Cottage’. 

 

35 Noise levels (LAeq dB) indicated at the façade points on plan ref:  NT14126 500 

Figure 13.8 Rev A shall not be exceeded during operation of the branch line. 

 

36 Noise monitoring shall be conducted by the operator, at their expense, no more often 

than twice annually, at any of the façade points referenced on plan ref: NT141260 

500 Figure 13.8 (provided that access is made possible by the residents) at the 

request of the MPA and in accordance with a scheme to be agreed in writing with the 

MPA.  The results of the noise monitoring are to be reported to the MPA in writing at 

the end of the monitoring period. 

Earles Sidings 

Investigation into activities 

37 The operator will use their best endeavours to investigate operational practices at 

Earles Sidings to determine if noise levels from the engines can be mitigated at 

source with the aim of reducing noise levels emanating from activities at Earles 

Sidings. 

Liaison Committee 

38 Prior to the first importation of ARM under this consent, the operator shall facilitate 

the creation of a liaison committee for the purpose of constructive discussion in 

regards to impacts upon amenity arising from activities at Earles Sidings. The ‘Earles 

Sidings Liaison Committee’ shall meet no less than 2 times during each calendar 

year during the life of this consent, unless otherwise agreed by the committee.  

 

Conveying and Storage Facility 

39 Prior to the proposal first being brought into operation, the applicant shall implement 

a scheme of noise mitigation measures to the extraction unit on the raw meal silo as 

identified in paragraph 13.5.8 of the Noise and Vibration Assessment 

(NT14126/EIA/2/013A, December 2021), to achieve a reduction in noise emissions 

so that noise levels at Pindale Farm (SK 16262 82545) meet the criteria of 55dB 

LAeq,1hour daytime (free field), and 42dB LAeq,1hour (free field) at night time , Validation that this 

has been achieved shall be submitted to the MPA for approval prior to first operation 

Page 111



 

 

of the proposal. Monitoring shall be carried out twice per calendar year subject to 

access being granted by the land owner. 

Demolition and Construction  

CEMP 

40 Prior to the commencement of development the operator shall submit a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) to the MPA for approval in writing. The 

CEMP shall include measures to minimise emissions of dust and noise during 

construction works, a construction timetable and vehicle movement forecasts and 

controls.  The development shall be implemented in full accordance with the CEMP 

once approved. 

Dust 

41 There shall be no visible dust emissions beyond the site boundary associated with 

construction/demolition works undertaken at the site.  In controlling dust on site, the 

contractor shall have due regard to the Institute of Air Quality Management Guidance 

on the assessment of dust from demolition and construction, 2014. 

Construction & Demolition Hours of Operation 

42 Unless prior permission has been obtained in writing from the Local Planning 

Authority, all noise-generating activities shall be restricted to the following times of 

operations.  

-07:00 - 18:00 hours (Monday to Friday);  

- 08:00 - 14:00 hours (Saturday)  

- No working is permitted on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 

Piling 

43 No piling shall take place outside the hours 09:00 hours to 16:00 hours Mondays to 

Fridays. 

Deliveries 

44 Rail deliveries importing construction materials/equipment shall not exceed more 

than 1 per day and shall not push existing deliveries to the Works into night time 

(2300 – 0700) hours. 

 

Use of Local Contractors 

45 Contractors and companies based within a 15 mile radius of the application site will 

be selected to carry out construction and demolition work associated with the 

development if available.  Such contractors shall meet the Operator’s standard 

selection criteria. 

Amenity 

Dust 

46 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details in the Dust 

Action Plan (September 2020) submitted in support of the application.  

 

Page 112



 

 

47 All  road going vehicles transporting ARMs to the site shall be sheeted to avoid 

shedding of load or dispersal of dust.  ARM in incoming rail wagons shall be treated 

with a polymer sealant, or contained by any alternative means as necessary to 

prevent fugitive dust . 

Plant Noise 

48 The operator shall submit a scheme for noise monitoring prior to the operation of the 

ARM storage building to be agreed in writing with MPA prior to the monitoring 

activity.  This scheme shall be implemented and results of the noise monitoring are to 

be reported to the MPA in writing within 4 weeks of the monitoring. 

Lighting 

49 Lighting Scheme to be implemented in accordance with plan ref: 70056391-55-3202-

A1 Issue 03 Electrical Services - External Lighting - Site Layout 

Ecology 

Habitat Enhancement and Creation 

50 Prior to the use of the ARM storage building, the habitat enhancements and creation 

measures as detailed in Figure 7.5: Habitat enhancement and creation (rev a) 

22.04.22 (BSG Ecology) shall be substantially implemented and then completed in 

the in the next available seeding/ planting season after operational use of the 

buildings. 

 

51 Prior to the use of the ARM Storage Building the operator shall submit an aftercare 

scheme to the MPA for approval in writing.  The scheme shall include measures to 

ensure habitat enhancement and creation measures are successful and establish 

successfully to provide biodiversity net gain. 

 

52 One great crested newt hibernaculum will be provided off-site within the golf course 

grounds in a suitable location for the benefit of the great crested newt population 

associated with Pond 1 (P1), details to be identified in the CEMP/LEMP documents as 

appropriate. 

 

53 Habitat piles shall be created from timber obtained from felled trees to accommodate 

the proposed development and be constructed within the retained woodland within and 

immediately off-site. These will provide additional habitat for small mammals such as 

hedgehog, a Species of Principal Importance, and other wildlife. The location of the 

habitat piles shall be detailed in the CEMP/LEMP documents. 

 

54 Areas of habitat associated with the decommissioning of the storage facility and rail 

sidings, as shown on Figure 4 of the BSG Ecological Report shall be created within 2 

years of decommission. 

 

55 All habitat created, as shown on Figure 7.4 Rev A and 7.5 Rev A of the 

Environmental Statement, shall be managed and maintained as identified in the 

CEMP/LEMP for a minimum of 30 years after their creation. 

 

Page 113



 

 

56 All habitat enhancement and creation measures are subject to a 5 year aftercare 

period, should any of the proposed biodiversity enhancements be unsuccessful, 

continued attempts will be made to establish them unless an alternative means of on 

site biodiversity enhancement/creation is agreed in writing with the MPA. 

 

57 The habitat enhancement/creation measures will be subject to an annual aftercare 

meeting for a period of 5 years commencing on date to be agreed by the MPA. The 

operator will provide an annual aftercare report prior to the meeting detailing the 

works undertaken thus far and works proposed for the forthcoming 12 month period. 

 

LEMP 

 

58 Prior to the commencement of development the operator  shall submit a Landscape 

and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) for the areas shown in Figure 7.5 Rev A to 

the MPA for approval in writing. The scheme shall be implemented fully in 

accordance with the approved details and timescales. 

 

59 Biodiversity net gain enhancements secured through this permission will be subject 

to the LEMP to be implemented throughout the life of the development herby 

permitted. 

 

Trees 

 

60 Protection of retained trees shall be provided with protective fencing positioned 

outside their RPA or crown spreads, whichever is greater. The tree protective fencing 

shall be as detailed in Appendix 4. The fencing shall be installed prior to any other 

work taking place and shall remain in place until all other work is completed. 

 

61 Trees removed from the wooded area shall be used to create habitat/brash  piles and 

new refuge areas for a wide range of wildlife in other areas of the quarry holdings. 

Locations to be agreed in writing with the MPA prior habitat creation. 

 

Birds 

 

62 Removal of potential nesting habitat shall take place between late August and mid-

February.  Any potential nesting habitat removed outside this period shall be checked 

for active bird nesting activity by a suitably experienced ecologist.  Where active bird 

nests are present works in that area shall be postponed until birds fledge. 

 

63 Ten bird nest boxes will be installed on retained broadleaved trees within the 

woodland (either on or immediately off-site) to provide additional habitat for 

woodland bird species. A selection of boxes will be chosen to provide habitat for a 

range of species. The location, positioning and maintenance requirements of the bat 

roost and bird nest boxes will be identified in the CEMP/LEMP documents as 

appropriate. 

 

Supervision 

 

64 Areas of ballast requiring disturbance in proximity to Pond 1 will be supervised by an 

attendant ecologist. 

Page 114



 

 

 

65 Pre-construction walkover survey for badgers shall be undertaken of the working 

footprint.  The survey shall be undertaken within three months in advance of 

construction to allow sufficient time for the survey and any necessary licence 

application to be made to and granted by Natural England.  Additional surveys to be 

undertaken immediately prior to construction as recommended by the advising 

ecologist. 

 

66 Immediately prior to works a pre- construction inspection for bats shall be undertaken 

by and appropriately experienced ecologist. 

Bats 

67 Prior to the operation of the ARM Storage Building the operator shall install eight bat 

boxes at suitable locations in other areas of the quarry holdings. Design and 

locations to be agreed in writing with the MPA prior to installation. The location, 

positioning and maintenance requirements of the bat roost and bird nest boxes will 

be identified in the CEMP/LEMP documents as appropriate. 

 

68 All luminaries used in the lighting scheme for the development shall be LEDs. 

 

69 A warm lighting spectrum shall be used in all approved lighting within the site to reduce 

the blue light component. 

 

70 All luminaries shall feature peak wavelengths higher than 55nm to avoid the 

component of light most disturbing to bats. 

 

71 External fixed lighting shall be used for short duration during inspections and no more 

than 30 minutes per night shift except in the case of emergencies. 

 

Climate Change 

CO2 Reductions 

72 The operator shall make all best and reasonable endeavours to reduce the carbon 

footprint of the Works when the opportunities arise. 

CO2 Reporting 

73 Annual records of CO2 emissions arising from the Works shall be provided to the 

MPA no later than the 31st March each year.  The records shall include a breakdown 

of emission from the stack and transportation of materials to the Works by road and 

rail.  This data shall be kept confidential. 

Contamination 

74 Prior to any part of the permitted development being brought into use a remediation 

strategy to deal with the identified free phase hydrocarbon hotspot on site should be 

submitted to the MPA for approval in writing along with a verification plan providing 

details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out 

in the remediation strategy are complete.  

 

Page 115



 

 

75 A verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved 

contamination remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be 

submitted to the MPA for approval in writing.  The report shall include results of 

sampling carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to 

demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met. 

 

76 If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 

at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 

local planning authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how 

this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to, and approved in writing 

by, the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as 

approved. 

 

Flood Risk/Drainage 

77 No development shall take place until a detailed design and associated management 

and maintenance plan of the surface water drainage for the site, have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral Planning Authority in accordance 

with the principles outlined within:  

- a. Flood Risk Assessment for Breedon Hope Cement Works, by WSP, file ref: 

70056391- FRA-001 Rv7, May 2020. Including any subsequent amendments or 

updates to those documents as approved by the Flood Risk Management Team”  

- b. And DEFRA’s Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage 

systems (March 2015) 

 

78 No development shall take place until a detailed assessment has been provided to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to demonstrate that the 

proposed destination for surface water accords with the drainage hierarchy as set out 

in paragraph 80 reference ID: 7-080-20150323 of the planning practice guidance. 

 

79 Prior to commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit for approval 

to the MPA details indicating how additional surface water run-off from the site will be 

avoided during the construction phase.  The applicant may be required to provide 

collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows.  The approved 

system shall be operating to the satisfaction of the LPA, before the commencement 

of any works, which would lead to increased surface water run-off from site during 

the construction phase. 

 

80 Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report carried out by a 

qualified drainage engineer must be submitted to and approved by the Mineral 

Planning Authority. This must demonstrate that the drainage system has been 

constructed as per the agreed scheme (or detail any minor variations), provide the 

details of any management company and state the national grid reference of any key 

drainage elements (surface water attenuation devices/areas, flow restriction devices 

and outfalls). 

Page 116



 Title: Hope Cement Works, Hope

 Grid Reference:
 Application No:
 Item Number:

 Committee Date:

 416598, 382456
 NP/HPK/1020/0929

 Item 5
 05/08/2022

1:4500

Location PlanLocation Plan

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

6.    FULL APPLICATION -  DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING STRUCTURES ON SITE, THE 
ERECTION OF A NEW RESIDENTIAL DWELLING, WORKS OF HARD AND SOFT 
LANDSCAPING, INSTALLATION OF PACKAGE TREATMENT PLANT AND OTHER WORKS 
INCIDENTAL TO THE APPLICATION PROPOSALS AT NEWLANDS FARM, COPLOW DALE, 
LITTLE HUCKLOW (NP/DDD/0621/0670, SPW) 
 

APPLICANT: MR B SIMPSON AND MS K ALLEN 
 
Summary 
 

1. The application relates to a proposal to the erection of an open market dwelling in a 
location in the open countryside, outside a designated settlement. The justification 
advanced for the proposal is that it would result in significant enhancement of a site with 
a long history of untidy and derelict buildings and the storage of scrap.  
 

2. This report concludes that the proposed development is in conflict with Core Strategy 
policies GSP1, DS1, HC1, and L1 because the proposal is for the erection of an open 
market dwelling in a relatively isolated and unsustainable location in the open countryside, 
not within or near to a designated settlement. Whilst the proposals would result in the 
removal of unsightly building, with some benefit to the landscape, this is not considered to 
outweigh the strong national and local policy presumption against new dwellings in the 
countryside. The proposed development would therefore not represent sustainable 
development within the National Park contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Site and Surroundings 
 

3. The site is located in Coplow Dale, to the west of the B6049 Bradwell to Tideswell Road 
and east of Washbottom Lane, which runs between Anchor crossroads, near Tideswell, 
and Pindale Road, Castleton. The village of Little Hucklow lies to the south. The site is to 
the south of the road which runs through the small collection of buildings in Coplow Dale. 
Access to the site is directly off this road.  
 

4. The site includes a number of agricultural buildings, most of which are in a poor condition. 
The site and buildings comprise the following:  
 

• An agricultural building with stone walls and window openings remaining, attached 
to a stone barn (formerly two storey) and a lean-to with sheet roof.  

• A concrete framed former livestock shed (15.3m x 10.52m). The building is used 
for machinery and general storage of machinery. The building has a concrete floor 
and a separate side store which was formerly the dairy.  

• A large static caravan.  
• A two-bay pole barn with a concrete floor and walls being a former silage pit but 

used as a hay store.  
• A machinery Store (11.9m x 6.8m), concrete block with tin sheeting above and to 

the roof.  
• Various redundant barns. 

 
5. It is understood that until its recent purchase by the applicants, the property had been 

owned by the same family for over 100 years and has been operated as a working farm 
up to recent years served by Newlands Farmhouse, the nearest dwelling lying some 85m 
to the north east which was sold as a separate lot when the land and farm buildings were 
sold recently at auction. It is understood that a historic farmhouse within the building group 
was demolished over 100years ago, and the residential use moved to the current 
Newlands Farmhouse to the north-east of the application site. This neighbouring house 
falls outside of the ownership of the current applicants. The land in the applicants’ 

Page 119

Agenda Item 6.����



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

ownership, edged blue on the submitted plan, includes the four fields which lie to the south 
and west of the buildings. 
 

6. The site is not within a Conservation Area and there are no listed buildings on or near the 
site. 

 
Proposal  
 

7. The application is for the demolition of the existing structures on site, the erection of a new 
open market dwelling, works of hard and soft landscaping, installation of package 
treatment plant and other works incidental to the application proposals. 
 

8. The application is accompanied by a Design and Access Statement, a Heritage Statement, 
a Landscape and Visual Appraisal (LVA), a Bat Roost and Barn Owl Appraisal Survey 
Report, with a covering letter which sets out planning policies and draws the key 
conclusions of these reports together. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the application be REFUSED on the following grounds: 

 
1. 
 
 
 

 
 
2. 

 

The application site is in an unsustainable location in the open countryside, 
outside a designated settlement. The erection of an unrestricted, open market 
dwelling in this location would be contrary to Core Strategy policies GSP1, 
GSP3, DS1, HC1, and L1. The development would result in a dwelling with no 
essential functional need and no functional relationship to the land.  
 
The location and separation of the proposed dwelling from the hamlet of 
Coplow Dale, coupled with the scale, massing and design, do not represent an 
enhancement of the quality and significance anticipated by policy. The harm 
resulting is not outweighed by the benefit that the removal of the existing 
buildings would provide. The proposed development would represent 
unsustainable development within the National Park, contrary to the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Key Issues 
 

 Whether the erection of an open market dwelling is acceptable in principle and 
specifically whether it can be justified on the basis of enhancement 

 The design and scale of the proposed development, visual impact and the impact 
on the landscape and other valued characteristics of the National Park. 

 The heritage significance of the site and its buildings 
 
History 

 
9. There have been no planning applications relating to this site, but the Authority’s officers 

been in contact the previous owner regarding the appearance and condition of the site, 
which was unsightly as a result of significant amounts of scrap being stored around the 
buildings and in the field between the buildings and Washhouse Bottom. No formal 
enforcement notices were ever served, but the site has been tidied up and scrap removed 
in recent years, prior to its sale. 

  
Consultations 
 

10. Highway Authority: Following an initial objection to the proposal, the Highway Authority 
has now responded to a revised plan and information. The plan indicates that the lands 

Page 120



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

surrounding the site are in the applicant’s control; therefore, the condition for the provision 
of emerging visibility splays of 2.4m x 172m at the west and 2.4m x 80m at the east is 
acceptable. The Highway Authority requests that the applicant submits a revised plan for 
the emerging visibility splays to the Authority for the reference. In terms of traffic generation 
information, the DCC Highways is satisfied that the proposed use of the site would not 
intensify the use of the existing access. The Highway Authority therefore has no further 
objection to this proposal. 
 

11. District Council: No response. 
 

12. Little Hucklow Parish Council – “The Parish Council have considered this application and 
support the proposal as it is bringing a derelict property back into use as a family 
dwelling”. 
 

13. Natural England: No objection. Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers 
that the proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily 
protected nature conservation sites. 
 

14. PDNPA Archaeology: Makes the following comment (quoted in full as it gives important 
detail about the history and significance of the site): 
 
“This application affects a number of non-designated heritage assets recorded in the 
Derbyshire Historic Environment and the Peak District National Park Authority’s Historic 
Buildings, Sites and Monuments Record.  
Newland’s Farm is a partially extant historic farmstead that dates back to at least the 19th 
century (MPD12018). The farmhouse has been demolished and one traditional barn and 
other more recent farm buildings are also present.  
Newland’s Farm is also the site of World War II military remains, with a number of 
structures and platforms related to an anti-aircraft gun placement. The remains of 
associated searchlight and barrack buildings can be identified in the field to the 
immediately north-west of the farmstead (MPD15665). A small structure proposed for 
demolition may have its origin with the WWII site rather than the farmstead.  
A Heritage Statement has been provided and this outlines the known history and 
development of the site. The heritage statement was produced during lockdown and some 
archives could not be visited at the time, it is therefore possible that some further 
information could be available on the site.  
Of the 5 buildings identified two (1 and 5) are identified as having potential heritage 
significance, while 3 others are identified as of minimal heritage significance.  
Building 1 is a barn probably of Late 18th or early 19th century construction. The building 
has several additions to it and is in poor condition, little survives of the interior which is in 
poor condition and was not fully accessible due to this.  
Building 5 is a small blockwork and brick built derelict structure its date of origin and 
function is uncertain and it may relate to the anti-aircraft gun emplacement and not to the 
farm. This structure does not appear on maps, as is the case with the anti-aircraft gun 
structures. This small structure could not be dated although based on its construction it is 
probably mid-20th century.  
Buildings 2, 3 and 4 are all 20th century farm buildings of negligible to low heritage 
significance.  
The heritage statement has outlined the history of the surviving elements of the farmstead. 
However, the nature of the small building 5 was not determined. With this building it has 
not been possible to determine its origin or function.  
 
Archaeological Impact of the development: 
The archaeological impact of the proposed development would be to remove all of the 
current buildings on the site, including buildings 1 and 5 which have heritage significance 
and potential heritage significance. The construction of the new house will impact on the 

Page 121



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

setting and views into the site. The site is currently derelict but the remains of farm 
buildings are currently identifiable on the site. There are no known buried archaeological 
heritage assets on the site but such remains could exist. Also the remains of the farmhouse 
that related to Newlands Farm may be present below ground and the date and layout of 
this structure is unknown.  
 
Recommendation: The current buildings on the site are in poor condition and only 1 or 2 
are significant heritage assets. Building 1 the barn is of moderate significance while 
Building 5 is of unknown significance due to the uncertainty regarding its function. If this 
building did relate to the anti-aircraft gun it would be of low significance. In addition the 
potential and significance for buried archaeological remains is unknown.  

 
As non-designated heritage assets a balanced planning decision needs to be made that 
has regard to the significance of the heritage asset and the scale of any harm or loss to its 
significance (NPPF para.203). Should the planning balance be favourable then the 
following conditions are recommended (summarised in this report):  

 Building recording: A level 3 photographic, descriptive and drawn record to supplement 
(not duplicate) the existing heritage statement, which can form part of the record. This 
should be undertaken on buildings 1 and 5. This work needs to be carried out by a suitably 
qualified and experienced heritage/archaeological contractor in accordance with the 
nationally agreed standards of the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists, and to a written 
scheme of investigation approved by the Senior Conservation Archaeologist. These 
recommendations are in accordance with NPPF para 205, and a suitable condition to 
achieve this is suggested.  

 Archaeological monitoring: A programme of archaeological monitoring of all groundworks 
undertaken in relation to the development to record archaeological remains related to 
buildings 1 and 5, the former farmhouse and any unknown archaeological remains”.  
 

15. PDNPA Ecology: Recommends additional survey work on the dewpond (now carried out) 
and conditions in respect of bats and barn owls in the event of an approval. 
 

Representations 
 

16. We have received four representations, all supporting the application and raising the 
following points: 

 A new dwelling on this site, where the foundations are still in situ from the original 
house, would be an enormous improvement on the eyesore that is currently there 
and has been for tens of years.  

 The current site has a bad effect on the landscape and environment and any 
improvement would be beneficial.  

 The applicants are a young family trying to make a living by farming in the area 
where they were born and the proposed plans for the site would enhance the site 
beyond recognition.  

 The proposal is well designed, and it is good to see the use of sustainability 
measures, especially in today’s climate.  

 There is no landscape harm caused by this proposal. 

 The site is an eye sore, having been neglected for many years and used as a 
dumping ground by the previous owner. The farm is clearly visible from all around 
the locality, but sadly in its current condition it has a significant negative impact on 
the landscape, there is a mismatched set of largely collapsing buildings and 
abandoned artefacts, and is in contrast to the surrounding fields, farms, buildings, 
and other properties 

 This application is supported by the Parish Council. 
 

Page 122



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 
Main Policies 
 

17. Relevant Core Strategy policies:  GSP1, GSP2, GSP3, GSP4, DS1, CC1, HC1, L1, L2 
and L3. 

 
18. Relevant Development Management policies:  DMC3, DMC5, DMC10, DMH6, DMT3, 

DMT8. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 

19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) should be considered as a material 
consideration and carry particular weight where a development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out of date. In the National Park the development plan comprises our 
Core Strategy 2011 and the Development Management Policies 2019. Policies in the 
development plan provide a clear starting point consistent with the National Park’s 
statutory purposes for the determination of this application. There is no significant conflict 
between prevailing policies in the development plan and the NPPF and our policies should 
be given full weight in the determination of this application. 

20. Paragraph 176 states that “great weight should be given to conserving landscape and 
scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
which have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. The 
conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations in all these 
areas, and should be given great weight in National Parks and the Broads.” 
 

21. In relation to housing, paragraph 79 of the NPPF states that to promote sustainable 
development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain 
the vitality of rural communities. Planning policies should identify opportunities for villages 
to grow and thrive, especially where this will support local services. Where there are 
groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may support services in a village 
nearby. 
 

22. Paragraph 80 states that planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of 
isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply: 
a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority control of a 
farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside;  
b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or would be 
appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets;  
c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its 
immediate setting;  
d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential building; or  
e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:  

i. is truly outstanding, reflecting the highest standards in architecture, and would 
help to raise standards of design more generally in rural areas; and  
ii. would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the defining 
characteristics of the local area.  

 
Peak District National Park Core Strategy 

23. Policy GSP1 sets out the broad strategy for achieving the National Park’s objectives 
having regard to the Sandford Principle, (that is, where there are conflicting desired 
outcomes in achieving national park purposes, greater priority must be given to the 
conservation of the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area, even at the 
cost of socio-economic benefits). GPS1 also sets out the need for sustainable 

Page 123



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

development and to avoid major development unless it is essential, and the need to 
mitigate localised harm where essential major development is allowed. 
 

24. Policy GSP2: Enhancing the National Park states that: 

 Opportunities for enhancing the valued characteristics of the National Park will be 
identified and acted upon. 

 Proposals intended to enhance the National Park will need to demonstrate that they 
offer significant overall benefit to the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 
area. 

 When development is permitted, a design will be sought that respects the character of 
the area. 

 Opportunities will be taken to enhance the National Park by the treatment or removal 
of undesirable features or buildings. Work must be undertaken in a manner which 
conserves the valued characteristics of the site and its surroundings. 

 Development in settlements necessary for the treatment, removal or relocation of 
nonconforming uses to an acceptable site, or which would enhance the valued 
characteristics of the National Park will be permitted. 

25. Policy GSP3 sets out development management principles and states that all development 
must respect, conserve and enhance all valued characteristics of the site and buildings, 
paying particular attention to, amongst other elements, impact on the character and setting 
of buildings, scale of the development appropriate to the character and appearance of the 
National Park, design in accordance with the National Park Authority Design Guide and 
impact on living conditions of communities. 

26. Policy GSP4 says that to aid the achievement of its spatial outcomes, the National Park 
Authority will consider the contribution that a development can make directly and/or to its 
setting, including, where consistent with government guidance, using planning conditions 
and planning obligations.  

27. Policy DS1 sets out the Development Strategy for the National Park. DS1.C. sets out the 
forms of development that are acceptable in principle in the countryside outside of the 
Natural Zone. There is no scope for the erection of new housing here other than as part of 
development needed to secure effective conservation and enhancement. 

28. Policy HC1C says: 
“In accordance with core policies GSP1 and GSP2:  
I. it is required in order to achieve conservation and/or enhancement of valued 

vernacular or listed buildings; or  
II. it is required in order to achieve conservation or enhancement in settlements listed 

in core policy DS1.  
Any scheme proposed under CI or CII that is able to accommodate more than one dwelling 
unit, must also address identified eligible local need and be affordable with occupation 
restricted to local people in perpetuity…” 
 
The policy also says that exceptionally, new housing can be accepted where the proposals 
would address eligible local needs or where they are for key workers in agriculture, forestry 
or other rural enterprises in accordance with core policy HC2.  

Page 124



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

29. Policy L3 ‘Cultural heritage assets of archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic 
significance’ states that:  
“A. Development must conserve and where appropriate enhance or reveal the significance 
of archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic assets and their settings, including 
statutory designations and other heritage assets of international, national, regional or local 
importance or special interest;  
B. Other than in exceptional circumstances development will not be permitted where it is 
likely to cause harm to the significance of any cultural heritage asset of archaeological, 
architectural, artistic or historic significance or its setting, including statutory designations 
or other heritage assets of international, national, regional or local importance or special 
interest;  
C. Proposals for development will be expected to meet the objectives of any strategy, 
wholly or partly covering the National Park, that has, as an objective, the conservation and 
where possible the enhancement of cultural heritage assets. This includes, but is not 
exclusive to, the Cultural Heritage Strategy for the Peak District National Park and any 
successor strategy.” 

30. Policy CC1 states that development must make the most efficient and sustainable use of 
land, buildings and natural resources, taking into account the energy hierarchy and 
achieving the highest possible standards of carbon reductions and water efficiency. 

Development Management Policies 

31. The most relevant development management policies are DMC3, DMC5, DMC10 and 
DMH6. 
 

32. Policy DMC3A says where development is acceptable in principle, it will be permitted 
provided that its detailed treatment is of a high standard that respects, protects and where 
possible enhances the natural beauty, quality and visual amenity of the landscape, 
including the wildlife and cultural heritage that contribute to the distinctive sense of place. 

 
33. Policy DMC3B sets out various aspects that particular attention will be paid to including: 

siting, scale, form, mass, levels, height and orientation, settlement form and character, 
landscape, details, materials and finishes landscaping, access, utilities and parking, 
amenity, accessibility and the principles embedded in the design related SPD and the 
technical guide. 
 

34. Policy DMC5 provides detailed advice relating to proposals affecting heritage assets and 
their settings, requiring new development to demonstrate how valued features will be 
conserved, as well as detailing the types and levels of information required to support such 
proposals. It also requires development to avoid harm to the significance, character, and 
appearance of heritage assets and details the exceptional circumstances in which 
development resulting in such harm may be supported. 

 
35. Policy DMC10 addresses conversion of heritage assets, permitting this where the new use 

would conserve its character and significance, and where the new use and associated 
infrastructure conserve the asset, its setting, and valued landscape character. It also notes 
that new uses or curtilages should not be visually intrusive in the landscape or have an 
adverse impact on tranquility, dark skies, or other valued characteristics. 

 
36. Policy DMH6 states that re-development of previously developed land for housing will be 

permitted provided that: i. the development conserves and enhances the valued character 
of the built environment or landscape on, around or adjacent to the site; and ii. where the 
land is inside or on the edge of a Core Strategy policy DS1 settlement, and subject to 
viability, an element of the housing addresses local need for affordable housing potentially 
including starter home or custom or self-build housing provision. However, the application 

Page 125



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

of this policy is discussed in more detail below as the land and buildings at Newlands Farm 
do not fall within the definition of “previously developed land”. 
 

Supplementary planning documents (SPD) and other material considerations  
 

37. The adopted climate change and sustainable building SPD provides detailed guidance on 
construction methods and renewable technologies along with a framework for how 
development can demonstrate compliance with policy CC1.  
 

38. The adopted Design Guide SPD and supporting building design guide provides detailed 
guidance on the local building tradition within the National Park and how this should be 
utilised to inform high quality new design that conserves and enhances the National Park. 

 
Assessment 
 
Principle of proposed development 
 

39. For the purposes of the Development Plan, the application site is considered to lie in open 
countryside because of the distance between the application site and any nearby named 
settlements (Core Strategy policy DS1). In common with the NPPF, the Authority’s housing 
policies do not permit new isolated homes in the countryside unless there are special 
circumstances.  
 

40. With regard to the principle of residential use, policy HC1(C)I of the Core Strategy states 
that exceptionally, new housing can be accepted where, in accordance with core policies 
GSP1 and GSP2, it is required in order to achieve conservation or enhancement in 
settlements listed in Core Strategy policy DS1. 
 

41. Policy DMH6 allows housing development on previously developed land in principle. 
However, paragraph 6.91 of the housing chapter of the Development Management 
Policies (DMP) makes it clear that land that is or has been occupied by agricultural 
buildings is not previously developed land for the purposes of applying the Development 
Plan. Elsewhere it states that Core Strategy policy HC1 must be read in conjunction with 
policy DMH6. Paragraph 6.97 also states that outside of DS1 settlements applications for 
housing will be assessed against policies DS1 and GSP2. The site at Coplow Dale is not 
within or near to a designated settlement so it is clearly within the open countryside. 

 
42. The key issue in assessing the principle of this development is therefore whether there are 

exceptional circumstances to justify the erection of an open market house and whether the 
development is in accordance with policies GSP1, GSP2, DS1, HC1, DMH6 and 
paragraphs 79 and 80 of the NPPF. 
 

43. The Planning Statement submitted with the application argues that the existing range of 
farm buildings on the application site are all in a poor condition and the former farmhouse 
building is in such a state of disrepair it is not viable to convert it. (Officer Note: This view 
contradicts the Heritage Report and our Archaeologist’s view that the original farmhouse 
was demolished some 100years ago and it is not known if there are any surviving features 
below ground of that former dwelling). It adds that the extent of the rebuilding that would 
be required would effectively result in almost entirely new appearance and the loss of the 
historic fabric of the building.  
 

44. The Statement therefore concludes that in its current state the site detracts from the 
character and appearance of the area.  It also adds that this is reflected in the enforcement 
history of the site associated with the previous landowner (although as noted in the 
Planning history section above, no formal action was ever taken and the site was 
significantly improved and buildings repaired before it was sold). It therefore states that a 

Page 126



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

new dwelling could deliver enhancement to the area and this is more viable than rebuilding 
the existing structure. 

 
45. The Planning Statement refers to policies GSP2 and DMH6 in support of the application. 

It acknowledges that the site is not in or on the edge of a designated settlement.  It argues 
that DMP Policy DMH6 allows for the redevelopment of Previously Developed Land for 
residential use. Part (i) of Policy DMH6 states that development will be permitted provided 
that “the development conserves and enhances the valued character of the built 
environment or landscape on, around or adjacent to the site”. The Planning Statement 
acknowledges the planning policy presumption against new housing in the open 
countryside, outside designated settlements, but it argues that “given that the site currently 
detracts from the landscape, it is considered that there are tangible planning benefits 
arising from this proposal through building a new, high quality dwelling which would serve 
to enhance the surrounding landscape”. 
 

46. Notwithstanding what is argued in the Planning Statement, policy DMH6 is not applicable 
in this application. Paragraph 6.89 of the Development Management policies states that in 
some circumstances, housing development can assist in conservation and/or 
enhancement of previously developed sites and heritage assets. Paragraph 6.90 goes on 
to say that previously developed land means land which is, or was occupied by a 
permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land and any associated 
fixed surface infrastructure. This is commonly referred to as brownfield land and is a 
nationally recognised definition for planning purposes. Paragraph 6.91 then states that, for 
the avoidance of doubt, previously developed land (brownfield land) is not land that is or 
has been occupied by agricultural (including horticultural buildings) or forestry buildings. 
 

47. Paragraph 6.95 states that “if there is no evidence that the land is previously developed 
but the Authority still considers that enhancement would be beneficial in the wider interests 
of its statutory purposes, it may permit open market housing as a means of enabling this. 
This could be relevant to agricultural land and buildings in and on the edge of settlements. 
However, the expectation will remain that at least some of the proposed housing (subject 
to viability) will address an evidenced local need for affordable housing of the type provided 
for by policy DMH1”.  Paragraph 6.97 adds: “Outside of Core Strategy policy DS1 
settlements and away from other forms of built development, applications for housing will 
be assessed against Core Strategy policies DS1 and GSP2”. 
 

48. With regard to the fact that the proposal is for an open market house, rather than an 
affordable local needs house, the Planning Statement says that the second part of 
DMH6(ii) requires that where housing is inside or on the edge of a DS1 settlement, subject 
to viability an element of the housing should address policy aims for local affordable 
housing, but that in this case, the site is not in nor on the edge of a DS1 settlement so 
there is no policy imperative to making the housing affordable where the first part of the 
policy is met. 
 

49. This issue was raised recently in an application on another site. Whilst policy DMH6 does 
not have a requirement for affordable housing on previously developed sites outside of 
named settlements, the supporting text states that DMH6 must be read in the context of 
core policies including HC1 and that if affordable housing is needed in the locality, it should 
be provided on site. The advice from the Authority’s Policy team is that while DMH6 is 
silent on the issue of affordable housing on sites outside of named settlements, this policy 
must be applied in the context of our core housing policies and national policies, which are 
restrictive and focus on providing housing to meet identified local needs. Where new 
housing may be the best way to achieve conservation and enhancement this may require 
the impetus of open market values, but wherever possible such development should add 
to the stock of affordable housing. 
 

Page 127



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

50. Having given this matter some consideration, officers agree that the costs of removing the 
buildings or repairing them to a good standard where this is more appropriate, would make 
it unviable to restrict the new dwelling to an affordable local needs dwelling, particularly if 
the scheme is for a single dwelling. However, officers do not accept that this would make 
an open market dwelling acceptable. 
 

Whether the development is required to enhance the site and its landscape setting 
 

51. The Planning Statement says that the proposal has been considered with regards to the 
Landscape Strategy and Action Plan. The application is also supported by a Landscape 
and Visual Assessment. The Development Management Policies proposals map shows 
that the site is within the Landscape Character Area the ‘Limestone Village Farmlands’ 
(the land just to the west of the buildings is Limestone Hills and slopes). Within the 
Authority’s Landscape Strategy and Action Plan (2009), the character of Limestone village 
farmlands is summarised as: “A small-scale settled agricultural landscape characterised 
by limestone villages, set within a repeating pattern of narrow strip fields bounded by 
drystone walls”. This accurately describes the wider landscape setting of this site. 
 

52. The LVA states: “Within the guidelines for protection of the landscape of the White Peak, 
it is considered that: “Traditional farm buildings are of significant value to the character of 
the landscape and it is important to maintain the fabric and appearance of such buildings.” 
and: “Traditional buildings are an important feature and their renovation and maintenance 
should be encouraged.” It is proposed that the new dwelling is constructed of local 
materials and designed to be in keeping with the surrounding landscape. The dwelling 
would replace the existing footprint of buildings and would not appear any more dominant 
in the landscape than the existing but would enhance the landscape by removing the harm 
caused by the existing buildings which are in poor condition”.  
 

53. The LVA concludes that: “The proposed development would be successfully assimilated 
into the local landscape and long-term effects would be neutral or beneficial in nature with 
no adverse effects arising.  
Due to topography, built form and vegetation, the site is visually well contained and the 
proposal would result in long-term neutral to negligible beneficial visual effect. Protection 
and enhancement of the most significant landscape features and sensitive building design 
would have long-term negligible to minor beneficial effect on landscape features, a long-
term negligible to minor beneficial effect on landscape character and a positive response 
to landscape related policy at National and Local levels. 
The main landscape and visual effects will be experienced at a site level and from the 
immediate viewpoints and adjacent footpath.  
The removal of the incongruous and derelict buildings and restoration of the site would, if 
considered alone, have major beneficial effects on local landscape and visual receptors.  
The proposed development provides the opportunity for these improvements to be 
realised, and in turn the development will conserve and enhance the landscape and scenic 
beauty of the National Park.” 
 

54. In response to this, Officers accept that the site has been unsightly for many years, 
although it has improved significantly in recent years through the removal of most of the 
scrap that was stored on the site for no apparent purpose.  Most of this appears to have 
been removed prior to the recent sale of the property.  It was a matter which officers had 
raised with the previous owner over many years, but no formal enforcement action was 
taken. The remaining issues on the site are therefore largely related to the buildings 
(particularly as it has been demonstrated that more temporary items such as scrap can be 
removed without the need for an “enabling” development”). 

 
55. It is acknowledged that the existing building group is relatively untidy and unsightly, with 

most of the buildings in poor structural condition.  The buildings are visible from nearby 

Page 128



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

roads and footpaths.  There is no dwelling within the current ownership at the site and it is 
not clear whether the current owners have any intention to use the site/land for agricultural 
purposes; all the buildings would be removed from the site as part of the development. 
 

56. Whilst the removal of the existing buildings would be an enhancement given their current 
condition and appearance, this is true of a great many groups of agricultural buildings in 
the National Park.  Given their location in the open countryside, their replacement with 
unrestricted, open market dwellings would set a clear precedent encouraging proposals 
for dwellings on similar sites, resulting in development in unsustainable locations in the 
National Park, contrary to Development Plan policy and guidance in the NPPF.  

 
57. The Planning Statement explains that the proposal is for a traditionally styled double 

fronted farmhouse, with a rear projection including garage below and bedroom above, set 
back from the road and served by a drive. The dwelling is on a similar footprint to the 
existing building (Building 1), with split faced, random coursed limestone walls with 
gritstone detailing in the cills, quoins and door openings. The roof is proposed to be blue 
slate. Other traditional detailing includes the addition of chimneys at the ridge gable and 
high levels of solidity in the gables. Whilst this form and design is not, in itself objectionable, 
it would be the sole building on site, rather than being part of a farm group.  Consequently, 
it would appear as a rather suburban development, standing apart on its own and having 
no functional relationship with the surrounding landscape, unlike traditional farmhouses. 
 

58. This proposal is unacceptable in principle. However, had it been for a different 
development within policy, such as for an agricultural worker to meet a functional need on 
the land then officers would have sought an improved design and layout to recreate a more 
traditional form and character in accordance with the historic farmsteads and hamlets of 
the area. 
 
 

Heritage Considerations: 
 

59. The Heritage Statement states that there are five buildings within the site, of which only 
Building 1 and Building 5 were identified as having the potential to retain any heritage 
significance. The site is situated adjacent to a World War II defence site identified by the 
Peak District National Park Historic Buildings and Sites and Monuments Record. 
 

60. In terms of its significance, the Statement says: “Building 1 is a barn, in poor structural 
condition, missing historic fabric such as original roofs and internal fixtures and fittings. As 
a result of its surviving architectural, archaeological and historic interest as part of the 
earlier post-medieval farmstead, the building is considered to be of moderate heritage 
significance. The substantial loss of historic fabric and extensive alteration of the building 
as well as the earlier demolition of the historic farmhouse are considered negative 
elements. 

 
Building 5 is a small derelict outbuilding, showing signs of rebuilding from salvaged 
materials from across the site. Architecturally the building retains no interest, its dereliction 
masking any indication of its earlier use. Despite this the building may retain some historic 
interest should it hold a connection to the adjacent World War II defence site. This report 
could not establish with any degree of certainty whether this building holds a historic 
connection with the defence site and as such it is considered that the heritage significance 
of the building is currently unknown. Due to the condition of the building and signs that the 
building was rebuilt, it would be the contribution of the building to understanding the plan 
form of the defence site, only, which would be of interest rather than the structure itself. 
 
The proposals will result in the demolition of Building 1 and 5. The Building proposed for 
construction has been designed with consideration to the local vernacular and uses 

Page 129



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

materials in keeping with the traditional building stock of the area. Its design emulates that 
of a traditional farmhouse, a feature which was lost from the farmstead in the early 20th 
century, and thereby maintains the legibility of the surrounding landscape.” 
 

61. In response to this, the advice from the Authority’s Archaeologist is that the current 
buildings on the site are in poor condition and only buildings 1 or 5 are significant heritage 
assets. Building 1, the barn, is of moderate significance while Building 5 is of unknown 
significance due to the uncertainty regarding its function. If this building did relate to the 
anti-aircraft gun it would be of low significance. In addition the potential and significance 
for buried archaeological remains is unknown. As non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced planning decision needs to be made that has regard to the significance of the 
heritage asset and the scale of any harm or loss to its significance (NPPF paragraph 203). 
Should the planning balance be favourable then planning conditions are recommended. 
 

62. On the basis of the assessment of the heritage interest of the site, it is therefore considered 
that the buildings are not in themselves of sufficient significance or interest to justify 
conversion or restoration to open market dwellings and, given their condition, they would 
require significant rebuilding and repair. In relation to the main building (building 1), the 
Heritage Assessment notes that “As a result of its surviving architectural, archaeological 
and historic interest as part of the earlier post-medieval farmstead, the building is 
considered to be of moderate heritage significance. The substantial loss of historic fabric 
and extensive alteration of the building as well as the earlier demolition of the historic 
farmhouse are considered (a) negative element”.  Whilst this is not considered to be a 
reason for refusal in itself, it could provide a basis for a more sympathetic scheme that is 
more likely to be in accordance with the Authority’s policy. 

 
Sustainable building and climate change: 
 

63. Policy CC1 and the NPPF require development to make the most efficient and sustainable 
use of land, buildings and natural resources, take account of the energy hierarchy and 
achieve the highest possible standards of carbon reductions and water efficiency. The 
application includes a Design and Access Statement. The statement sets out how the new 
dwelling would meet the requirements of policy CC1 and our adopted Supplementary 
Planning Guidance ‘Climate Change and Sustainable Building, as follows: 

• Use energy more efficiently: All appliances and fittings will be low demand. The 
dwelling has been designed to provide cross ventilation during hot periods. It has 
south facing glazing to take advantage of daylight and solar gain. 

• Supply energy more efficiently: The site benefits from an existing mains electricity 
supply which the new property will be connected to. All other energy requirements 
will be supplied by the site itself.  

• Use Low Carbon and Renewable energy: Heating and hot water will be provided 
via a combination of ground source or air source heat exchanger. A solar PV bank 
will be installed on the south facing roof and connected to the national grid to feed 
back into the grid any energy not required on site.  

• The proposal achieves the best possible carbon reductions by using locally 
supplied materials reducing the supply chain and by having a long life cycle as a 
building due to the standard of construction. It also makes use of and enhances 
existing building fabric. 

 
64. Whilst these proposals are rather generic, the application is considered to be generally 

acceptable in this regard. 
 
Ecology 
 

65. A Bat Roost and Barn Owl Appraisal Survey Report was submitted as part of the 
application. This concluded that the surveyed buildings were assessed to have a low to 

Page 130



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

moderate potential for bats to inhabit and/or roost within them, but the comprehensive 
search of the buildings produced no evidence of bats roosting within any of the buildings 
at the time of the survey or indeed ever having been present within the buildings. The 
report concluded that Buildings B1, B2 and B3 were assessed as having a moderate 
potential for bats and B4 and B6 were assessed as having a low potential for bats, so 
further survey effort was necessary to confirm or refute the presence of bat roosts within 
the buildings.  
 

66. The presence of barn owls was confirmed within building B3.  A barn owl roost site (unlike 
a bat roost) is not protected by UK legislation. However, a barn owl nest site is protected 
and the site was assessed as a potential barn owl nest site. 
 

67. In response to this report, the Authority’s Ecologist has recommended conditions in the 
event of an approval. 

 
68. A survey was also carried out on the dew pond within the site, at the Authority’s request.  

This confirmed that the pond is not suitable for Great Crested Newts as it is overgrown, 
but the applicants have agreed to enhance the dew pond to make it more suitable for 
aquatic life. 
 

Highway issues 
 

69. The access to the site from the road would remain as the existing, with the track that leads 
to the buildings being upgraded. Following an initial objection, the Highway Authority now 
has no objection, subject to a revised plan for the emerging visibility splays to the Authority 
for the reference. This has been provided and shows a section of walling west of the 
access interferes with the splay and would be required to be lowered or set back to clear 
the splay.  No details of this have been provided.   
 

70. Car parking spaces would be provided within the site boundary. The Highway Authority 
has no objection, subject to conditions. The proposals are therefore in accordance with 
DM policies DMT3 and DMT8 subject to satisfactory details being agreed regarding the 
impact of the required splays on the traditional roadside boundary walls which are a valued 
characteristic of this rural lane and the surrounding area. 
 

Impact on amenity 
 

71. The property is located in a relatively isolated location, so there would be no impact on the 
privacy and amenity of neighbouring properties, the closest of which is to the east of the 
access. The proposal therefore accords with policies GSP3 and DMC3 in these respects.  

 
 
 
Conclusion 
 

72. It is considered that the proposed development is in conflict with Core Strategy policies, 
particularly GSP1, HC1, and L1, because the proposal is for the erection of an open market 
dwelling in a relatively isolated and unsustainable location in the open countryside, not 
within or near to a designated settlement. The proposal is not justified as an essential 
functional dwelling or as the conservation of a building of architectural or historic 
significance. Whilst the proposals would result in the removal of unsightly buildings, with 
some benefit to the landscape, this is not considered to outweigh the strong national and 
local policy presumption against new dwellings in the countryside. The proposed 
development would therefore not represent sustainable development within the National 
Park contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 131



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

73. Having taken into account all material considerations and issues raised in representations 
we conclude that the proposed development is contrary to the Development Plan. 
Therefore, the application is recommended for refusal. 
 

Human Rights 
 

74. Any human rights issues have been considered and addressed in the preparation of this 
report. 

 
List of Background Papers (not previously published) 
 

75. Nil 
 

76. Report Author: Steven Wigglesworth, Planner 
 

Page 132



 Title: Newlands Farm, Coplow
Dale, Little Hucklow

 Grid Reference:
 Application No:
 Item Number:

 Committee Date:

 416323, 379005
 NP/DDD/0621/0670

 Item 6
 05/08/2022

1:700

Location PlanLocation Plan

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee– Part A 
5 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

7.     FULL APPLICATION -  PROPOSED REMOVAL OF EXISTING BUILDING AT 
WESTERN END OF SITE, AND REPLACEMENT WITH A WORKSHOP AND ANCILLARY 
OFFICE, INCLUDING THE ASSOCIATED CHANGE OF USE - LAND SOUTH OF CHURCH 
LANE, CHELMORTON – (NP/DDD/0322/0396, MN) 

 
APPLICANT: MR MARK ALLEN 

 
Summary 

1. The application site is on the edge of the village of Chelmorton, and as such the proposals to 
establish a new business use here accord with adopted planning policy in principle.  
 

2. Given the character of the site and its immediate surroundings the proposed development is 
concluded to conserve the character and appearance of the site, village, and wider landscape, 
and – subject to conditions to control the extent of use – would also conserve neighbouring 
amenity.  
 

3. There are no further adverse impacts arising that would suggest planning permission should 
be refused. 
 

4. The application is therefore recommended for conditional approval. 

Site and Surroundings 

5. The application site lies towards the northern end of Chelmorton village. It is accessed via a 
field gate off Church Lane, and lies a short distance east of Main Street. 
 

6. The western end of the site is given over to two modern buildings of portal framed massing 
with sheet cladding and associated hardstandings, whilst the eastern part is a field, bounded 
by Church Lane to the north and east. 
 

7. To the immediate west of the site lies a modern portal framed building that is industrial use, 
and just beyond this are the dwellings of Ivy House Farm and Ivy Barn, with Cliff Farm to the 
south of these. Several properties front Church Lane to the north of the site, with the closest 
being Church Lane House opposite the site entrance. South of the site lies a range of further 
modern agricultural buildings.  
 

8. The site is within the Chelmorton Conservation Area. 

Proposal 

9. To demolish the southernmost existing building on the site, and to replace it with a new 
building for use as a workshop and ancillary office for an electrical and property development 
business.   
 

10. As originally submitted, the development description referred to the existing building as a 
‘workshop’ and made no reference to proposed office space in the replacement building. This 
has since been altered at the request of officers to reflect the existing and proposed uses of 
the buildings. 
 
RECOMMENDATION  

11. That the application is APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 

1) 3 year time limit 
2) In accordance with amended plans 

Page 135

Agenda Item 7.����



Planning Committee– Part A 
5 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

3) Use as a workshop and ancillary office only, and for no other purpose, including 
for any ancillary retail sales or public showroom. 

4) Any use of the approved workshop (excluding office use) shall take place only 
between the hours of 8am to 6pm on Mondays to Fridays and 9am to 1pm on 
Saturdays, with no use permitted on Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays 

5) No outdoor storage of materials or equipment, other than the parking of 
commuter vehicles associated with the occupation of the building 

6) Provision of solar panels prior to first occupation 
7) Design details 

Key Issues 

12. The principle of establishing a new business in this location 
 

13. The impacts of the development on the appearance of the built environment, landscape, and 
conservation area. 
 

14. Impacts on neighbouring amenity. 

Relevant Planning History 

15. 2022 – Enforcement case opened in relation to alterations to existing building subject of the 
current application, and potential change of use of this building. 
 

16. 1981 – Planning permission granted for agricultural building on the site adjacent to Church 
Lane. A condition requiring the removal of the building when no longer required for agriculture 
was not imposed. 

Consultations 

17. Derbyshire County Council  - Highways – The proposal seeks the change of use/replacement 
of an existing agricultural building to be replaced by a workshop and ancillary office associated 
with the applicants electrical and property development businesses.  
 
Whilst the site could still be used for agricultural purposes associated with the existing large 
agricultural building and pastureland, revised details suggest vehicle movements related to 
the workshop/office would typically be one to two vehicles arriving in the mornings and leaving 
in the evenings, therefore, whilst the proposal will likely result in a slight intensification in use 
of the existing vehicular access off Church Lane, any minor increase in traffic generation the 
proposal may generate is unlikely to lead to any severe safety issues associated with the 
access.  
 
Accordingly, the Highway Authority has no objections to the proposal.  
 

18. Derbyshire Dales District Council – No response at time of writing. 
 

19. Parish Council – Chelmorton Parish Council notes that the current building is an eyesore and 
this proposal with its lower height will improve the situation. That said, it appears a large scale 
for single use with a potential for greatly increased traffic and on road visitor parking. 
 
This site was one of those looked at during the last round of sorely needed affordable housing 
plots in the village and Council would prefer to see a development to keep younger 
generations in the village prioritised by planners. 
 
 
 

Page 136



Planning Committee– Part A 
5 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

20. PDNPA – Archaeology – I note that the proposed redevelopment is located on the footprint of 
currently extant modern structure, the proposed building is to be located on the site of an 
existing building. Based on this, the likelihood that the site retains belowground archaeological 
remains and that these will be affected by the proposed development is considered to be low. 
The site is located within the Chelmorton Conservation Area, and I suspect this will be the 
main heritage consideration. 

Representations 

21. Five representations have been received in relation to the application, all of which object to 
the proposals. The grounds for objection are summarised as: 
 

 Concerns regarding the unauthorised works that have been carried out to the existing 
building, and the unauthorised change of use of this building  

 The business will not contribute to local employment  

 There is limited room for parking at the site 

 There are more appropriate sites for industrial development  

 The development does not meet a local need.  

 The development will result in additional traffic 

 The building would harm the appearance of the site and/or village 

Main Policies 

22. Core Strategy policies: GSP1, GSP2, GSP3, DS1, CC1, L1, E1 
 
23. Development Management policies: DMC3, DMC8 
 
24. National Park designation is the highest level of landscape designation in the UK.  The 

Environment Act 1995 sets out two statutory purposes for national parks in England and 
Wales: 

 
a. Conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage 
b. Promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of 

national parks by the public 
 
25. When national parks carry out these purposes they also have the duty to seek to foster the 

economic and social well-being of local communities within the national parks. 
 

National planning policy framework 
 
26. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published on 27 March 2012 and 

replaced a significant proportion of central government planning policy with immediate effect. 
The Government’s intention is that the document should be considered as a material 
consideration and carry particular weight where a development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out of date. In the National Park the Local Plan comprises the Authority’s 
Core Strategy 2011 and the Development Management Policies document 2019.  Policies in 
the Local Plan provide a clear starting point consistent with the National Park’s statutory 
purposes for the determination of this application.  It is considered that in this case there is no 
significant conflict between prevailing policies in the Local Plan and more recent Government 
guidance in the NPPF. 

 
27. Paragraph 176 of the NPPF states that ‘great weight should be given to conserving landscape 

and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
which have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. The 
conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations in all these areas, 
and should be given great weight in National Parks and the Broads.’ 

 

Page 137



Planning Committee– Part A 
5 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

Local Plan 
 
28. Core Strategy policy GSP1 sets out the broad strategy for achieving the National Park’s 

objectives having regard to the Sandford Principle, (that is, where there are conflicting desired 
outcomes in achieving national park purposes, greater priority must be given to the 
conservation of the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the area, even at the cost 
of socio-economic benefits). GPS1 also sets out the need for sustainable development and 
to avoid major development unless it is essential, and the need to mitigate localised harm 
where essential major development is allowed. 

 
29. Core Strategy policy GSP2 states, amongst other things, that when development is permitted, 

a design will be sought that respects the character of the area. 
 
30. Core Strategy policy GSP3 sets out development management principles and states that all 

development must respect, conserve and enhance all valued characteristics of the site and 
buildings, paying particular attention to, amongst other elements, impact on the character and 
setting of buildings, scale of the development appropriate to the character and appearance of 
the National Park, design in accordance with the National Park Authority Design Guide and 
impact on living conditions of communities. 

 
31. Core Strategy policy DS1 details the development strategy for the National Park, and supports 

small-scale retail and business premises in particular settlements in principle. Chelmorton is 
listed as one such settlement. 
 

32. Core Strategy policy L1 identifies that development must conserve and enhance valued 
landscape character and valued characteristics, and other than in exceptional circumstances, 
proposals in the Natural Zone will not be permitted. 

 
33. Core Strategy policy CC1 states that development must make the most efficient and 

sustainable use of land, buildings and natural resources. 
 

34. Policy E1 addresses development comprising proposals for business development in 
settlements named in policy DS1. It states that these must take account of the following 
principles:  

 
A. New sites and buildings for business development will be permitted within or on the edge 
of the named settlements in policy DS1. Proposals must be of a scale that is consistent with 
the needs of the local population. Wherever possible, proposals must re-use existing 
traditional buildings of historic or vernacular merit or previously developed sites, and take up 
opportunities for enhancement. Where this is not possible, new buildings may be permitted.  
B. Appropriate improvements to make existing employment sites more attractive to 
businesses will be welcomed.  
C. Home working will be encouraged provided that it is at an appropriate scale.  
D. The National Park Authority will safeguard existing business land or buildings, particularly 
those which are of high quality and in a suitable location. Where the location, premises, 
activities or operations of an employment site are considered by the Authority to no longer be 
appropriate, opportunities for enhancement will be sought, which may include redevelopment 
to provide affordable housing or community uses. 

 
35. Development Management Policy DMC3 requires development to be of a high standard that 

respects, protects, and where possible enhances the natural beauty, quality and visual 
amenity of the landscape, including the wildlife and cultural heritage that contribute to the 
distinctive sense of place. It also provides further detailed criteria to assess design and 
landscaping, as well as requiring development to conserve the amenity of other properties. 
 
 

Page 138



Planning Committee– Part A 
5 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

36. Development Management policy DMC8  states that applications for development in a 
Conservation Area, or for development that affects its setting or important views into, out of, 
across or through the  area, should assess and clearly demonstrate how the character or 
appearance and significance of the Conservation Area will be preserved or enhanced. 

 
Assessment 

Context and background 

37. The 2021 applications for replacement of this building with a workshop of the same 
appearance as now proposed, as well as including replacement of the other building on the 
site with an open market dwelling, were refused – principally on design grounds. Whilst the 
reasons for refusal related to the appearance of the proposed dwelling, the officer report did 
also note that the proposed workshop would not result in enhancement of the site. 
 

38. The policy context and the scope of the proposals was different in that instance however. 
 

39. In terms of the policy context, the previous proposals were considered on the basis that 
adopted policy HC1 supports open market housing on an exception basis on sites within 
settlements that are in need of enhancement. This site was considered to be such a location, 
although it was ultimately concluded that the proposals would not achieve enhancement. No 
such enhancement test applies to new business development (as now proposed) within 
settlements proposed under policy E1 however; such development is instead subject to tests 
of conservation set out under other provisions of the Local Plan. 
 

40. It is also significant that the previous proposal included the removal of the larger agricultural 
building positioned to the north of the building subject of the current application. This 
application does not, and the impacts of the development must be considered in the context 
that this building remains on the site. 
 

41. It is also of note that the building proposed for replacement is likely to be un-authorised in its 
current form. Whilst an enforcement notice has not been served at this time, the Authority’s 
enforcement team have taken the view that the footprint and general form are reflective of a 
building that has long stood at the site, but that the western section has been entirely re-built, 
and cladding and changes to openings have been made. It would be possible to reverse some 
of these works to return the building, in part, to its former and authorised appearance. As the 
western section appears to have been re-built and to be un-authorised however, we are of the 
view that the current proposals should be assessed on the basis that the building to be 
replaced comprises only the eastern part of the existing building, which looks like it could be 
returned to its former appearance to remove the breach of planning control.   

 
Principle of the development 

42. The lawful use of the site is currently for agriculture, and so there would be a change of use 
arising from conversion to business use as a workshop for an electrical and property 
development workshop with ancillary office space. Policy E1 supports proposals for new 
businesses in and on the edge of settlements named by policy DS1 in principle. In this case 
the site is on the edge of the named settlement of Chelmorton.  
 

43. The policy seeks to steer new businesses to re-use existing traditional buildings where these 
are available. There are no traditional buildings on the application site, and in these 
circumstances policy E1 permits the erection of new buildings. 
 

44. There is therefore no objection to the change of use or new building in principle. 

 

Page 139



Planning Committee– Part A 
5 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

Design and appearance 

45. As set out in the Context and Background section of this report, above, the impacts of the 
development must be assessed in the context of the adjacent existing agricultural building – 
which would be retained. 
 

46. It must also be assessed on the basis that the proposal is to replace an existing building, but 
one that only part of, the eastern half, is authorised. As such, the impacts of the proposed 
development have been compared only to those of the eastern part of the current building, in 
relation to changes to form, massing, design, landscape impacts and public visibility. 
 

47. In regard to these impacts, the site is on the edge of the settlement and land to the immediate 
east gives way immediately to open fields that are characteristic of those surrounding the 
majority of Chelmorton.  
 

48. The character of the landscape changes abruptly at the land around the application site 
however, owing to a relatively large grouping of large, modern sheds. In addition to the 
application building, there is the other aforementioned building on the site. This is taller and 
larger than both the existing and proposed new building at the site. 
 

49. Immediately west of the application site, adjacent to the proposed building on the opposite 
side of the site boundary, is another large portal framed building – albeit set at a lower ground 
level to the application site.  
 

50. The land to the immediate south and southeast of the site contains several further large portal 
framed buildings within only a few metres of the proposed building. 
 

51. The proposed building would occupy a larger footprint than the building it would replace, and 
would be approximately 2m taller to the ridge. As such, it would be a more substantial building 
in terms of its massing, and would have increased landscape prominence as a result. 
 

52. The impacts of this increased size would be mitigated to a large extent by surrounding 
development however. The large roadside building on the same site would serve to screen 
the building in some limited views from Church Lane to the north. Perhaps more significantly, 
the large size and roadside position of this other building would remain the most dominating,  
and incongruous, feature at the site in these views, with any additional visual impacts from 
the new building being slight in comparison, and also seen backed by further large, modern 
buildings behind it.  
 

53. The other key views of the site are from Church Lane to the east, at longer distance, where 
the road winds south in to open countryside. The road here is elevated above the village with 
views down towards to it. The proposed building, as is the case with the existing one, is 
embedded within the group of portal framed buildings in these views, and the increased size 
would not have a significant further impact on the character of the landscape or conservation 
area. 
 

54. Overall, and subject to conditions securing the colour of cladding materials, the development 
would conserve the appearance of the built environment and landscape at this location, and 
accord with the requirements of policies L1, DMC3 and DMC8 in these regards. 

 
Amenity 

55. The relationship of the building to neighbouring dwellings would be largely unchanged by the 
proposals. 
 
 

Page 140



Planning Committee– Part A 
5 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

56. The increase in height is most notable from an amenity perspective in terms of its relationship 
to the dwellings to the west of Ivy Barn, Ivy House Farm, and Cliff Farm. However, there are 
other portal framed buildings between each of these dwellings and the application building, 
and given this and the intervening distances it is concluded that the new, taller building would 
not appear either overbearing or oppressive from these properties. 
 

57. The site has a lawful use for agriculture. There is no restriction on hours of operation or vehicle 
movements in relation to this use. Whilst it is not anticipated that the proposed use would give 
rise to significant further noise impacts than could be associated with the lawful use of the 
site, the provision of a purpose-built unit does have the potential to extend operating hours at 
the site, and to increase potentially noise-generating activity. It is therefore recommended that 
a condition to control operating hours be imposed if permission is granted.  
 

58. Overall, and subject to the recommended condition, the development complies with policy 
DMC3 in regards to amenity.  
 

59. It is important to note that whilst the application description relates only to the proposed 
building, the application site area identified on the submitted plans covers the entirety of the 
land in control at this location. In the event that the application is approved, in order to prevent 
inadvertently approving a change of use of the other building on the site or of other land in 
control, which would raise further policy and amenity considerations, a condition is 
recommended to limit the change of use to the building only, and to prevent external storage 
of materials or equipment on the site, other than parking of operatives commuting vehicles. 

Highway considerations 

60. The highway authority have advised that the intensification of use of the site is expected to be 
low and raise no objections. This is based on the applicants projected vehicle movements, 
which amount to either one or two commuters per day.  
 

61. Officers are of the view that limiting parking of vehicles at the site to those occupying the 
premises, and preventing other use of the buildings, including any retail sales or public 
showrooms that might be argued to be ancillary or incidental to the applied for uses, would 
provide sufficient certainty that significant additional vehicle movements above this would not 
arise. 
 

62. The size of building, predominantly given over to workshop space, would typically necessitate 
4 parking spaces, which could be accommodated within the site. 
 

63. Therefore, subject to any permission restricting the use of the building as specified, there are 
no objections to the proposals on grounds of highway safety or amenity. 

Climate change mitigation 

64. A sustainability statement has been provided outlining the measures carried out as part of 
the conversion works. 

 
65. The measures involve installing solar panels to the southern roof slope, and the proposals 

also incorporate rooflights in to the northern roof slope, reducing reliance on artificial lighting.  
 

66. Given the nature of development applied for, these measures are considered sufficient to 
meet the requirements of policy CC1. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



Planning Committee– Part A 
5 August 2022 

 

 

 

 

Other matters 
 

67. The Authority’s Archaeologist has confirmed that given the current development of the site 
they consider that the development would be unlikely to give rise to any further archaeological 
impacts. 
 

68. The proposed uses would fall within Classes B2 (Industrial, in the case of the workshop space) 
and E (Commercial, Business, and Service, in the case of the office space) of the Use Class 
Order. Class E in particular includes a broad range of commercial uses including shops, 
offices, cafes and restaurants, day nurseries, and indoor leisure facilities. If approved without 
constraint, further changes of use would be possible to any of these uses under permitted 
development rights. Given the proximity to neighbouring properties, the landscape 
sensitivities of the locality, and the minor nature of the highway network at this location it is 
recommended that any decision restricts the uses of the building to only those applied for, 
and for no other use.  

69. Given the lack of agricultural business or activity currently operating at the site, in response 
to the recent (refused) applications at the site, and in response to the unauthorised works 
that have been carried out, some representations raise concern over the piecemeal 
development of the site. The Parish Council also point to the site as a potential site for future 
affordable housing. Officers recognise these concerns. However, it is the applicants 
prerogative to change his plans for the site from what has been applied for previously, and/or 
to apply to develop the parts of the site that he wishes to at any given time. Officers can only 
determine such applications in accordance with current policy and material considerations; 
we cannot reasonably anticipate or prejudice potential future applications in the 
determination of the current proposals. They have therefore been considered on their merits, 
as set out above. 

 
Conclusion 

70. The development complies with policy E1 in relation to the establishment of new businesses 
in settlements. 
 

71. Subject to conditions the development would also conserve the character and appearance of 
the built environment and landscape and the amenity of nearby properties, according with 
planning policies  GSP3, DMC3, and DMH8.  
 

72. Other material considerations that would indicate planning permission should be granted for 
the development as a whole. 
 

73. Accordingly, the application is recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

Human Rights 

74. None arising. 

List of Background Papers (not previously published) 

75. None 
 

Report Author and Job Title 
 

76. Mark Nuttall, Interim South Area Manager  
 

Page 142



 Title: Land South of Church Lane,
Chelmorton

 Grid Reference:
 Application No:
 Item Number:

 Committee Date:

 411506, 370143
 NP/DDD/322/0396

 Item 7
 05/08/2022

1:700

Location PlanLocation Plan

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

8.      FULL APPLICATION – ALTERATIONS AND CHANGE OF USE OF OUTBUILDING TO 
DWELLING FOR SELF-CONTAINED HOLIDAY LET USE AT HARTINGTON COTTAGES, 
KNOWL COTTAGE, MARKET PLACE, HARTINGTON– (NP/DDD/0522/0598, FJ) 

 
APPLICANT: RACHEL SUMMERFIELD 

 
Summary 

1. The application site comprises a small holiday cottage complex of 3 cottages known as 
Hartington Cottages. The main cottage at Knowl Cottage fronts the highway, with two 
additional holiday cottages to the rear. The site also includes an outbuilding to rear 
comprising of 3 rooms: games, laundry and store. 
 

2. The proposals involves changing the use of the outbuilding to create an additional 1-bed 
holiday cottage. Alterations to the building include applying a stone skin to a section of 
exposed concrete block work to the rear wall and replacing the existing metal skin mono-
pitched roof with traditional tiled dual pitched roof. 
 

3. Planning policy supports minor developments which extend or make quality improvements 
to existing holiday accommodation. Subject to conditions, the design and appearance of the 
development has been found to be acceptable in its context and to accord with planning 
policy in all other regards. 
 

4. The application is therefore recommended for conditional approval. 

Site and Surroundings 

5. The application site comprises a traditional cottage (Knowl Cottage) fronting the highway 
(Market Place). A converted barn is located to the rear and southwest corner of the site, 
comprising of two additional holiday cottages (‘Dove’ and ‘Manifold’). An outbuilding is also 
located to the rear and to the southeast corner. All of the buildings on the site are 
constructed in stone, with dark roof tiles. However, a section of the roof to the extended 
outbuilding is clad in profiled metal sheeting. 
 

6. The outbuilding comprises of 3 rooms: games, laundry and store. The outbuilding has been 
extended, with the east facing rear wall completed in unfinished concrete block work and a 
mono-pitched profiled metal sheet roof. 
 

7. The neighbouring adjoining property to the western side comprises a café (Beresford Tea 
Rooms). The neighbouring property to the east, and separated by a private driveway, is a 
converted former hotel now comprising of individual residential apartments. The site backs 
onto bungalow and its associated courtyard. 
 

8. The site is located within the core of the village of Hartington. 
 

9. The site is within the Hartington conservation area. 

Proposal 

10. Alterations to and the change of use of the outbuilding to self-catering holiday 
accommodation. 

RECOMMENDATION  

11. That the application is APPROVED subject to the following conditions: 

1) 3-year time limit 

Page 145

Agenda Item 8.����



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

2) In accordance with the submitted/amended plans 
3) Occupancy Restriction - short-let holiday accommodation ancillary to Knowl 

Cottage 
4) All new doors and window frames to be of timber construction 
5) All new windows and doors recessed from walls 
6) Flue vent & rainwater good to be finished in black 
7) New stonework, mortar and roof tiles to match existing 
8) Any external lighting scheme subject to approval 
9) Hardstanding area for parking and manoeuvring to be retained 

 
Key Issues 

12. The principle of the development; design and visual impact of the alterations; neighbouring 
amenity; highways and parking; and other matters raised in the objections. 

Relevant Planning History 

13. No recent planning history. 

Consultations 

14. District Council – No response at time of writing. 
 

15. Parish Council – Object: 

 not a heritage asset and of rudimentary design 

 concerns regarding parking and access 

 adverse impact on amenity of occupants of Minton House due to increased roof 
height 

 village already well served by holiday accommodation 
 

16. Local Highway Authority (Derbyshire County Council – No objections, subject to conditions: 

 parking/manoeuvring to be retained 

 holiday let unit to remain ancillary to Knowl Cottage  

Representations 

17. 3 representations have been received at the time of writing – 1 in support and 2 in objection. 
 

18. Grounds for objection: 

 Inadequate publicity of proposal. 

 Applicant has not sought permission to access neighbours property to undertake 
works. 

 Principle of development unacceptable. 

 Proposed living area substandard. 

 Lack of amenity space. 

 Insufficient parking and access. 

 Insufficient bin storage area. 

 Insufficient flue vent.  

 Health concerns regarding wood burner. 

 Noise and disturbance caused by additional guests. 

 uPVC windows frames incompatible within a conservation area. 

 No extractor fan for kitchen. 

 Insufficient dimensions/levels on plans. 

 Existing and proposed works not easily identifiable. 

 Plans lacking details of heating and flue pipes. 

 Condition recommended to limit floodlighting of courtyard. 

Page 146



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 Condition recommended to restrict occupancy and regulate changeover. 
 

19. Grounds for support: 

 The applicant has written in support of the application, stating that the proposal 
would enhance the courtyard, improve the existing outbuilding and create accessible 
single-level holiday accommodation. 

Main Policies 

20. Core Strategy policies: GSP1, GSP2, GSP3, DS1, L3, RT2 & CC1 
 
21. Development Management policies: DCM3, DCM5, DCM10, DMR3 & DMT6 
 
22. National Park designation is the highest level of landscape designation in the UK.  The 

Environment Act 1995 sets out two statutory purposes for national parks in England and 
Wales: 

a. Conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage 
b. Promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of 

national parks by the public 
 
23. When national parks carry out these purposes they also have the duty to seek to foster the 

economic and social well-being of local communities within the national parks. 
 

National planning policy framework 
 
24. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published on 27 March 2012 and 

replaced a significant proportion of central government planning policy with immediate 
effect. The Government’s intention is that the document should be considered as a material 
consideration and carry particular weight where a development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out of date. In the National Park the Local Plan comprises the 
Authority’s Core Strategy 2011 and the Development Management DPD 2019.  Policies in 
the Local Plan provide a clear starting point consistent with the National Park’s statutory 
purposes for the determination of this application.  It is considered that in this case there is 
no significant conflict between prevailing policies in the Local Plan and more recent 
Government guidance in the NPPF. 

 
25. Paragraph 176 of the NPPF states that ‘great weight should be given to conserving 

landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and 
scenic beauty. The conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are important 
considerations in all these areas, and should be given great weight in National Parks and 
the Broads.’ 

 
Local Plan 

 
26. GSP1, GSP2 - Securing National Park Purposes and sustainable development & Enhancing 

the National Park. These policies jointly seek to secure national park legal purposes and 
duties through the conversion and enhancement of the National Park’s landscape and its 
natural and heritage assets. 
 

27. GSP3 - Development Management Principles.  Requires that particular attention is paid to 
the impact on the character and setting of buildings and that the design is in accord with the 
Authority’s Design Guide and development is appropriate to the character and appearance 
of the National Park. 

 
28. Policy DS1 - Development Strategy details the development strategy for the National Park, 

and is permissive of development to provide conversion of change of use for business uses 

Page 147



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

including visitor accommodation, preferably by re-use of traditional buildings.  
 

29. Policy L3 - Cultural Heritage assets or archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic 
significance.  Explains that development must conserve and where appropriately enhance or 
reveal the significance of historic assets and their setting. Other than in exceptional 
circumstances, development will not be permitted where it is likely to cause harm to the 
significance of any cultural heritage asset or its setting. 
 

30. Policy RT2 - Hotels, bed & breakfast & holiday accommodation. Part-A of the policy states, 
that the change of use of a traditional building of historic or vernacular merit will be 
permitted. Part-B of the policy states, that appropriate minor developments which extend or 
make quality improvements to existing holiday accommodation will be permitted. 
 

31. CC1 - Climate change mitigation and adaption. Sets out that development must make the 
most efficient and sustainable use of land, buildings and natural resources. Development 
must also achieve the highest possible standards of carbon reductions. 
 

32. DMC3 - Siting, Design, layout and landscaping. Reiterates, that where developments are 
acceptable in principle, Policy requires that design is to high standards and where possible 
enhances the natural beauty, quality and visual amenity of the landscape. The siting, mass, 
scale, height, design, building materials should all be appropriate to the context. 
Accessibility of the development should also be a key consideration. 
 

33. DMC5 - Assessing the impact of development on designated and non-designated heritage 
assets and their setting. The policy provides detailed advice relating to proposals affecting 
heritage assets and their settings, requiring new development to demonstrate how valued 
features will be conserved, as well as detailing the types and levels of information required 
to support such proposals. It also requires development to avoid harm to the significance, 
character, and appearance of heritage assets and details the exceptional circumstances in 
which development resulting in such harm may be supported. 
 

34. DMC10 - Conversion of a heritage asset. Conversion will be permitted provided it can 
accommodate the new use without changes that adversely affect its character, including 
enlargement, subdivision, or other alterations to form and mass, inappropriate new window 
openings or doorways and major rebuilding, and that any changes conserves or enhances 
the heritage significance and it setting in accord with policy DMC5. 

 
35. DMR3 - Holiday occupancy of self-catering accommodation. States that where self-catering 

accommodation is acceptable, its use will be restricted to holiday accommodation for no 
more than 28 days per calendar year by any one person. 
 

36. DMT3 - Access and design criteria. States amongst other things, that a safe access should 
be provided in a way that does not detract from the character and appearance of the locality 
and where possible enhances it. Whilst DMT6 – Business Parking. States, where planning 
permission is required, additional parking provision should be of a limited nature, whilst 
being appropriate to the size of the development and taking account of its location and the 
visual impact of parking 

 
Assessment 

Principle of Development 

37. The key policy relating to this is proposal is Core Strategy Policy RT2 - Hotels, bed & 
breakfast & holiday accommodation. 
 

38. Policy RT2 comprises of 3 parts, with only Parts A and B relevant. Part-A of the policy 
states, that the change of use of a traditional building of historic or vernacular merit will be 

Page 148



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

permitted. 
 

39. It is acknowledged that the building is a very basic but traditional building and of no 
vernacular merit and limited heritage value. Historic records demonstrate that a building has 
existed on the site since at least 1922, but unlikely in its current form. The existing building 
is in use, and not disused nor appearing at risk of falling into disrepair. 
 

40. On this basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal does not satisfactorily comply 
with Part-A of policy RT2 solely in terms of change of use. 
 

41. Part-B of the policy RT2 states, that appropriate minor developments which extend or make 
quality improvements to existing holiday accommodation will be permitted. The site as 
existing comprises of 3 holiday cottages. The existing outbuilding already serves an ancillary 
function on the site providing laundry, games and store room facilities. The proposals 
involves changing the use of the outbuilding to create an additional 1-bed holiday cottage. 
Alterations to the building include applying a stone skin to a section of exposed concrete 
block work and replacing the existing metal skin mono-pitched roof with traditional pitched 
roof. 
 

42. It is therefore considered that the proposal constitutes a minor development comprising of 
the addition of a 1-bed self-catering holiday accommodation unit. The proposed remedial 
works to the exposed concrete block wall and the addition of a  traditional roof, are 
considered quality improvements to the existing holiday accommodation site as whole. 
 

43. The principle of the development is therefore considered to accord with Part-B of policy 
RT2, subject to further consideration of design, amenity, highways/parking and other 
matters raised in the objections. 

Design & Visual Appearance 

44. The north facing side elevation of the existing outbuilding is visible via glimpsed views from 
the public highway. The outbuilding has been extended in the past to the southern side, with 
a mono-pitched steel profiled roof. The rear and east side facing wall of the extension has 
been constructed in exposed concrete block work. The extension and rear wall are not 
easily visible on the street scene, but nevertheless, do appear at odds with the existing 
structure. 
 

45. Proposed works would involve replacing the roof with a dual pitched roof, in line with the 
ridge of the existing dual pitched roof of the original outbuilding. The existing exposed block 
work would be refinished in a stone skin. Existing window and door openings would be 
replaced with stable door style uPVC framed units finished in grey, with the addition of one 
window to the west facing front elevation facing the internal courtyard. It is acknowledged 
that the Knowl Cottage has white uPVC framed windows. However, the associated cottages 
to the rear have doors and window frames of timber constructed. Existing window and door 
frames of the outbuilding are of timber construction. In order to maintain that the alterations 
to building would be an enhancement over the existing, a condition is recommended for all 
new doors and window frames to be of timber construction.  

 
46. The ventilation flue for the proposed wood burner has been relocated to the south facing 

roof slope and would therefore complies with permitted development. A condition is 
recommended for the flue to be colour coated black, as well as any proposed rainwater 
goods. 
 

47. Overall, the proposed works are considered an enhancement on the existing visual 
appearance of the outbuilding, with the roof alterations and stonework considered 
sympathetic enhancements. A condition is recommended for all materials to match with the 
existing building. 

Page 149



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Amenity 

48. The rear elevation of the outbuilding backs onto the side elevation of flats at Minton House 
adjacent to the east, with a driveway providing separation between the buildings. 
 

49. The proposal involves alterations to the roof of the rear element of the existing outbuilding 
and involve altering the mono-pitched roof to a dual pitched roof, in line with the ridge line of 
the existing dual pitched roof to the original element of the outbuilding. 
 

50. The rear element of the outbuilding is in line with a single storey ground floor flat. A first floor 
flat and terrace sits alongside the lower mono-pitched roof element, towards to northern side 
of the outbuilding. The existing dual pitched roof of the outbuilding already sits at a higher 
level, but away from the facing elevation of the terrace. 
 

51. The marginal increase in the height of the roof is not considered to result in a degree of 
harm any more significant than that as existing and would not result in any significant 
degree of harm to warrant omission or refusal. 
 

52. As discussed in paragraph 46, the proposed ventilation flue is classed as permitted 
development. In addition, there are similar chimney flues to Minton House to the side and 
the property to the rear at Little Knowl. In any case, all new wood burners must comply with 
2022 ‘Ecodesign’ legislation, with all installations including flues to be installed in 
accordance with current Building Regs. 
 

53. The existing outbuilding is already in use by guests of the existing holiday cottages. The 
addition of a single bedroom holiday cottage is considered a minor addition to an existing 
holiday accommodation use and would not result in any further adverse harm over the 
existing situation. 
 

54. The proposal is for self-catered holiday accommodation and therefore the policy 
requirements of Policy DMH5 are not applicable, as holiday accommodation is not required 
to accord to the same amenity standards as associated with typical residential and domestic 
dwelling.   
 

55. A condition is recommended for any new external lighting to be subject to approval. 
 

56. In addition, a condition is recommended to restrict occupancy to holiday let us only and 
ancillary to Knowl Cottage. 
 

57. A condition cannot be attached to regulate guest changeover, as this is a private 
management issue and outside of the control of the Authority. 

Highways & Parking Impacts 

58. For a proposal of this nature, the Authority must consult with the Local Highway Authority 
(LHA) for technical advice on whether a proposal provides an adequate degree of off-street 
parking; on-site manoeuvrability; and a safe access. 
 

59. The LHA state the following: The application site is located on the B5054 (Market Place) 
which is subject to a 30mph speed limit. Whilst the proposed holiday let will slightly increase 
vehicle movements associated with the existing vehicular access off the B5054, any minor 
increase in traffic generation the proposal may generate is unlikely to lead to any severe 
safety issues associated with the access. The Proposed Site Plan demonstrates off-street 
parking for 3no vehicles within the site, however, as far can be ascertained from the 
application drawings the proposed/existing off-street parking provision is likely only sufficient 
to serve the existing holiday home/holiday lets associated with the site. In view of the 

Page 150



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

existing levels of on-street parking in the vicinity of the site it is not considered that a slight 
under provision of off-street parking would be a sustainable reason for a highway objection. 
The Highway Authority has no objections to the proposal, and it is recommended that the 
following conditions are included in any consent: 
- Parking and manoeuvring with the site to be retained 
- holiday let unit to remain ancillary to Knowl Cottage 
 

60. On the basis of the above technical advice of the LHA, the Authority cannot contradict the 
advice of the LHA and refuse the application on the basis of insufficient parking and access. 
In the event of any appeal, the Authority would be highly unlikely to defend any reason for 
refusal on highways grounds without the support of or contradictory to the advice of the 
LHA. 
 

61. It is therefore considered that the proposal acceptable in this regard and subject to the 
conditions as recommended by the LHA. 
 
Other Matters 
 

62. Inadequate publicity of proposal – The application has been publicised in accordance with 
the statutory consultation requirements by means of notification letters to neighbouring 
occupants, a site notice and a press advert. 
 

63. The applicant has not sought permission to access neighbours property to undertake works 
– This is not a material planning consideration, as this would be a civil matter. 
 

64. Insufficient bin storage area – Bins are already stored in this area. Furthermore, the 
management of the bin storage area falls outside of the control of the Authority and is a 
private management issue.  
 

65. Matters relating to details of extractor fans and heating and flue pipes is not a planning 
consideration and dealt with under a subsequent application for compliance with Building 
Regs. 
 

66. The applicant has amended the plans to include the page size and a scale bar, with finished 
floor levels also included. In terms of the legibility of the plans to determine the scope of the 
proposed works, the submitted plans are considered to suitably demonstrate the extent of 
the proposed works. 

 
Conclusion 

67. Planning policy supports minor developments which extend or make quality improvements 
to existing holiday accommodation. Subject to conditions, the design and appearance of the 
development has been found to be acceptable in its context and the proposal overall, 
considered to accord with planning policy in all other respects.  
 

68. There is otherwise no conflict between the intent of policies in the Development Plan and 
government guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework and there are no further 
material considerations that would indicate planning permission should be refused. 
 

69. Accordingly, the application is recommended for conditional approval. 

Human Rights 

70. None arising. 

List of Background Papers (not previously published) 

Page 151



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

71. None. 
 

Report Author and Job Title 
 

72. Faizal Jasat, Planner – South Area  
 

Page 152



 Title: Hartington Cottages, Knowl
Cottage, Market Place,
Hartington

 Grid Reference:
 Application No:
 Item Number:

 Committee Date:

 412856, 360391
 NP/DDD/0522/0598

 Item 8
 05/08/2022

1:250

Location PlanLocation Plan

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

9.      FULL APPLICATION – RETROSPECTIVE PLANNING CONSENT FOR THE 
RETENTION OF A SHEPHERDS HUT FOR TOURIST ACCOMMODATION AND FOR AN 
ANCILLARY WASHROOM ON LAND TO THE WEST SIDE OF TOWNEND LANE, 
WATERFALL, WATERHOUSES - (NP/SM/0522/0743) 
 
APPLICANT: MR ALLEN NEWBY  
 
Summary 
 

1. The application seeks retrospective planning permission to retain a single shepherd’s hut 
for use as holiday accommodation, and the erection of a timber clad washroom facility 
ancillary to the use of the hut.  

 
2. Whilst there would be no local amenity or highway concerns, planning policy requires 

development comprising holiday accommodation through the siting of shepherd’s huts to 
support farm diversification and to be located close to the facilities of a farmstead.  

 
3. As the site is not part of a working farm or is sited close to a farmstead, the scheme fails 

to accord with policy in principle. As a result, the application is recommended for refusal. 
 
Site and Surroundings 
 

4. The site lies within an area the Authority’s Landscape Strategy and Action Plan identifies 
as the Southwest Peak Upland Pastures. This is an upland pastoral landscape with a 
traditional dispersed pattern of gritstone farmsteads and village settlements. Drystone 
walls and some hedgerows enclose permanent pasture.  

 
5. The landscape surrounding the application site reflects these characteristics and is 

generally a peaceful rural landscape with open distant views to surrounding higher ground 
and over the valley below. 

 
6. The field in which the development is located lies on the west side of Townend Lane in 

Waterfall and comprises around 4 acres. The Shepherd Hut is sited within the south west 
corner of the field, close to the adjacent field boundary.   

 
7. The field is accessed from the highway leading to a modern/non-traditional workshop 

building with a small hardstanding yard leading out into the field beyond.  
 

8. A public footpath runs through the adjacent field in a predominately north south direction, 
passing close to the south west corner of the development site.  

 
9. The site does not lie within a Conservation Area, although part of the roadside boundary 

joins the upper western edge of Waterfall Conservation Area. 
 
Proposal 
 

10. Retrospective planning consent is sought to retain a shepherd's hut for tourist 
accommodation, and for the construction of a timber clad washroom facility in connection 
with the hut. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155

Agenda Item 9.����



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the application be REFUSED for the following reasons:  
 

1. The siting of a single shepherds hut for holiday accommodation in this 
location fails to accord with adopted planning policies DMR1 and DME2 
because it does not support farm diversification and is not located close to 
the facilities of a farmstead. 

 
2. By virtue of the form, design and isolated location in open countryside, the 

existing Shepherds Hut and the proposed ancillary washroom does not 
meet the criteria set out in part A of Core Strategy Policy L1, which requires 
development to conserve and enhance the valued landscape character of 
the area.  
 

Key Issues 
 

11. Principle of development, neighbour amenity, potential landscape and highway impacts. 
 
Relevant History 
 

12. Pre-application enquiry 42326. 
 

13. Concluded that ‘… from the information/details supplied, the proposal for the Shepherds 
Hut cannot be supported in principle. Consequently, the retention of the hut does not meet 
the policy criteria set out above, conflicting with policy DMR1, L1 & DMC3 in these 
respects. You do of course retain the prerogative to pursue a planning application should 
you so wish’. 

 
Consultations 
 

14. Highway Authority – No objections.  
 

15. Parish Council – No objections 
 

16. District Council – No response at time of writing. 
 

Representations 
 

17. Nine letters of representation have been received, seven in support and two (both from 
the same person) objecting and summarised below: 

 
Support 
 

18. Would make a significant contribution to local businesses. 
19. Potential to promote knowledge of tourism of this part of the National Park. 
20. Not intrusive in the landscape. 
21. Constructed to the highest standard. 

 
Object 
 

22. Development not justified as agricultural diversification. 
23. Does not accord with policies regarding campsites and touring caravans. 
24. No mention of public footpath which runs adjacent to the development site. 
25. The structures are inappropriate and intrusive in the open countryside.  

 

Page 156



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

26. The Government’s intention is that the document should be considered as a material 
consideration and carry particular weight where a development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out of date.   

 
27. In particular Para: 176 states, that great weight should be given to conserving and 

enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, which have the highest status 
of protection in relation to these issues. 

 
28. Para: 84 states amongst other things, that planning policies and decisions should enable 

sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of the 
countryside. 

 
29. In the National Park, the development plan comprises the Authority’s Core Strategy and 

the new Development Management Polices (DMP). These Development Plan Policies 
provide a clear starting point consistent with the National Park’s statutory purposes for 
the determination of this application. 

 
30. In this case, it is considered there are no significant conflicts between prevailing policies 

in the Development Plan and government guidance in the NPPF. 
 
Main Development Plan Policies 
 
Core Strategy 
 

31. GSP1, GSP2 - Securing National Park Purposes and sustainable development & 
Enhancing the National Park.  These policies jointly seek to secure national park legal 
purposes and duties through the conversion and enhancement of the National Park’s 
landscape and its natural and heritage assets. 

 
32. GSP3 - Development Management Principles.  Requires that particular attention is paid 

to the impact on the character and setting of buildings and that the design is in accord 
with the Authority’s Design Guide and development is appropriate to the character and 
appearance of the National Park. 

 
33. DS1 - Development Strategy. States, that recreation and tourism development is 

acceptable in principle in open countryside. 
 

34. L1 - Landscape character and valued characteristics. Seeks to ensure that all 
development conserves and enhances valued landscape character and sites, features 
and species of biodiversity importance. 

 
35. L3 - Cultural Heritage assets or archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic 

significance. Explains that development must conserve and where appropriately enhance 
or reveal the significance of historic assets and their setting. Other than in exceptional 
circumstances, development will not be permitted where it is likely to cause harm to the 
significance of any cultural heritage asset or its setting. 

 
36. RT3 - Caravans and camping. States amongst other things, that static caravans, chalets, 

or lodges will not be permitted. 
 

37. CC1 - Climate change mitigation and adaption. Sets out that development must make the 
most efficient and sustainable use of land, buildings and natural resources. Development 
must also achieve the highest possible standards of carbon reductions. 

 

Page 157



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

Development Management Policies 
 

38. DMC3 - Siting, Design, layout and landscaping. Reiterates, that where developments are 
acceptable in principle, policy requires that design is to high standards and where possible 
enhances the natural beauty, quality and visual amenity of the landscape. The siting, 
mass, scale, height, design, building materials should all be appropriate to the context. 
Accessibility of the development should also be a key consideration. 

 
39. DMR1 - Touring camping and caravan sites. The development or small extension to an 

existing caravan site will not be permitted unless its scale, location, access and landscape 
setting are acceptable. Exceptionally, the development of structures may be permitted 
where these are small, simple wooden pod structures in woodland locations with minimal 
landscape impact, or a single Shepherds Hut where this can be located close to the 
facilities of a farmstead without harm to the natural or historic landscape. The supporting 
text of the policy states that such development should be used to support farm 
diversification and as such should also be assessed against the requirements of policy 
DME2. 

 
40. DMR3 - Holiday occupancy of self-catering accommodation. States, that where self-

catering accommodation is acceptable, its use will be restricted to holiday accommodation 
for no more than 28 days per calendar year by any one person. 

 
41. DME2 - Farm Diversification. States that development will be permitted if there is clear 

evidence that the new business use will remain ancillary to the agricultural operation of 
the farm business, meaning that the new business use is a subsidiary or secondary use 
or operation associated with the agricultural unit.  Further stating, that new buildings may 
be permitted if the proposed development cannot be appropriately located in existing 
buildings of cultural heritage significance or in other buildings which remain appropriate 
within the farm building group. 

 
42. DMT3 - Access and design criteria. States amongst other things, that a safe access 

should be provided in a way that does not detract from the character and appearance of 
the locality and where possible enhances it. 

 
Assessment 
 
Principle of the development 
 

43. Waterfall is not a named DS1 Settlement, therefore considered open countryside for the 
purposes of Development Plan Policies. 

 
44. Policy RT3 B states that static caravans, chalets or lodges will not be permitted.  This is 

because the open character of large parts of National Park landscape means that the 
non-traditional and permanent presence of such forms of accommodation is incompatible 
with the conservation purpose of the National Park, with the potential impact on its valued 
landscape characteristics. 

 
45. A growing range of alternative forms of accommodation (camping pods, yurts, shepherd’s 

huts etc) have come onto the market or increased in popularity since the time that this 
policy was prepared, in response to a demand for greater quality and comfort.  

 
46. For clarity, the National Park Authority considers all such forms of accommodation to have 

the same potential for adverse landscape impact and therefore policy RT3B remains 
applicable. The supporting text of RT3 does states that, exceptionally, static caravans, 
chalets or lodges may be acceptable in locations where they are not intrusive in the 
landscape. 

Page 158



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

 
47. However, policy DMR1 specifically sets out the circumstances where accommodation 

comprising camping pods and shepherds huts can be supported, and so irrespective of 
landscape impacts such development can only be supported in principle where it complies 
with the provisions of DMR1.   
 

48. In the case of shepherds huts in particular, the policy requires that development is located 
close to an existing farmstead where existing access, parking arrangements and facilities 
of that farm can be utilised, with these preferably located within an existing and traditional 
building. 

 
49. Further, the supporting text to policy DMR1 states that “such development should be used 

to support farm diversification and as such should also be assessed against the 
requirements of policy DME2’.  
 

50. Policy DME2 addresses farm diversifation, and it is therefore explicit that shepherds huts 
are only supported by policy in cases where they are supporting an existing agricultural 
business. 

 
51. DME2 states that development will be permitted if there is clear evidence that the new 

business use will remain ancillary to the agricultural operation of the farm business, 
meaning that the new business use is a subsidiary or secondary use or operation 
associated with the agricultural unit. 

 
52. The supporting text of policy RT2 is also pertinent, stating that …’there is concern about 

oversupply of self-catering accommodation, particularly in some parts of the National 
Park. This could mean that providers and operators may not receive the anticipated return 
in income from what may be a significant investment. …Conversions and changes of use 
of existing traditional buildings of historic or vernacular merit will provide ample 
opportunities for small scale holiday developments’. 

 
53. It is clear from this that aside from the provisions of DMR1, development of permanent 

holiday accommodation other than through the conversion of heritage assets is contrary 
to adopted policy and purposes, having the potential to result in a proliferation of 
development that undermines the intent to drive the conversion and conservation of 
heritage assets, and the viability of existing holiday let businesses.  

 
54. Taken together, these policies make it clear that without the justification of agricultural 

diversification, development of the type proposed is contrary to adopted planning policies. 
 

55. According to the submitted details, the applicants own approximately 4 acres of land, with 
a further 4 acres under long term rent and until 2002 the land was used for silage 
production, raising a small number of store cattle and for grazing a couple of horses. 
 

56. Whilst the applicant has an agricultural holding number for the site and states that the 
land has returned to an agricultural use, from the benefit of a site visit, (other than a few 
sheep grazing within the field), it was clearly evident that farming was not the applicants 
primary business. The applicants primary business is as a planning consultant and not 
farming. Therefore whilst the land currently appears to be used for grazing a few sheep, 
the primary use of the land would not be ancillary to – or support – the operation of a farm 
business.  
 

57. As a result the proposals are contrary to policy DME2 and its associated text, whch 
specifically states that shepherds huts can only be accepted in cases where they are 
supporting an existing agricultural business. 

 

Page 159



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

58. Consequently, the retention of the hut for holiday accommodation (including the proposed 
washroom facility) would not meet the principles of polices DMR1 or DME2. 

   
Siting, design and materials of the hut and proposed washroom structure  
 

59. Policy DMC3 in particular states that where developments are acceptable in principle, 
policy requires that design is to high standards and where possible enhances the natural 
beauty, quality and visual amenity of the landscape. The siting, mass, scale, height, 
design, building materials should all be appropriate to the context. Accessibility of the 
development should also be a key consideration. 

 
Shepherd Hut 
 

60. The shepherd’s hut is sited within the south west corner of the field close to the 
neighbouring field’s boundary. There is a mixture of trees and hedging established along 
this section of the field boundary.   

 
61. The hut itself measures 2.5m wide, x 4.9m in length x 3.5m to the highest point of the 

barrelled shaped roof. The walls and roof of the hut are clad in juniper green corrugated 
steel, with the windows and doors of timber construction finished an eggshell colour. With 
the flue terminal painted black. 

 
62. The French doors are fitted with an external shutter clad in juniper green corrugated steel. 

According to the applicant, these would be closed when the hut is not in use. 
 

63. Internally the space consists of a bed, chairs, a wood burning stove and a small kitchen 
area with a gas hob and sink. 

 
64. Power is provided via a caravan type extension from the workshop building, which is fitted 

with solar panels.  Water is currently provided by portable containers but it is proposed 
that the mains water supply to the field be extended to provide potable water. It is 
proposed that grey water be disposed of via a small infiltration system.  

 
65. Access is from the main road, through a concrete yard area connected with the workshop 

and over an area of rising land via an unmade track. 
 
Proposed washroom structure 
 

66. According to the applicant, the washroom structure would be required for guests using 
the hut.  

 
67. The general design resembles a small field shelter with timber sides and a fibre cement 

roof and would measures 2.8m in length x 1.7m in with x 2.5m to the highest point of the 
roof.  

 
68. The walls would be vertically clad Yorkshire boarding under recycled blue-grey fibre 

cement sheeting. The door would be vertically boarded timber to match the walls. No 
windows are proposed.  

 
69. Internally the washroom would provide a shower, hand basin and composting toilet. 

Externally a small pot-wash is proposed. 
 

70. Hot water would be provided by an LPG water heater. Power would be provided by a 
connection to the hut supply. Mains water would be provided by extending the supply to 
the field. Solid waste would be composted and buried within the plantation. 

 

Page 160



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

71. Grey waste would be disposed of via a sustainable infiltration system. These have a 
relatively shallow pipework and employ bacteria in the aerobic soil layer to break down 
wastewater before it can enter the groundwater.  
 

72. As the hut, access is via a rising unmade track leading from a concreted parking area 
next to an existing modern workshop building.  

 
73. In this case, whilst neither the hut nor the proposed washroom structure are considered 

reflective of the more general local building traditions, they do follow a typical design and 
scale for such structures.  
 

74. However, in addition to the principle conflict with policy DMR1, that policy also requires 
development to be well related to existing farmsteads so that the facilities of that 
farmstead can be utilised. As a result of being unrelated to any farmsatead, the new 
facilities block is required, placing it in conflict with this further requirement of DMR1. 

 
Impact on the wider landscape 
 

75. Policy L1 seeks to ensure that all development conserves and enhances valued 
landscape character and sites. 
 

76. The Development is located within a corner area of the field around 110m away from the 
nearest properties. The structures cannot be seen from the main road due to the rising 
land which then levels out to where the hut and ancillary structure are sited.   

 
77. There are glimpses of the hut from a Public Right of Way (PRoW) that runs for a short 

section to the west of the development site. These views are somewhat limited at this 
time of the year, due to the trees and hedging along the boundary being in full leaf.  

 
78. However, it is considered that during the autumn, winter and possibly early spring, they 

would be more visible, due to the trees in particular being without leaf.  
 

79. Whilst the structures are modest in scale and painted a recessive colour, the hut and the 
proposed washroom building are/would be in view from the nearby PRoW, appearing as 
an isolated development in the open countryside away from any built form.  

 
80. As a result, the introduction of a residential holiday use into this open landscape setting, 

where there are no other dwellings nearby would introduce elements that are out of place, 
incongruous and harmful to this open countryside setting, contrary to policy L1. 
 

81. Whilst the limited prominence of the development in the landscape means that these 
impacts would be relatively localised, the absence of a justification for the proposed 
development under the provisions of DMR1 – which would weigh in favour of the 
development – means that there are no material planning benefits to outweigh this harm. 

 
Amenity impacts 
 

82. The nearest properties lie over 100m to the south east of the development site.  Due to 
the distance between the development and these properties, the development would have 
no adverse impact or significantly harm the amenity of any residential properties in the 
locality.  

 
83. Consequently, the development accords with policies GSP3 & DMC3 in these respects. 

 
 
 

Page 161



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

Highways 
 

84. The Highway Authority have stated, that a single parking space as shown on the plans, 
is considered acceptable for a shepherds hut.  With Townsend Lane being unclassified, 
there is no requirement for a turning area, with vehicle speeds and volumes recorded as 
low.  

 
85. In this case, should members be minded to approve the scheme, the matter of retaining 

a single parking space for the use of the hut would be conditioned accordingly. 
 

86. Regarding this, the proposal is acceptable in highway terms, according with policies 
DMT3 in these respects. 

 
Environmental Management and sustainability 
 

87. The following submitted details explains how the proposal would reduce carbon emissions 
and incorporate measures to reduce the contribution to climate change in accordance 
with Core Strategy Policy CC1. 

 
Shepherds Hut 
 

 Whilst the energy efficiency standards set out in current building regulations do not apply, 
the walls, floor and roof have been well insulated and windows and doors are double 
glazed.  

 The hut is low power design with LED lighting throughout.  

 Power is provided via a caravan type extension from the existing building which is fitted 
with solar panels.  

 Gas for the hob is provided my means of a propane cylinder. Water consumption is low 
and WRAS approved water fittings have been fitted at the sink. 

 The hut is heated with a small DEFRA approved carbon neutral wood burning stove. 

 The hut is constructed from sustainable materials, principally steel and Timber 
 
Ancillary Washroom 
 

 The washroom does not require space heating but hot water would be provided by an 
LPG water heater. 

 Power would be provided by a connection to the hut supply. 

 Water consumption will be minimised by fitting WRAS approved self-closing taps and 
valves at the hand basin, pot wash and shower.  

 A composting toilet which uses no water is proposed. 

 The proposed washroom would be constructed from sustainable materials, principally 
timber and recycled fibre cement sheeting. 

 
Flood Risk 
 

88. To avoid depriving the roots of nearby trees of rainwater, downpipes on the shepherd’s 
hut and proposed washroom discharge to ground. The proposal would not therefore 
increase the risk of flooding on site or elsewhere. 

 
EV Charging 
 

89. The solar panels on the roof of the workshop building are connected to an EV charging 
point which guests would be free to use. 

 

Page 162



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August 2022 
 

 

 

 

90. Given the overall scale of development, these measures are considered sufficient to 
generally meet the requirements of policy CC1, should Members be minded to approve 
the scheme.  

 
Conclusion 
 

91. In conclusion, the retention of the single shepherd’s hut for use as holiday accommodation 
and the erection of a washroom facility in conjunction with the use of the hut are 
recommended for refusal for the reasons stated in the ‘Recommendation’ section of this 
report, above. 

 
Human Rights 
 

92. Any human rights issues have been considered and addressed in the preparation of this 
report. 

 
93. List of Background Papers (not previously published) 

 
94. Nil 

 
95. Report Author: Steve Coombes, South Area Planning Team. 

 
 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



 Title: Land to the West side of
Townend Lane, Waterfall,
Waterhouses

 Grid Reference:
 Application No:
 Item Number:

 Committee Date:

 407964, 351645
 NP/SM/0522/0743

 Item 9
 05/08/2022

1:1250

Location PlanLocation Plan

Blue line = NP boundary

Page 165

Sian Clayton
Highlight



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August  2022 
 

 

 

 

 

10.   FULL APPLICATION – PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION OF POND TO ENHANCE 
WILDLIFE, WITH SURROUNDING PROTECTIVE SHEEP NETTING FENCE WITH BARBED 
WIRE ABOVE PLUS SMALL ACCESS GATE, AT BROSTERFIELD CARAVAN PARK, 
FOOLOW (NP/DDD/0522/0718, JK) 
 
APPLICANT: PEAK DISTRICT NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 
 
Summary 
 

1. The adjacent site benefits from planning permission for a caravan and camping site.  
 

2. The proposal is for a new dew pond sited in the field immediately east of the Caravan 
and Camping field for the purpose of biodiversity enhancement. 

 
3. The pond reflects the scale and design of traditional dewponds and can be 

accommodated within this landscape without harm to the special qualities of the National 
Park or the setting of the nearby Foolow Conservation Area. 
 

4. The application is therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions. 
 

Site and surroundings 
 

5. The application site is a small 9m square section of grazing field abutting the boundary 
wall defining the eastern edge of the Brosterfield Caravan and Camping site about 24m 
back from the driveway down to Brosterfield Hall and Brosterfield Farm and some 130m 
back from the main road. 
 

6. The site is located within the White Peak Landscape Character Area and specifically 
within the Limestone Village Farmlands Landscape Character Type. 

 
7. The land is under the ownership and control of the Peak District National Park Authority, 

as applicant, and includes the remainder of the field and the adjoining one to the north 
as well as the adjacent Caravan and Camping Site. 
 

8. For the avoidance of any doubt further references in this report to the applicant refer to 
the Authority solely in its role as applicant, rather than as the local planning authority. 

 
9. The site is currently used for sheep grazing/grass and is accessed via field gates off the 

main road.  The access drive to the southern boundary of the field serves Brosterfield 
Farm and Brosterfield Hall to the west which are the nearest neighbouring properties and 
also carries a public right of way.  
 

Proposal 
 

10. The construction of a dew pond 6m in diameter and up to 1m deep within a 9m square 
fenced compound. The fence would be a standard post and wire fence with sheep netting 
below a top strand of barbed wire and be fitted with single wooden access gate.   
 

11. The edge of the pond would be sited 1.5m away from the adjacent field boundary wall. 
 

12. The pond would be lined with an ‘Exeleastic’ pond liner laid over a geotextile membrane 
and would be finished with a 100mm deep layer of quarry chatter with the top edge of 
the liner secured/buried under the adjacent grass. 
 

13. The pond would then be filled if an available water supply is nearby or left to fill naturally, 
no planting is proposed to allow natural colonisation. 

Page 167

Agenda Item 10.����



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August  2022 
 

 

 

 

14. Excess material would be removed from the site. 
 

15. A post installation management plan is submitted with the application. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the application be APPROVED, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Statutory 3 year time limit for implementation. 

 
2. Development to be carried out in full accordance with the submitted 

plans/specification and the post construction management plan. 
 

3. During construction, any materials shall be stored off the ground to prevent 
amphibians from using these as a terrestrial habitat before works are complete. 
 

Key Issues 
 

16. The impact of the proposed pond and fencing upon the landscape and the local area. 
 

Relevant planning history 
 

17. None within the application field. The creation of biodiversity enhancement in the local 
area in the form of a pond for amphibians and other species was an aim identified by the 
applicant during the development of plans for the adjacent caravan and camping site.  

 
Consultations 
 

18. Highway Authority: No highway safety comments.  
 

19. District Council: No response to date. 
 

20. Foolow Parish Meeting: No response to date. 
 

21. PDNPA Archaeology: No archaeological concerns. 
 

22. PDNPA Ecology: No objections, suggest following conditions; 
 

 Works should be carried out in accordance to the specification for the creation of a dew 
pond, unless otherwise agreed in writing.  

 

 During construction, any materials should be stored off the ground to prevent amphibians 
from using these as a terrestrial habitat before works are complete. 

 
Representations 
 

23. None at the time of drafting the report 
 

Main policies 
 

24. Relevant Core Strategy policies: DS1, GSP1, GSP2, GSP3, L1.  
 

25. Relevant Development Management Plan policies: DM1, DMC1, DMC3, DMC11, 
DMC12. 

 
 

Page 168



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August  2022 
 

 

 

 

National planning policy framework 
 

26. Paragraph 176 says that Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing 
landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty which have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues. 
The conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important 
considerations in these areas, and should be given great weight great… 
 

27. Paragraph 174. States that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the 
natural and local environment by minimising impacts on and providing net gains for 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures; 
 

28. Paragraph 180 states that when determining planning applications, development whose 
primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported;  
 

Development plan 
 

29. Core Strategy policy L1 says that all development must conserve and where possible 
enhance the landscape character of the National Park, as identified by the Authority’s 
Landscape Strategy and Action Plan. Core Strategy policy GSP3 and Development 
Management policy DMC3 require all development to be of a high standard of design (in 
accordance with the design guide) and landscaping which conserves and enhances the 
character, appearance and amenity of the site (or buildings) its setting and that of 
neighboring properties. 

 
30. Core Strategy policy L2 and Development Management policies DMC11 and DMC12 

together require all development to conserve and enhance the biodiversity of the National 
Park including designated sites, and protected species and habitats. 

 
31. Core Strategy policy L3 and Development Management policies DMC5 and DMC8 

together require all development to conserve and enhance the significance of any 
affected archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic assets and their setting. DMC8 
provides detailed criteria to assess proposals, which either are within or affect the setting 
of Conservation Areas. 

 
Assessment 
 
Background / Context 
 

32. The supporting statement explains that the White Peak was formerly covered with a 
dense network of dewponds, which were the only way to provide water for both livestock 
and many human habitations on the limestone before the advent of piped water supplies.  

 
33. This network was the route whereby a naturally poor area for amphibians became widely 

colonised by them and eventually a nationally important stronghold for the great crested 
newt. Britain is estimated to support 50% of the world population of great crested newts, 
which are protected by international law. 
 

34. Mains water supplies, changes in farming practice and the cost of maintenance have 
already resulted in the loss of two thirds of the ponds, with many of those remaining being 
in a very poor condition. 

 
35. Ponds are now a National Biodiversity Action Plan Habitat. The Peak District Biodiversity 

Action Plan also includes a habitat action plan for ponds, aiming to maintain a coherent 
pond network based on pond clusters and the links between them. Aims include 

Page 169



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August  2022 
 

 

 

 

enhancing the current network by repairing defunct dewponds and restoring ponds in a 
poor condition. Great crested newts are also a National Biodiversity Action Plan species.  
 

36. There are records for great crested newts for a number of ponds within the parish of 
Foolow. Restoration and creation of ponds has the potential to provide important linking 
habitat between the existing pond network. 
 

37. The proposed area for creating the pond is located some 320m east of an existing dew 
pond that supports amphibians but not Great crested newts (GCN). GCN have been 
recorded in a pond 600m north of the proposed location within the village of Foolow.  
 

38. Creation of the pond therefore has the potential to provide suitable breeding habitat for 
great crested newts, a priority species for conservation which is protected at an 
international level.  
 

Principle 
 

39. The application site is located in open countryside within a grazing field where our 
Development Strategy set out in Policy DS1 allows for the principle of development that 
is needed to secure conservation and enhancement. This is reflected in NPPF para 180.  
As a development to enhance local biodiversity the proposal is therefore acceptable in 
principle at both a local and national policy level. 
 

40. Therefore the key issue is the design of the dew pond and whether its impact upon the 
character and appearance of the local landscape is acceptable. 

 
Design and Landscape impact considerations 
 

41. The application site is located in the Limestone Village Farmlands character area within 
the White Peak. This is a small-scale settled agricultural landscape characterised by 
limestone villages, set within a repeating pattern of narrow strip fields bounded by 
drystone walls. Some of the key characteristics of this landscape type are gently 
undulating plateau, pastoral farmland enclosed by limestone drystone walls, scattered 
boundary trees and tree groups around buildings and discrete limestone villages and 
clusters of stone dwellings. As stated above a network of dew ponds are a valued 
characteristic of this limestone plateau landscape. 
 

42. The application site and the surrounding landscape reflect the character identified in the 
Landscape Strategy and Action Plan. The application site compromises part of a grazing 
field on the plateau bounded by drystone walls. 

 
43. Immediately adjacent the site to the west and on the other side of the field boundary wall 

is a semi-mature belt of native trees and hedging. These lie along the eastern boundary 
of the Brosterfield Caravan and Camping site and effectively screen it from the 
application site and from wider public view.   
 

44. By its very nature and design the creation of a new dew pond would not be particularly 
visible in this landscape due to it being a shallow feature that is sunk into the natural 
ground levels.   There are no design concerns given the pond would reflect the scale 
and design of other ponds which form a network in the wider local agricultural 
landscape.  Other than the liner it would use natural materials in its construction with all 
excavated material not reused, being removed from the site. 
 

45. The surrounding fence which forms a protective compound would be visible, especially 
when newly installed. However, being a visually lightweight sheep fence, once the 
wooden poles and gate weather to a pale grey colour it would not be a particularly 
noticeable feature in the landscape especially as it would be viewed mostly against the 

Page 170



Planning Committee – Part A 
5 August  2022 
 

 

 

 

background of the adjacent limestone field wall. Whilst it would be preferable not to have 
a fenced enclosure but this is essential to keep stock out of the pond. 

 
46. The pond and fenced enclosure would be most visible in views over the field wall from 

the public footpath running down the access drive to Brosterfield Farm and Hall.  In these 
closest views the dew pond would appear as a small and entirely appropriate feature in 
this farmed landscape reflecting the character and appearance of other dew ponds in the 
wider local landscape. 
 

47. From the public highway, due to the distance and land form the pond would be barely if 
at all visible, as the land dips slightly down towards the highway.   

 
48. In the wider landscape, the dew pond would not be particularly noticeable and where 

visible would be seen in the context of the surrounding pastoral field and drystone walls 
and set against the backdrop of the now established boundary planting screening the 
caravan site. 

 
49. The site is well outside of the Foolow Conservation Area and well away from the nearest 

dwelling so there are no concerns about impact upon either the Conservation Area or 
local amenity.  

 
50. Therefore, it is considered that the development of the dew pond would conserve the 

local landscape character and enhance biodiversity with an entirely appropriate feature 
which would sit comfortably within this pastoral landscape. 

 
51.  The Authority’s Ecologist is supportive of the proposal as it takes the opportunity to 

enhance biodiversity in the local area highlighted during consideration of the amended 
planning application for the Brosterfield Caravan and Camping site next door.  If 
permission is granted a condition, the ecologist suggest conditions which are 
incorporated into the recommendation above.   

 
52. The application is therefore in accordance with Core Strategy policy GSP1, 2 & 3, L1, 

Development Management policies DMC3, DMC8 & DMC11 and the NPPF. 
 

Conclusion 
 

53. The development of a small dew pond in this location will enhance biodiversity. It can be 
accommodated within this agricultural landcape without any visual harm as it is an 
entirely appropriate feature adding to an existing network of dew ponds in the local area.   
 

54. In the absence of any further material considerations it is considered that the proposed 
development is in accordance with the development plan and therefore is recommended 
for approval subject to the conditions outlined above in this report. 

 
Human Rights 
 

55. Any human rights issues have been considered and addressed in the preparation of this 
report. 

 
List of Background Papers (not previously published) 
 

56. Nil 
 
Report Author: John Keeley, Area Team Manager (North) 

 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



 Title: Brosterfield Caravan Park,
Foolow

 Grid Reference:
 Application No:
 Item Number:

 Committee Date:

 419140, 376244
 NP/DDD/0522/0718

 Item 10
 05/08/2022

1:2500

Location PlanLocation Plan

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee – Part A 
5th August 2022 
 

 

 

 

11. HEAD OF LAW REPORT - PLANNING APPEALS (A.1536/AMC) 
 

1. APPEALS LODGED 
 

No new appeals have been lodged during this month. 
 
          
2. APPEALS WITHDRAWN 

 
There has been no appeals withdrawn during this month. 
 
 
3. APPEALS DECIDED 

 
The following appeals have been decided during this month. 
 
Reference Details Method of 

Appeal 
 

Decision Committee/ 
Delegated 

NP/SM/0621/0611 
3286479 

Riding Arena at Road to 
Upper Elkstones 

Written 
Representations 
 

Dismissed Delegated 

The Inspector considered that the proposal would be significant incursion into the green and 
pastoral character of the field and would be a lasting harm to the landscape.  The proposal would 
also be readily apparent from a number of vantage points within the landscape.  The appeal was 
dismissed. 

 

NP/DDD/0321/0240 
3289387 

Creation of new access 
track at Dry Hills, Gypsy 
Lane, Baslow Road, 
Bakewell 
 

Written 
Representations 

Dismissed Delegated 

The Inspector considered that the track which would be constructed in Derbyshire Stone, would 
appear stark and in contrast to the existing grass field, and represent a visually intrusive feature 
in the landscape and would fail to respect the character of the landscape and its setting.  The 
appeal was dismissed. 
 

NP/SM/0621/0682 
3291597 

36 Solar Panels at Back 
Forest Farm, Hazelwood 
Road, Swythamley 
 

Written 
Representations 

Dismissed Delegated 

The Inspector considered that proposal would introduce a new built form of a type that was not 
characteristic of its setting, and that the existing remote, unspoilt nature of the site would be lost.  
The proposed planting scheme would held to soften the appearance of the solar panels, the 
Inspector was not satisfied that the landscape mitigation would effectively screen the proposal, 
so would remain noticeable and disrupt the rural landscape.  The appeal was dismissed. 

 

. RECOMMENDATION: 
 

 To note the report. 
 

 

Page 175

Agenda Item 11.����



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes of previous meeting of  8 July 2022
	5. Full Application - Material unloading, conveying and storage facility and associated importation of shale substitute kilnfeed material (ARM). This will also require the removal of a few elements of minor infrastructure and some vegetation at Hope Cement Works, Hope (NP/HPK/1020/0929, TE)
	1020-0929_Appendix A Draft Conditions
	Item 5 - Hope Cement Works

	6. Full Application -  Demolition of the existing structures on site, the erection of a new residential dwelling, works of hard and soft landscaping, installation of package treatment plant  and other works incidental to the application proposals at Newlands Farm, Coplow Dale, Little Hucklow (NP/DDD/0621/0670, SPW)
	Item 6 - Newlands Farm, Little Hucklow

	7. Full Application -  Proposed removal of existing building at western end of site, and replacement with a workshop and ancillary office, including the associated change of use at land south of Church Lane, Chelmorton (NP/DDD/0322/0396, MN)
	Item 7 - Land south of Church Lane, Chelmorton

	8. Full Application - Alterations and change of use of outbuilding to dwelling for self-contained holiday let use at Hartington Cottages, Knowl Cottage, Market Place, Hartington (NP/DDD/0522/0598, FJ)
	Item 8 - Hartington Cottages, Hartington

	9. Full Application - Retrospective planning consent for the retention of a shepherds hut for tourist accommodation and for an ancillary washroom on land to the west side of Townend Lane, Waterfall, Waterhouses (NP/SM/0522/0743)
	Item 9 - Land to the West side of Townend Lane, Waterfall

	10. Full Application - Proposed construction of pond to enhance wildlife, with surrounding protective sheep netting fence with barbed wire above plus small access gate, at Brosterfield Caravan Park, Foolow (NP/DDD/0522/0718, JK)
	Item 10 - Brosterfield Caravan Park

	11. Head of Law Report - Planning Appeals (A.1536/AMC)

